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INTRODUCTION TO THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS OF MANITOBA 
 
The Public Accounts of the Province of Manitoba are prepared by statutory requirement, in accordance 
with The Financial Administration Act, which is Chapter F55 of the Continuing Consolidation of the 
Statutes of Manitoba.  The Public Accounts for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 consist of the 
following volumes: 
 
Volume 1 
 
- Volume 1 is published as part of the Government’s Annual Report and contains:  

- The Economic Report. 
- The Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis. 
- The audited Summary Financial Statements of the Government focusing on the entire reporting 

entity. 
- Other audited Financial Reports. 

 
Volume 2 
 
- Contains the audited Schedule of Public Sector Compensation Payments of $50,000 or more as paid 

through the Government Departments as well as those paid by Special Operating Agencies. 
- Contains details of unaudited Consolidated Fund and Special Operating Agencies’ payments in 

excess of $5,000 to corporations, firms, individuals, other governments and government agencies.  
 
Volume 3 
 
- Contains a reconciliation of core government results to summary results. 
- Contains the details of selected core government financial information. 
- Contains the details of the core government revenue and expense. 
- Contains information provided under statutory requirement. 
 
These statements are all unaudited with the exception of the following: 
- The Report of Amounts Paid or Payable to Members of the Assembly; and  
- The Northern Affairs Fund. 
 
Volume 4 
 
- Contains a compendium of unaudited financial statements of special funds and audited financial 

statements of organizations, agencies and enterprises included in the Government Reporting Entity, 
but is not considered to be part of the Public Accounts of Manitoba. 
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            Green Manitoba Eco Solutions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . March 31, 2010 1977
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- Workplace Safety and Health Public Education Fund. . . . . . . . . March 31, 2010 23

CROWN ORGANIZATIONS:

- Addictions Foundation of Manitoba. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . March 31, 2010 25
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- CancerCare Manitoba. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . March 31, 2010 98
- Le Centre culturel franco-manitobain. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . March 31, 2010 119
- Collège universitaire de Saint-Boniface. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . March 31, 2010 131
- Communities Economic Development Fund. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . March 31, 2010 152
- Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board. . . . . . . . . . . . March 31, 2010 169
- Cooperative Promotion Board. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . March 31, 2010 174
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THE ABANDONMENT RESERVE FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2009)

2010  2009
$ $

Balance, beginning of year...........................................................................  613,155       686,433      
  

RECEIPTS:   
 Royalties.....................................................................................................  233,625       224,245      
 Other Recoveries........................................................................................  -                 -                 
 Interest........................................................................................................  3,736          4,030          

 237,361       228,275      

DISBURSEMENTS:   
 Rehabilitation payments..............................................................................  17,778         301,553      

  
  

Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 832,738     613,155    
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THE ETHANOL FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the four months ended March 31, 2009)

2010 2009
$ $

Balance, beginning of period...................................................................... 6,083,557      5,209,987     
 

RECEIPTS:  
 Transfer of Gasoline Tax Revenue............................................................ 19,019,453    24,211,660   

DISBURSEMENTS:  
 Payments................................................................................................... 25,103,010    23,338,090   

 
 

Balance, end of period................................................................................ -                   6,083,557    

NOTE:  The Ethanol fund was established by The Biofuels Act on December 1, 2007.  Pursuant to the Act, 
             the purpose of the Ethanol Fund is to support the production of denatured ethanol in Manitoba.
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THE FARM MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT ACT FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2009)

2010  2009

$ $

Balance, beginning of year...........................................................................  526,939       514,342      
  

RECEIPTS:   
 Interest Revenue.........................................................................................  980               12,597        

  
DISBURSEMENTS:
 Claims.........................................................................................................  -                  -                 

  
  

Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 527,919     526,939    
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LAND TITLES ASSURANCE FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2009)

2010  2009
$ $

Balance, beginning of year...........................................................................  216,410       148,508      
  

RECEIPTS:   
 Premiums....................................................................................................  60,964         93,217        

  
DISBURSEMENTS:
 Claims.........................................................................................................  -                  25,315        

  
  

Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 277,374     216,410    
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MANITOBA LAW REFORM COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2009)

2010  2009
$ $

Balance, beginning of year...........................................................................  37,100         36,406        
  

RECEIPTS:   
 Department of Justice................................................................................. 85,000        85,000        
 Law Society of Manitoba............................................................................. 120,000      130,000      
 Manitoba Law Foundation...........................................................................  -  -

 205,000       215,000      

DISBURSEMENTS:
 Claims.........................................................................................................  184,075       214,306      

  
  

Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 58,025        37,100      
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MANITOBA TRUCKING PRODUCTIVITY IMPROVEMENT FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2009)

2010 2009
$ $

Balance, beginning of year........................................................................... 715,049         605,244      
 

RECEIPTS:  
 Contributions............................................................................................... -                    -                 
 Interest........................................................................................................ 893               9,805          
 Miscellaneous............................................................................................. -                    100,000      

893               109,805      
DISBURSEMENTS:
 Payments.................................................................................................... -                    -                 

 
 

Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 715,942       715,049    
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THE MINING COMMUNITY RESERVE
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2009)

2010 2009
$ $

Balance, beginning of year........................................................................ 15,988,089  15,952,153 
 

RECEIPTS:  
 Transfer of Mining Tax Revenues.............................................................  494,847        2,821,498     
 Interest received during the year..............................................................  13,725           314,041        

 508,572         3,135,539     
 

DISBURSEMENTS:  
 Leaf Rapids Town Properties Inc.............................................................. 1,000,000     898,732        
 Manitoba Geological Survey's Far North Geomapping Initiative............... 490,465        383,622        
 Town of Leaf Rapids................................................................................. 65,000          44,912          
 Town of Lynn Lake....................................................................................  52,924          -                    
 Town of Snow Lake.................................................................................. 40,000          48,718          
 Transfer to General Revenue...................................................................  2,170,912     1,723,619     

 3,819,301      3,099,603     
 
 

Balance, end of year.................................................................................. 12,677,360  15,988,089 
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THE MINING REHABILITATION RESERVE FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2009)

2010 2009
$ $

Balance, beginning of year...............................................................  951,402      731,825      

 
RECEIPTS:  
 Royalties..........................................................................................  500,000      282,467      
 Interest.............................................................................................  1,800           18,688        

 501,800      301,155      
DISBURSEMENTS:
 Payments......................................................................................... 171,664       81,578        

 
Balance, end of year......................................................................... 1,281,538 951,402      
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THE QUARRY REHABILITATION RESERVE FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2009)

2010  2009
$ $

Balance, beginning of year...........................................................................  6,507,547    6,880,797   
  

RECEIPTS:   
 Royalties.....................................................................................................  2,089,898    1,727,418   
 Interest........................................................................................................  9,515          131,068      

2,099,413   1,858,486   
  

DISBURSEMENTS:   
 Rehabilitation payments..............................................................................  2,322,893    2,231,736   

  
  

Balance, end of year.................................................................................... 6,284,067  6,507,547 
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THE VETERINARY SCIENCE SCHOLARSHIP FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2009)

2010 2009
$ $

Balance, beginning of year..................................................................... 9,893    7,813    
 

RECEIPTS:  
 Department of Agriculture - Veterinary Services Branch....................... 9,000    13,480   
 Repayment of bursaries........................................................................ 15,600  15,600   

 24,600    29,080   
 

DISBURSEMENTS:  
 Payment of bursaries awarded under the Veterinary  
  Science Scholarship Act....................................................................... 21,600  27,000   

 
 

Balance, end of year.............................................................................. 12,893  9,893    
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VICTIMS ASSISTANCE FUND
STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Year Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2009)

2010 2009
$ $

Balance, beginning of year.......................................................................... 4,555,843  3,697,464  
 

RECEIPTS:  
 Surcharge on Provincial Fines................................................................... 4,620,289  5,121,919  
 Interest....................................................................................................... 4,921       70,871      

 4,625,210   5,192,790  

DISBURSEMENTS:  
 Operating expenses................................................................................... 5,114,935 4,334,411  

 
Balance, end of year................................................................................... 4,066,118  4,555,843  
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WORKPLACE  SAFETY AND HEALTH
PUBLIC EDUCATION FUND

STATEMENT OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS

For the Ten Months Ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2009)

2010 2009
$ $

Balance, beginning of period.............................................................................. 19,745          9,500         
 

RECEIPTS:  
 Department of Labour and Immigration............................................................. -                    13,000       

DISBURSEMENTS:  
 Payments........................................................................................................... 6,185            2,755         

 
 

Balance, end of period........................................................................................ 13,560         19,745     

NOTE: The Workplace Safety and Health Public Education Fund was established on June 29, 2007
for the purpose of educating the public on matters related to workplace safety and health.
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ASSINIBOINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2009
(in thousand $)

ASSETS 2009 2008

CURRENT

    Cash and short term investments (note 1) 3,474 3,192
    Accounts receivable (note 2) 1,490 1,430
    Due from Province of Manitoba (note 3) 522 522
    Inventories (note 4) 42 34
    Prepaids 751 576

6,278 5,754
NON-CURRENT

    Due from Province of Manitoba (note 3) 1,999 1,999

CAPITAL ASSETS (note 5)

    Land, buildings and equipment 8,442 7,412
    Library holdings 811 811

9,254 8,224
17,530 15,976

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT

    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 6) 3,800 3,199
    Deferred revenue (note 7) 1,767 1,616

5,567 4,814
NON-CURRENT

    Long term loan (note 8) 877 967
    Accrued severance liability (note 9) 1,900 1,822

2,777 2,790

DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS

    Deferred contributions related to capital assets (note 10) 3,652 3,002

NET ASSETS

    Net assets invested in capital assets 4,724 4,254
    Net assets internally restricted (note 11) 840 840
    Unrestricted net assets (30) 276

5,533 5,370
17,530 15,976

 3
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ASSINIBOINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009
(in thousand $)

Budget 2009 2008
(unaudited)

REVENUES

Academic training fees 3,240 3,009 2,986
Grants 20,759 20,788 19,482
Market driven training 1,600 2,062 1,916
Continuing studies 1,336 1,516 1,327
Ancillary services 246 199 179
Apprenticeship training 1,582 1,588 1,419
Other revenue 589 530 692
Amortization of deferred contributions 990 1,016 982

30,343 30,709 28,983

EXPENDITURES

Academic 18,671 18,124 16,981
Administration 6,896 7,284 6,760
Program support 1,648 1,687 1,455
Plant 492 494 490
Management information services 1,088 988 724
Library 311 302 329
Ancillary services 70 49 82
Amortization of capital assets 1,167 1,615 1,439

30,343 30,543 28,260
EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES - 166 723
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ASSINIBOINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009
(in thousand $)

INVESTED
IN CAPITAL INTERNALLY 2009 2008

ASSETS RESTRICTED UNRESTRICTED TOTAL TOTAL

Balance -  beginning of year 4,254 840 276 5,371 4,647

Restatement Adjustment - -

Excess of revenue over expenditures - - 163 163 724

Add: Amortization of deferred contributions 1,016 - (1,016) - -

Less: Amortization of capital assets (1,615) - 1,615 - -

Less: Long Term Debt 90 - (90) - -

Deferred contributions received from grant (1,405) - 1,405 - -

Deferred contributions from donated assets (261) - 261 - -

Library holdings valuation adjustment - - - - -

Investment from donated assets 252 - (252) - -

Investment in capital assets 2,393 - (2,393) - -

Balance - end of year 4,724 840 (31) 5,534 5,371
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ASSINIBOINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2009
(in thousand $)

2009 2008
Cash from operating activities

Excess of revenues over expenditures 163 724
Amortization of capital assets 1,615 1,439
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (1,016) (982)
Loss on disposal of capital assets - 100
Change in non-cash working capital items 497 (14)

Net cash generated through operating activities 1,259 1,267

Financing and investing activities

Purchase of capital assets (2,393) (2,897)
Donated capital assets (252) (32)
Donated library holdings - -
Contributions received for capital purposes 1,666 1,197

Net cash used in financing and investing activities (979) (1,732)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and short term investments 280 (465)

Cash and short term investments, beginning of year 3,194 3,659

Cash and short term investments, end of year 3,474 3,194
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Assiniboine Community College
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

June 30, 2009

Operations Assiniboine Community Col lege operat es under t he author ity
of The C olleges Ac t, Chapt er C150. 1 of the Conti nuing
Consolidation of the St atutes of Manitoba and is a regi stered
charity under the Income Tax Act.

In ac cordance with t he ac tivities or objec tives specified by
donors and ot her sources outside t he Col lege and i n keepi ng
with t heir mandate t o oper ate t he Col lege, t he Board of
Governors m ay approv e tr ansfers betw een f unds to achi eve
the f inancial objectives of the Col lege.  Effective June 1998,
the Assiniboine Community College Foundation was created to
administer the c ollection and disbursement of endowment
funds and undertake fundraising events.

Financial Instruments The organization's f inancial instruments consist of cash,
accounts rec eivable, short -term investments, ac counts
payable, and severance l iabilities.  Unless otherwise noted, it
is m anagement's opi nion t hat t he organi zation i s not ex posed
to si gnificant interest, currency or credi t ri sks arising f rom
these financial instruments.  The fair v alues of these f inancial
instruments approx imate t heir carrying v alues, unl ess
otherwise noted.

The ent ity has cl assified i ts cash and s hort-term investments
as hel d-for-trading, receivables as loans and receivables and
its accounts payable and acc rued l iabilities as other li abilities,
which are measured at amortized cost.

Inventories Inventories are v alued at the l ower of cost or net realizable
value.  Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out method.
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Assiniboine Community College
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

June 30, 2009

Capital Assets Capital assets are stat ed at c ost l ess accumulated
amortization.   Amortization i s prov ided using t he straight-line
method at 20% per annum for ac quisitions pri or t o June 30,
2002.  For ac quisitions af ter 2002, amortization is provided
using the straight-line method at the following rates:

Buildings 2 %
Leasehold improvements Term equal to t he l ength of the

lease pl us one renew al t erm, or
2% per annum if no s pecified
lease term

Computer systems 20 %
Computer equipment 33 %
Furniture and equipment 20 %
Laptop program 50 %

No amortization is taken i n the year of acquisition, ex cept for
the laptop program assets that have a f ull year of amortization
applied i n t he year of acquisition.  Contributed capi tal assets
are recorded at the fair value at the date of contribution.

A base l ibrary was established at April 1, 1993.  Li brary
holdings are accounted for using the "base stock" method with
current library acqui sitions not c apitalized because annual
library ac quisitions net of annual library di spositions are not
significant.

Leases A lease that transfers substantially al l of the benefits and risks
of ownership i s classified as a capi tal lease.  The Col lege
evaluates all leases at t he inception of the lease agreement to
determine i f it should be c lassified as a capi tal or operat ing
lease.  Where a c apital lease i s ident ified, the am ount of the
payment made each y ear i s capi talized and am ortized us ing
the straight-line method over t he l esser of five years or the
remaining lease term.  Al l other l eases are acc ounted f or as
operating leases and rent al payments are ex pensed as
incurred.

Deferred Revenue Revenue r eceived i n t he c urrent year, but not spent unt il t he
following f iscal year, is deferred and m atched with the rel ated
expenditures.
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Assiniboine Community College
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

June 30, 2009

Revenue Recognition Government grants are recognized when the f inal am ount t o
be received is readily determinable and revenue is earned.

Tuition and other training revenue is recognized when the f inal
amount to be rec eived is readi ly determinable.  In the case of
funding r eceived f or programs tak ing pl ace ov er a period of
time longer than 1 year, the revenues are recognized when the
related expenditures are incurred.

The def erral method of accounting f or c ontributions is used.
Restricted cont ributions are def erred and m atched wit h the
related expenses when incurred.

Donations are r eported when rec eived.  Donations of Capital
Assets are reported at fair market value.
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Assiniboine Community College
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

June 30, 2009

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in accor dance w ith
Canadian general ly ac cepted acc ounting pri nciples requires
management to m ake est imates and as sumptions that af fect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements, and t he report ed am ounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could
differ from management's bes t esti mates as additional
information becomes available in the future.

10
Page 50



Assiniboine Community College
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

June 30, 2009

New Accounting Recent accounting pronouncements that have been issued but
Pronouncements are not y et ef fective, and hav e a potent ial implication f or t he

organization, are as follows:

Financial Statement Concepts
CICA Handbook Section 1000, Financial Statement Concept s
has been amended to focus on the capi talization of costs that
truly m eet the def inition of an ass et and de-em phasizes the
matching principle.  The revised requirements are effective for
annual and interim financial statements relating to f iscal years
beginning on or after O ctober 1, 2008.  T he organization is
currently ev aluating the impact of the adopt ion of this change
on the disclosure within its financial statements.

Financial instruments – Disclosures and Presentation
CICA Handbook Section 3862, F inancial Instruments -
Disclosure, increases the di sclosures curr ently r equired to
enable us ers to ev aluate t he s ignificance of financial
instruments for an ent ity's financial position and perf ormance,
including disclosures about fair value. CICA Handbook Section
3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation, repl aces the
existing requi rements on t he presentat ion of financial
instruments, which hav e been car ried f orward unchanged.
These standards are ef fective f or interim and annual f inancial
statements rel ating t o f iscal years beginni ng on or after
October 1, 2008.  The organization i s currently assessing the
impact of the new standards.

Financial Statement P resentation by No t f or Pro fit
Organizations
Section 4400 has been am ended f or t he tr eatment of net
assets invested i n capi tal assets and f or t he presentat ion of
revenues and ex penses. The new standard i s ef fective for
interim and annual financial statements relating to f iscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2009.  The organization is
currently assessing the impact of the new standards.

Disclosure of Related Party Transactions by Not for Profit
Organizations
Section 4460 has been am ended t o m ake t he l anguage in
Section 4460 c onsistent with Rel ated Par ty Transact ions,
Section 3840. The changes are effective f or i nterim and
annual financial statements beginning on or af ter Januar y 1,
2009.  The organization i s currently ass essing t he i mpact of
the new standards.
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Assiniboine Community College
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

June 30, 2009

New Accounting Disclosure of Allocated Expenses by Not for Profit
Pronouncements (continued) Organizations

This new Section 4470 establ ishes di sclosure s tandards for
not-for-profit organizations that choose to classify thei r
expenses by function and al locate expenses from one function
to anot her. The changes are ef fective f or i nterim and annual
financial statements beginni ng on or after J anuary 1, 2009.
The organization i s currently assessing the impact of the new
standards.

Capital Assets Held by Not for Profit Organizations
Section 4430 has been am ended t o prov ide addi tional
guidance with respect to the appropriate use of the exemption
from recognizing capital assets for sm aller ent ities.   T he
changes are ef fective f or i nterim and annual f inancial
statements begi nning on or after January 1, 2009.  The
organization is currently ass essing the i mpact of the new
standards.

Cash Flow Statements
Section 1540 w as am ended t o i nclude not-for-profit
organizations within i ts scope.  The changes are ef fective for
interim and annual financial statements beginning on or af ter
January 1, 2009.  The organization i s currently assessing the
impact of the new standards.
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Assiniboine Community College
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2009

1. Cash and Short-term Investments
2009 2008

Cash 878 785
Term deposits - Manitoba Finance 2,596 2,408

3,474 3,193

2. Accounts Receivable
2009 2008

Tuition and contract training 1,453 1,399
Goods and Services Tax rebate 47 45
Allowance for doubtful accounts (10) (14)

1,490 1,430

3. Due from Province of Manitoba

2009 2008

Current
Property taxes 331 331
Accommodation cost-recovery system 180 180
10% tuition rebate 11 11

522 522

Non-current
Vacation pay 875 875
Severance pay 1,124 1,124

1,999 1,999

2,521 2,521

The Province of Manitoba has guaranteed the rec eivable for severance and v acation pay i n
the amount of 1,999,250 (in actual $).  The amount of this deferred funding was established
in 1998 and was calculated as t he sev erance and v acation pay owing at that t ime to
employees for pre-1998 employee serv ice.  The amount of this receivable will not change as
the liability for vacation and severance pay i ncreases or decreases on an annual basis.  T he
receivable is non-interest bearing and no payment terms have been established.  To date, the
College has pai d out 895, 899 i n s everance pay rel ating to pre- 1998 em ployee serv ice (i n
actual $).  No payments have been recei ved f rom the Prov ince w ith respect t o thi s
receivable.
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Assiniboine Community College
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2009

4. Inventories
2009 2008

Books and supplies 42 34

5. Capital Assets

2009 2008

Accumulated) Accumulated
Cost) Amortization Cost Am ortization

Land 4 - 4 -
Buildings 874 12 241 8
Computer systems 6,651 4,916 5,372 3,917
Furniture and equipment 13,644 9,673 13,011 9,146
Leasehold improvements 3,150 1,280 3,050 1,249
Laptop program 107 107 107 53

24,430 15,988 21,785 14,373

Net book value 8,442 7,412

Library holdings, at estimated value 811 811

6. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

2009 2008

Trade payables 1,572 1,262
Accrued vacation pay 2,228 1,937

3,800 3,199
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Assiniboine Community College
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2009

7. Deferred Revenue
2009 2008

Opening tuition and commitment fees 339 241
Opening contract training fees 994 975
Opening classroom rentals, parking and other deferrals 283 169
Opening provincial grant - -

Total opening deferred revenue 1,616 1,385

Tution and commitment fees received 392 3,085
Contract training fees received 12,300 1,659
Classroom rentals, parking and other revenue received 404 589
Provincial grant received 240 -

Total received 13,336 5,333

Tuition and commitment fees recognized (400) (2,987)
Contract training fees recognized (12,211) (1,640)
Classroom rentals, parking and other deferrals recognized (434) (475)
Provincial grant recognized 140 -

Total recognized (12,905) (5,102)

Ending tuition and commitment fees 331 339
Ending contract training fees 1,083 994
Ending classroom rentals, parking and other deferrals 253 283
Ending provincial grant 100 -

1,767 1,616

8. Long-term Debt
2009 2008

Loan payable to Prov ince of Manitoba at t he rat e of
4.75%, due in 2017, repayable in monthly instalments
of $11,193 principal and interest. 877,106 967,413

Less amounts due within one year included in current liabilities 94,698 89,596

782,408 877,817
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Assiniboine Community College
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2009

8. Long-term Debt (continued)

Principal repayments for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:
2010 94,698
2011 99,295
2012 104,115
2013 109,170
2014 104,722
Thereafter 365,106

877,106

9. Accrued Severance Liability

The serv ice to dat e obl igation i s cal culated based on an actuarial r eport as at Mar ch 31,
2005.  The calculations used in the actuarial report to determine the liability outstanding as at
March 31, 2005 are applied to the current year to determine the estimated accrued severance
liability at June 30, 2009.

10. Deferred Contributions Related to Capital Assets

Deferred cont ributions rel ated t o capi tal assets represent t he unam ortized por tion of
contributed capital assets and rest ricted contributions received from the Manitoba Council for
Post-Secondary Education t hat were used t o purchase the Coll ege's capital ass ets.
Recognition of these amounts as revenue i s deferred to peri ods when the rel ated capi tal
assets are amortized.

2009 2008

Net book value, beginning of year 3,002 2,787
Add: Capital contributions during the year

Government grant 1,405 1,065
Add: Donations in kind 261 132
Less: Current year amortization (1,016) (982)

Net book value, end of year 3,652 3,002
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Assiniboine Community College
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2009

11. Net Assets Internally Restricted

General General General
Operating Capital Technology Total

Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve

Opening balance 435 64 341 840
Appropriations - - - -
Withdrawals - - - -

Ending balance 435 64 341 840

12. Grants

2009 2008

Grants Received 22,660 21,058
Add:

10% rebate 29 4
Less:

Deferred capital
contributions (1,405) (1,095)

21,284 19,967

Represented by:
Base 20,788 19,483
Market Driven Training 265 265
Continuing Studies 231 219

21,284 19,967

13. Pension Costs and Obligations

The C ollege's em ployees ar e eligible f or m embership i n the Ci vil Service Super annuation
Plan operated by the Province of Manitoba.  Although this is a defined benefit pension plan,
any experience gains or losses determined by actuarial valuations are the responsibility of the
Province of Manitoba.  Accordingly, no disclosure has been m ade in the financial statements
relating to the ef fects of participation in the pension plan by the Col lege and its employees.
Effective O ctober 1, 2002, the Col lege i s responsible f or pay ing t heir por tion of the current
pension costs on behalf of all employees enrolled in the Civil Service Superannuation Plan.
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Assiniboine Community College
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2009

14. Related Party Transactions

During t he y ear the Col lege pr ovided a grant of 7,850 (2008 - 7,850) t o As siniboine
Community College Foundation Inc. (in act ual $), a grant of 5,000 (2008 - 8,500) t o
Assiniboine Campus Radio Society Inc. (in actual $), and a grant of 18,500 (2008 - 17,600)
to the student association (in actual $).  Transactions with the Assiniboine Community College
Foundation Inc., Assiniboine Cam pus Radio Soci ety I nc., and t he Ass iniboine Com munity
College Student Association are measured at the exchange am ount. The abov e entities are
not controlled or significantly influenced by the College and are governed by their own Board
of Directors.  There were no intercompany payables or receivables outstanding at f iscal year-
end.

15. Commitments

The Col lege has enter ed i nto v arious l eases f or classroom space, of fice equi pment and a
maintenance agr eement for t he Col league com puter system .  The f ollowing represents the
future payments:

2009/10 401
2010/11 208
2011/12 73
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Assiniboine Community College
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2009

16. Economic Dependence

The Col lege pr esently receives annual funding of approximately 20,788, 139 (21,057, 504 in
2008) from the Prov ince of Manitoba to f inance operations and capital acquisitions (in actual
$).  Without such funding, future viability of the College is not assured.  Transactions with the
Province of Manitoba are measured at the exchange amount.

17. Financial Risk Management

There have been no substantive changes in the entity's exposure to financial instrument risks.
The board monitors the f inancial statements including its financial i nstruments on a monthly
basis to determine if there any increases or changes in its risk.

The principal financial instruments used by t he enti ty, from which f inancial risk arises, are as
follows: cash and short- term investments, receivables and payabl es, accrued li abilities and
long-term debt.

Market Risk
Market risk i s the ri sk the f air v alue or f uture cash f lows of a f inancial instrument wi ll
fluctuate because of changes i n m arket prices.  Market risk com prises three types of
risk: interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and other price risk.

Interest rate risk is the r isk that fair value or future cash f lows of a f inancial instrument
will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.  The investments of the entity are
held for trading instruments which are exposed to interest rate risk.  The long term debt
is also affected by interest rate risk.

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the v alue of a financial i nstrument will f luctuate
due t o c hanges i n f oreign ex change rates.  The US bank account of the enti ty i s
exposed to foreign exchange risk.

Other price risk is t he r isk that t he f air v alue or f uture cash flows of a f inancial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, other than those arising
from interest rate risk or currency risk.  The entity is not exposed to other price risk.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the enti ty w ill enc ounter di fficulty i n hav ing av ailable
sufficient funds to m eet its commitments.  It is the ent ity's poli cy to ensure that i t will
have suf ficient cash and short term investments to al low it to meet i ts liabilities when
they come due.

Credit Risk
Credit risk arises principally f rom receivables.  The entity's receivables relate primarily
to t uition, sponsorships, refundable G ST, and v arious other trade recei vables.  The
credit risk is minimal.
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Assiniboine Community College
Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2009

18. Capital

The organization considers its capital to be its net assets.  The organization's objectives when
managing i ts capital are t o s afeguard i ts ability as a goi ng conc ern so i t can c ontinue t o
provide serv ices to its m embers and al low for f uture equi pment and building purchases.
Annual budgets are dev eloped and monitored to ensure the organi zation's capital i s
maintained at an appropriate level.

19. Income Taxes

The College is exempt from income taxes.

20. Prior Year's Figures

The pri or y ear's f igures hav e been adj usted t o conf orm to t he cur rent year's presentation
standards.

21. Consolidation

The ac tivities of the A ssiniboine Com munity Col lege Foundat ion Inc . and the Ass iniboine
Campus-Radio Society Inc. have not been consol idated w ith the ac counts of Assiniboine
Community College.  The abov e ent ities are not cont rolled or significantly influenced by the
College and are governed by their own Board of Directors.  The effect of these entities on the
financial statements of the College, had these entities been consolidated, would be as follows
(in actual dollars):

Increase
(Decrease)

Cash 96,516
Accounts receivable 20,161
Other assets 400
Investments 1,588,947
Accounts payable 5,599
Deferred revenue 37,438
Deferred contributions 685,236
Unrestricted net assets (13,625)
Endowment funds 991,376
Revenue 648,200
Expenditures 652,949
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ii – MANAGEMENT REPORT 

THE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
UNDER THE EMBALMERS AND FUNERAL DIRECTORS ACT 

MANAGEMENT REPORT
December 31, 2009 

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the Board and have been 
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  In the Board’s 
opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared. 

As the Board is responsible for the integrity of the financial statements, the Board has 
established systems of internal control to provide assurance that assets are properly accounted 
for and safeguarded from loss and that revenues are complete. 

The responsibility of the Auditor General of Manitoba is to express an independent, professional 
opinion on whether the financial statements of the Board are fairly stated in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. The Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of 
the audit examination and provides the audit opinion. 

Susan Boulter     E.C. Norrington C.A. 
Chairperson      Accountant 

May 1, 2010 
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Iii – Auditors’ Report 

AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba 
To the Board of Directors under the Funeral Directors and Embalmers Act 

We have audited the statement of financial position of the Board of Administration under the Funeral 
Directors and Embalmers Act as at December 31, 2009 and the statements of operations and changes in 
unrestricted net assets and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Board’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Board as at December 31, 2009, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

Office of the Auditor General 

Winnipeg, Manitoba 
April 16, 2010 

 

Office of the 

AUDITOR GENERAL 
MANITOBA 
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iv – Financial Statements and information 

THE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
UNDER THE FUNERAL DIRECTORS AND EMBALMERS ACT 

Statement of Financial Position 
 December 31, 2009 

       
ASSETS 2009 2008 
       
Current       
     Cash  $             76,963   $            18,162  
     Short-term Investments (notes 2 and 3)                 37,008                 33,466  
     Accrued Interest Receivable                   2,432                   1,061  
Total Current Assets               116,403                 52,689  
      
Non-Current      
     Accrued Interest Receivable                          -                   1,417  
     Long-term Investments (notes 2 and 3)                          -                 21,954  
Total Non-Current Assets                          -                 23,371  
      
   $            116,403   $            76,060  

       
LIABILITIES AND UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS 
       
Current       
     Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities  $             11,651   $              3,931  
     Deferred Revenue                 81,500                 25,600  
Total Current Liabilities                 93,151                 29,531  
      
Unrestricted Net Assets                 23,252                 46,529  
      
   $           116,403   $            76,060  

       
See accompanying notes to the financial statements      
       
Approved on behalf of The Board of Administration      

     

       

Susan Boulter  Tracy Wevursky 
Chairperson  Secretary-Treasurer 
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THE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
UNDER THE FUNERAL DIRECTORS AND EMBALMERS ACT 

  

Statement of Operations and Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets 
For the year ended December 31, 2009 

       

REVENUE 2009   2008 

       

Funeral Home Licences   $              9,200    $              9,400  

Funeral Director and Embalmer Licences                 21,700                  21,000  

Interest                   1,189                    1,864  

                  32,089                  32,264  

      

EXPENSES 

      

Audit                   2,900                    2,800  

Honoraria - Board Members                   5,016                    5,886  

Honoraria - Registrar                 10,000                  10,000  

Miscellaneous                    1,956                       912  

Board Meetings                   3,982                   4,225  

Graduation and Examination                   750                    1,565  

Communications                   9,084                    1,660  

Office Supplies and Postage                   1,507                    1,035  

Conferences                   7,510                    3,489  

Legal Fees                  12,661                    3,980  

                  55,366                  35,551  

      

Net (Loss)                  (23,277)                  (3,287) 

      

Unrestricted Net Assets     

                   Beginning of the Period                 46,529                  49,816  

      

Unrestricted Net Assets     

                  End of the Period   $            23,252    $            46,529  

       

See accompanying notes to the financial statements      
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THE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 

UNDER THE FUNERAL DIRECTORS AND EMBALMERS ACT 

  

Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended December 31,2009 

       

Cash Flows from Operating Activities  2009   2008 

      

Licence Fees   $             86,800    $             36,200  

Interest on Investments                   1,235                    2,239  

Audit Fees                  (2,800)                  (3,400) 

Graduation and Examination                     (750)                  (1,565) 

Honoraria - Registrar                  (7,500)                (10,000) 

Honoraria - Board Members                  (4,362)                  (5,886) 

Miscellaneous Expenses                  (1,644)                  (1,484) 

Board Meetings                  (3,690)                  (3,831) 

Communications                  (5,437)                  (2,826) 

Conferences                  (7,235)                  (3,489) 

Office Supplies and Postage                  (1,419)                  (1,127) 

Legal Fees                 (12,809)                  (4,312) 

Net Cash provided by (used in) Operating Activities                  40,389                       519  

       

Cash and Cash equivalents, beginning of year                 51,628                  51,109  

Cash and Cash equivalents, end of year  $               92,017  $               51,628 

      

Represented by:      

Cash   $              76,963    $              18,162 

Short-term investments cashable < 91 days note 3)                  15,054                    33,466 

   $               92,017   $              51,628 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements      
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7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
1) Nature of Operations 
 

The Funeral Directors and Embalmers Act established The Board of Administration (The 
Board) to licence and regulate Funeral Directors and Embalmers and to prescribe the 
courses of training and instruction for articling students.  

 
2) Significant Accounting Policies:   
   

a. General 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for not-for-profit organizations. 

  
b. New Accounting Policies Adopted 

     
 Not-For-Profit Organizations    

      
The CICA amended a number of standards applicable to not-for-profit 
organizations (NFPOs) and issued new standard, CICA 4470 Disclosures of 
Allocated Expenses by NFPOs. 
 
CICA 4400 Financial Statement Presentation by NFPOs was amended to 
- clarify that revenues and expenses must be recognized and presented on a 

gross basis when a not-for-profit organization is acting as a principal in 
transactions; 

-   make Section 1540 Cash Flow Statements applicable to NFPOs; and  
-  make Section 1751 Interim Financial Statements applicable to NFPOs that 

prepare interim financial statements in accordance with GAAP.  
 

Section 4460 Disclosure of Related Party Transactions by Not-For-Profit 
Organizations was amended to make the language in Section 4460 consistent with 
Section 3840 Related party Transactions. 
 
New Section CICA 4470 Disclosure of Allocated Expenses by Not-For-Profit 
Organizations establishes disclosure standards for not-for-profit organizations that 
choose to classify their expenses by function and allocate expenses from one 
function to another. 
 
The adoption of these new requirements had no material impact on the Board's 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009. 
 
 
 
 

The board of administration  
Under the funeral directors and embalmers act 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the year ended December 31, 2009 
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Financial Statement Concepts - CICA Handbook Section 1000    
 

Financial Statement concepts has been amended to focus on the capitalization of 
costs that truly meet the definition of an asset and de-emphasizes the matching 
principle. 
 
The revised requirements were effective for annual and interim financial 
statements relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2008. The 
adoption of this standard had no effect on the Board's financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2009. 

 
c. Financial Instruments 

 
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value. Measurement in 
subsequent periods depends on the financial instrument's classification. Financial 
instruments are classified into one of the following five categories: held for trading; 
available for sale; held to maturity; loans and receivables; and other financial 
liabilities. All financial instruments classified as held for trading or available for sale 
are subsequently measured at fair value with any change in fair value recorded in net 
earnings and net assets, respectively. All other financial instruments are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost.  
 
The financial assets and liabilities of the Board are classified and measured as 
follows:      

Financial Asset/Liability Category 
 Subsequent 
measurement  

Cash Held for trading Fair value  
Interest Receivable Loans and receivables Amortized Cost  
Investments Held for trading Fair value  
Accounts Payable and  
Accrued Liabilities 

Other financial liabilities Amortized Cost  

   
Gains and losses on financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost 
are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. 
Changes in fair value on the financial instruments classified as held for trading are 
recognized in the statement of operations for the current period. Changes in fair value 
on financial instruments classified as available for sale are recorded in the statement 
of changes in unrestricted net assets until realized, at which time they are recorded in 
the statement of operations.    

      
 Fair value of financial instruments    
      

The fair value of a financial instrument is the estimated amount that the Board would 
receive or pay to settle a financial asset or financial liability as at the reporting date. 
   

 Due to the redeemable nature of cash, carrying value is considered to be fair value. 
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The carrying values of short-term investments approximate their fair values due to the 
relatively short period to maturity. The carrying values of long-term investments 
approximate their fair values based on recent investment transactions.    

      
The fair values of interest receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
approximate their carrying values due to their short term maturity.    

      
Unless otherwise noted, it is management's opinion that the entity is not exposed to 
significant interest, currency or credit risk arising from these financial instruments. 
  

d. Use of Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure 
of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates. 

 
e. Revenue Recognition 

   
The Board recognizes revenue for Funeral Home Licences and Funeral Director and 
Embalmer Licenses on an accrual basis. Any license fees which are received prior to 
December 31 and are applicable to the subsequent fiscal year are recorded as 
deferred revenue. 
 
Investment income is recognized in the year it is received or receivable.  
 

f. Contributed Services 
    

During the year, the Province of Manitoba provided the services of administrative and 
accounting staff to the Board at no cost.  Because of the difficulty in estimating the fair 
value of such services, no contributed services are recognized in these financial 
statements.      

           
3) Investments    
      

Investments are invested in Guaranteed Investment Certificates (GICs) with various 
maturities and interest rates as follows:     
 2009 2008 
i.)  CIBC Flexible GIC $            -  $   33,466 
     Maturity Date: January 9, 2009   
     Interest Rate 3.25%   
ii.)  CIBC Cashable Escalating Rate GIC 21,954 21,954  
     Maturity Date: January 5, 2010   
     Interest Rate 4.25%    
iii.) CIBC Flexible GIC 15,054  
     Maturity Date: January 11, 2010   
     Interest Rate 1.10%   
 $37,008 $55,420 
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4) The Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act    
        

In accordance with Section 2 of The Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act, the 
following summarizes compensation paid during the year ended December 31, 2008: 

 
i. No individual received compensation of $50,000 or more; 
ii. The Board has no employees; 
iii. The aggregate amount paid to Board members was: 

 
 2009 2008 

Honoraria, Board Members $5,016 $5,886 
Honoraria, Registrar $10,000 $10,000 

 
    
5) Related Party Transactions     
      

The Board is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created 
Departments, Agencies, Boards and Crown Corporations. The Board enters into transactions 
with these entities in the normal course of operations and they are measured at the 
exchange rate amount agreed to by the related parties.     

      
6) Capital Management    
      

The Board's objective when managing capital is to maintain sufficient capital to cover its 
costs of operations. Capital consists only of the unrestricted net assets in the amount of 
$23,252 (2008 - $46,529). The Board's capital management policy is to maintain sufficient 
capital to meet its objectives. The Board is not subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements. There are no changes in the Board's approach to capital management during 
the period.  
 

7) Regulation Changes 
 
During the year amendments to The Funeral Directors and Embalmers Act regulations were 
completed. The Board increased the yearly licencing fees for funeral homes,embalmers and 
funeral directors and also introduced a Code of Ethics. 

 
8) Commitment 

 
The Board has approved a commitment of $1,700 related to a future year's communication 
expense. 
 

9) Comparative figures 
 

Certain of the prior year's figures have been restated to conform with the current year's 
presentation. 
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IBDO
Tel/Tel.: 2049567200
Fax/Telec.: 2049267201
Toll-free/
Sans frais: 800 268 3337
www.bdo.ca

BDOCanada LLP/s.r.l.
700 - 200 Graham Avenue
Winnipeg MB R3C4L5 Canada

Auditors' Report

To the Directors of
COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND

We have audited the statement of financial position of the COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT FUND as at March 31, 2010 and the statements of operations and cash flows for the
year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Fund's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Fund as at March 31, 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 20, 2010

-

BDOCanada LLP.a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UKcompany limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO
network of independent member firms.

BDOCanadas.r.i., une societe canadienne a responsabilite limitee, est membre de BDOInternational Limited, societe de droit anglais, et fait partie du reseau inte2'ational de
societes membres independantes BDO.
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The accompanyingsummary of significantaccountingpoliciesand notes are an integral part of these financialstatements.

4

COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND

Statement of Operations

For the ear ended March 31 2010 2009

Revenue
Loan interest

Business program $ 749,952 $ 755,523
Fisheries program 963,340 1,097,595
Investment income 20,206 48,358

1,733,498 1,901,476

Cost of Funds
Interest paid to the Province of Manitoba

Business program 514,610 573,726
Life insurance 82,927 79,933
Trust line of credit 30,986 68,817
Fisheries program 491,852 549,071
Other 213

1,120,588 1,271,547

Gross margin 612,910 629,929

Operating expenditures (Page 18) 1,800,497 2,030,980

(1,187,587) (1,401,051)

Other income - administration fees 160,042 167,328

Deficiency of revenue over expenditures
before provision for doubtful loans (1,027,545) (1,233,723)

Provision for doubtful loans - regular operations 487,276 280,832

Deficiency of revenue over expenditures
before subsidy due from the Province of Manitoba (1,514,821) (1,514,555)

Subsidy due from the Province of Manitoba 1,514,821 1,514,555

Excess of revenue over expenditures for the year $ - $
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Statement of Cash Flows

For the vear ended March 31 2010

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Deficiency before subsidy
Adjustments for

Amortization of capital assets
Provision for doubtful loans

2009

$ (1,514,821) $ (1,514,555)

66,299
487,276

Accounts receivable
Accrued interest receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Funds held in trust
Deferred contributions
Accrued interest payable
Accrued pension liability

(961,246)

35,455
(81,621)

(2,117)
9,928

479,588
200,000
(49,497)
152,810

(216,700)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
(Increase) decrease - Due from the Province of Manitoba
Increase - Advance by the Province of Manitoba
Subsidy - Province of Manitoba

19,426
336,354

1,514,821

1,870,601

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Loans receivable, net of repayments
Purchase/construction of capital assets
Property held for resale
Trust deposits

(1,244,451 )
(10,185)

(173,868)

(1,428,504)

225,397

652,060

877,457 $

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $

Represented by
Cash
Trust deposits - Province of Manitoba

$ 190,293 $
687,164

877,457 $$

Supplementary Information
Interest paid
Interest received

8,316
280,832

(1,225,407)

(68,782)
(51,748)

346
(230,110)

12,655
98,916

(1,464,130)

(380,184)
1 ,149,1 80
1,514,555

2,283,551

549,599
(1,032,189)

88
(232,098)

(714,600)

104,821

547,239

652,060

138,765
513,295

652,060

.

$ (1,138,960) $ (1,197,282)
1,649,453 1,800,738

The accompanyingsummaryof significantaccountingpoliciesand notes arean integral part of these financialstatements.

5
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For the year ended March 31, 2010

Financial Instruments The Fund recognizes and measures financial assets and financial
liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position when they become
a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument. All
transactions related to financial instruments are measured at fair
value on initial recognition. Measurement in subsequent periods
depends on whether the financial instrument has been classified
as held-for-trading, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity,
available for sale or other financial liabilities.

Transaction costs for financial instruments are expensed as
incurred.

The corporation classifies its financial instruments as follows
based on the purpose for which the asset was acquired and
follows the disclosed accounting policy for each category.

Assets/Liabilitv
Cash
Trust deposits
Accounts receivable
Loans receivable
Due from Province
Accounts payable
and accrued
liabilities
Funds held in trust
Deferred
contributions
Interest payable to
Province

Cateaorv
Held for trading
Held for trading
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables

Measurement
Fair value
Fair value
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost

Other financial liabilities Amortized cost
Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

· Held for trading items are carried at fair value, with changes in
their fair value recognized in the statement of operations.

· Other financial liabilities are carried at amortized cost, using
the effective interest method.

.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For the year ended March 31, 2010

Financial Instruments (continued)
. Loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost, using

the effective interest rate method, less any provision for
impairment. Loans considered uncollectible are written-off.
Recoveries on loans previously written-off are taken into
income. In the absence of readily ascertainable market
values, management has estimated that fair value would not
differ materially from carrying value. Factors considered in
this determination include underlying collateral, market
conditions, financial data and projections of the borrowers.
Because of the inherent uncertainty of valuation, the estimate
of fair value may differ significantly from the values that would
have been used had a ready market for the assets existed.

Allowance for
Doubtful Loans Business Loan Program - The loans are reviewed quarterly to

assess potential impairment or loss of value. Impaired loans are
defined as those which are greater than two payments in arrears
and for which the value of realizable security is less than the value
of the loan outstanding. In these cases, a "specific" allowance is
accrued equal to the value of the potential security shortfall or
impairment. In all other cases, including loans that are both current
and for which there is excess security value, a "non-specific"
allowance equal to 5% of the outstanding loan balance is recorded.

Fisheries Loan Program - The allowance for doubtful loans on
fisheries loans and interest receivable is calculated based on the
present value of future cash flows for those loans which, if they
maintain their past payment history, will fail to retire their debt
completely within the agreed term. The net present value ("NPV")
formula used for calculating the allowance for doubtful loans is
recognized by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants,
however, it does not account for closure of a fishery or regulated
reduction of production. In the event of the closure of a fishery or
regulated reduction of production, the NPV formula may not
adequately provide for doubtful loans.

Revenue Recognition Interest on loans is recorded as income on an accrual basis except
for loans which are considered impaired. When a loan becomes
impaired, recognition of interest ceases when the carrying amount
of the loan (including accrued interest) exceeds the estimated
realizable amount of the underlying security. The amount of initial
impairment and any subsequent changes are recorded through the
provision for doubtful loans as an adjustment of the specific
allowance.

.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For the year ended March 31, 2010

Pension Expense and
Obligation

Capital Assets

Use of Estimates and
Measurement Uncertainty

The employees of the Fund are not members of the Civil Service
of the Province of Manitoba but they contribute to, and are
pensionable under, the Civil Service Superannuation Fund. In
accordance with the provisions of the Manitoba Civil Service
Superannuation Act, the Fund will contribute 50% of the pension
payments made to retired employees. The current pension
expense consists of the Fund's share of pension benefits paid to
retired employees, as well as the increase in the unfunded pension
liability during the fiscal year. This liability is determined actuarially
every three years with the balances for the intervening years being
determined by a formula provided by the actuary. The most recent
actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2007 indicated the accrued
liability is in line with the obligation forecast in the report.

In fiscal years prior to 1989, the Fund charged to operations
contributions to the Manitoba Civil Service Superannuation Fund
which amounted to 50% of the pension payments made to retired
employees. Beginning in the 1989 fiscal year, the Fund has
recorded a provision to fund current service obligations.

The total liability as at March 31, 2010 amounts to $2,147,146
(2009 - $1,994,336).

Capital assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization.
Amortization based on the estimated useful life of the asset is
calculated on a straight-line basis as follows:

Building
Office furniture and equipment
Parking lot

2%
10 to 30%

50%

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles which
require management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of income and
expenses during the reported period. Significant estimates are
involved in the valuation of loans receivable. Actual results may
differ from those estimates.

.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For the year ended March 31, 2010

New Accounting
Pronouncements

Future for Not-for-Profit Orqanizations (NPO)
The Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) is currently developing
new accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations (NPOs).
Until such a time that the AcSB makes a final decision, all NPOs
will continue to follow accounting standards currently in effect.

9
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2010

1. Nature of the Fund

The Communities Economic Development Fund was established in 1971 (Ch. C155) as a
Crown Corporation to encourage the optimum economic development of remote and isolated
communities within the Province of Manitoba. With an act revision passed in July 1991 the
objective of the Fund was set to encourage economic development in Northern Manitoba, to
act as a lending authority in the fishing industry in the Province of Manitoba and to provide
financial assistance to Aboriginal people in the Province outside the City of Winnipeg. The
Business and Fisheries Loan Programs are administered under the C.ED.F. Act.

2. Due from the Province of Manitoba

Annually, the Province of Manitoba provides a grant to cover the Fund's anticipated subsidy
requirements for the year. The amount of $2,331,109 (2009 - $2,350,535) represents
additional funds needed to cover the actual requirements for the year including coverage for
the pension liability. The balance is comprised of the following:

10

2010 2009

Department of Aboriginal and Northern Affairs
Subsidy (refundable) $ 47,587 $ 188,429
Order in Council pending 70,976 107,281
Pension (unfunded) 2,128,671 1,973,284
Pension (funded) 18,475 16,141
Severance accrual (unfunded) 65,400 65,400

$ 2,331,109 $ 2,350,535
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2010

3. Loans Receivable
2010 2009

Business Loan Program
- Interest rates applied range from 4.25% to 9.88%

Principal $ 11,973,837 $ 11,189,982
Accrued interest 845,954 793,581

12,819,791 11,983,563
Allowance for doubtful loans (Note 9) 2,167,479 2,050,981

10,652,312 9,932,582

Fisheries Loan Program
-Interest rates applied range from 4.89% to 7.13%

Principal 13,397,464 12,904,372
Accrued interest 1,079,595 1,050,348

14,477,059 13,954,720
Allowance for doubtful loans (Note 9) 3,360,732 3,131,327

11,116,327 10,823,393

$ 21,768,639 $ 20,755,975

The following schedule provides the gross amount of loans together with the loan allowances:

2010 2009
Gross Loan Total Gross Loan Total

Balances Allowance Balances Allowance

Business Loan Program
Impaired $ 2,905,031 $ 1,671,741 $ 2,340,180 $ 1,607,266
Performing 9,914,760 495,738 9,643,381 443,715

$ 12,819,791 $ 2,167,479 $ 11,983,561 $ 2,050,981

Fisheries Loan Program
Impaired $ 3,360,732 $ 3,360,732 $ 3,131,327 $ 3,131,327
Performing 11,116,326 - 10,823,393

$ 14,477,058 $ 3,360,732 $ 13,954,720 $ 3,131,327 .
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

The Fund has received funds in trust from the Government of Manitoba to be administered as
directed by the Government regarding the following:

Establishment of the Metis Economic Development Fund $ 358,388

Direct Food Buy Project for the Island Lake Area

$

121,200

479,588

6. Deferred Contributions

The Government of Manitoba has contributed $200,000 to the Fund to cost share on an equal
basis with the Fund to establish the Non-Timber Forest Products Program.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

Loan Commitments
2010 2009

Undisbursed balance of approved loans $ 645,377 $ 1,578,621

Equipment Commitments
.

The Fund has entered into lease agreements for various office equipment. The minimum
lease payments over the next three years are as follows:

2011
2012
2013

$5,628
$2,350
$2,350

12
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2010

7. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Continqencies

The Fund has been named as a defendant in a statement of claim. At the time of preparation
of these financial statements, the outcome of this claim is not determinable and, accordingly,
no provision for settlement (if any) has been recorded in these financial statements. Settlement
amounts (if any) will be charged to operations in the year of settlement.

The Fund obtains capital for the purpose of carrying out its mandate of providing financial
assistance in the form of loans and guarantees through loans provided by the Department of
Finance. Term loans bear interest at the rates posted by the Department of Finance at time of
issue. The Fund also has the option to draw funds on floating rates set periodically at the Royal
Bank prime rate minus 3/4%. At year end, the Fund's instruments bore rates ranging from
2.38% to 5.38% with a weighted cost of capital of 3.75%.

.
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8. Advance by the Province of Manitoba
2010 2009

Business Loan Program (Note 10) $ 12,536,774 $ 11,261,380
Fisheries Loan Program (Note 10) 8,792,606 9,711,405
Building mortgage 979,759 1,000,000

$ 22,309,139 $ 21,972,785
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

The provision for fish loan losses recorded by the Fund exceeds the value derived by the net
present value formula as at March 31, 2010 by $301,970 (2009 - $374,081).

.

14

For the ear ended March 31, 2010

9. Allowance for Doubtful Loans

The change in the allowance is accounted for as follows:
2010 2009

Non-
Specific Specific Total Total

Business Loan Program
Balance, beginning of year$ 1,607,266 $ 443,715 $ 2,050,981 $ 2,019,245
Provision for the year 147,753 52,023 199,776 175,832

1,755,019 495,738 2,250,757 2,195,077
Loans written-off (83,278) - (83,278) (144,096)

Balance, end of year $ 1,671,741 $ 495,738 $ 2,167,479 $ 2,050,981

Fisheries Loan Program
Balance, beginning of year $ 3,131,327 $ 3,026,327
Provision for the year 287,500 105,000

3,418,827 3,131,327
Loans written-off (58,095)

Balance, end of year $ 3,360,732 $ 3,131,327

2010 2009

Loan Loss Provision
Per accounts $ 3,360,732 $ 3,131,327
Per net present value calculation (3,058,762) (2,757,246)

$ 301,970 $ 374,081
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

15

For the year ended March 31, 2010

10. Loan Programs

Business Loan Program

The Communities Economic Development Fund is included under the Province of Manitoba's
Loan Act Authority. Advances from the Province of Manitoba bear interest at rates established
by the Minister of Finance pursuant to "The Loan Act, 2009". The advances are repayable at
any time in whole or in part at the option of the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Advances from the Business Loans Program are accounted for as follows:

2010 2009

Advances, beginning of year $ 13,419,642 $ 12,887,269
Loan advances 3,207,171 2,590,197
Loan advance repayments (1,799,479) (1,950,543)
Loan write-offs (70,976) (107,281)

14,756,358 13,419,642

Unfunded allowance, beginning of year 2,158,262 2,181,847
Provision for doubtful loans 199,776 175,832
Write-offs (Order in Council approved) (138,454) (199,417)

2,219,584 2,158,262

Net balance, end of year (Note 8) $ 12,536,774 $ 11,261,380

Fisheries Loan Program

Advances to the Fisheries Loan Program are accounted for as follows:

2010 2009

Advances, beginning of year $ 12,842,716 $ 13,240,135
Loan advance repayments (631,299) (301,778)
Loan write-offs (39,232) (95,641 )

12,172,185 12,842,716

.
Unfunded allowance, beginning of year 3,131,311 3,121,952
Provision for doubtful loans 287,500 105,000
Write-offs (Order in Council approved) (39,232) (95,641)

3,379,579 3,131,311

Net balance, end of year (Note 8) $ 8,792,606 $ 9,711,405
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2010

11. Loan Act Authority

Amounts authorized for advances under "The Loan Act, 2009" are as follows:

2010

Per Schedule A of "The Loan Act, 2009"
Per Schedule B of "The Loan Act, 2008"

Unused Loan Act capital available

$ 9,225,000
6,450,012

15,675,012
6,800,000

$ 8,875,012

Direct loans

Authority used

12. Economic Dependence

The ongoing operations of the Communities Economic Development Fund depend on
obtaining adequate financing and funding. The Fund is dependent upon the Province of
Manitoba for funding of operations.

13. Capital Management

The Fund considers its capital to be comprised of advances from the Province of Manitoba.
There has been no change to what the Fund considers to be its capital since the prior period.

The Fund manages its capital to ensure it retains sufficient cash resources to enable it to carry
out its strategic plan. The Fund endeavours to manage its subsidy from the Province of
Manitoba within $1,500,000 on an annual basis.

14. Financial Instrument Risk Management and Exposures

There have been no substantive changes in the Fund's exposure to financial instrument risks,
its objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks or methods used to measure
them from previous periods.

The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Fund's risk management
objectives and policies and has identified significant exposure to credit risk.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss to the Fund if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations. The Fund has significant outstanding loans and is mainly exposed
to credit risk through the credit quality of the individuals and businesses to whom the Fund has
loaned funds.

.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31 J 2010

14. Financial Instrument Risk Management and Exposures (continued)

Credit risk rating systems are designed to assess and quantify the risk inherent in credit
activities in an accurate and consistent manner. To assess credit risk, the Fund takes into
consideration the individual's ability to pay, and value of collateral available to secure the loan.
The Fund's maximum exposure to credit risk, without taking into account any collateral or other
credit enhancements is $21,768,639 ($20,755,975 in 2009).

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the impact that changes in market interest rates will have on the operations
of the Fund. The Fund holds $22,455,803 ($21,269,270 in 2009) in interest bearing deposits
and loans receivable at March 31,2010. The Fund has mitigated this risk by adjusting interest
rates for fish loans on a quarterly basis and interest rates for business loans on a monthly
basis based on its weighted average cost of capital.

Fair Value
The carrying values of cash, trust deposits, amounts due from the Province of Manitoba,
advances, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities and interest
payable to the Province of Manitoba approximate their fair value due to the relatively short
periods to maturity of these items or because they are receivable or payable on demand.

The fair value of loans receivable are not practical to determine due to the limited amount of
comparable market information available and the uncertainty of the timing of cash flows of the
loans. The carrying value of the accrued pension liability approximates the fair value as an
annual calculation and update of the liability is done.

15. Comparative Figures

Comparative figures from the prior period have been reclassified to conform with the current
year's presentation.

.
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COMMUNITIES ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND
Schedule of Operating Expenditures

For the year ended March 31 2010 2009

-

18

Amortization of capital assets $ 66,299 $ 49,472
Building expenses 2,707 47,408
Collection costs 46,269 177,632
Communications 37,425 41,148
Credit reports 2,672 2,617
Directors' fees and expenses 59,321 60,023
Government vehicles 24,243 14,086
Insurance 4,659 4,529
Legal costs 40,070 151,563
MAFRI 97,834 58,336
Mortgage interest 52,060 41,856
NFDC - 51,556
Office supplies and expenses 43,591 29,389
Pension 195,733 184,262
Professional fees 25,564 72,125
Rent and utilities 28,171 68,276
Repairs and maintenance 25,174 4,529
Salaries and benefits 986,167 872,958
Sundry 18,216 22,321
TEAM 142 23,815
Travel 44,180 53,079

$ 1,800,497 $ 2,030,980
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The Co-operative Loans and Loans 
Guarantee Board 
203-280 Broadway 
Winnipeg MB  R3C 0R8 
 

 
 
August 26, 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 The Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board 
 
 Responsibility for Financial Reporting 
 
 

The accompanying Schedule of Loan Guarantee Transactions, and other financial information in the 

Annual Report for the year ended March 31, 2010, are the responsibility of management and have been 

approved by the Board.  This Schedule was prepared by management in accordance with the accounting 

policies set out in Note 2 to the Schedule.  Any financial information contained elsewhere in the Annual 

Report conforms to the Schedule of Loan Guarantees. 

 

As management is responsible for the integrity of the Schedule, management has established systems of 

internal control to provide reasonable assurance that assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded 

from loss. 

 

The responsibility of the Office of the Auditor General is to perform an independent examination of the 

Schedule of Loan Guarantee Transactions of the Board in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

auditing standards.  The Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the 

audit opinion. 

 

 

 

Original signed by  

 

Joy Cramer, 

Chairperson 
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The Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board 
   
  
Schedule of Loan Guarantee Transactions 
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
   
  
  
  
  

  

Loan Guarantees
at 

March 31, 2009 
$ 

 
Additions 

$ 
 

Cancellations 
$ 

  

Loans Guarantees 
at 

March 31, 2010 
$ 

  
Loan Guarantees: (Note 3)  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  
  

 
 

Organic Producer 
Association of Manitoba 
Co-op Inc.  97,750   97,750

  
Lakeview Consumer  

Cooperative Ltd. 

 
 

24,000   
 
    24,000

  
  24,000  97,750

 
 0 

 
 121,750

  
Approved by the Board: 
  
 Original signed by  
                                                         Chairperson 
  
  Original signed by 
                                                         Secretary 
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The Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board 
   
  
Notes to the Schedule 
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
   
  
1.   Nature of Operations 
  

The Co-operative Associations Loans and Loans Guarantee Act established the Board with the primary 
objective of ensuring that cooperative organizations have access to basic financial services.  The Board 
is empowered to make loans or guarantee loans to cooperative organizations in Manitoba.  Manitoba 
Housing and Community Development staff administer the activities of the Board.  The Department 
pays all administrative and general operating costs of the Board.  The Board may charge a fee for its 
loans and loan guarantees.  The Department records all revenue received. 

  
2.  Accounting Policies 
  

a) Loan guarantees are stated at the maximum amount guaranteed. 
 
b) In the event of a default on a loan guarantee, the Province of Manitoba is responsible for the payout 

of the guaranteed amount. 
  

3.   Loan Guarantees 
   

a) Organic Producer Association of Manitoba Co-op Inc. 
 On July 14, 2009, the Board approved a loan guarantee not to exceed 85% of the amount 

outstanding on a line of credit at any time.  The line of credit shall not exceed $115,000.  The 
Sunrise Credit Union accepted the loan guarantee and signed an agreement with Organic Producer 
Association of Manitoba Co-op Inc. dated December 7, 2009.  The maximum amount of the line of 
credit shall reduce by $15,000 on April 15, 2010, and by a further $40,000 on April 15, 2011.  The 
loan guarantee ceases April 1, 2012.  The actual amount of the line of credit at March 31, 2010 is 
$8,657. 

 
b) Lakeview Consumer Co-op Ltd. 

On December 19, 2006, the Board approved a $30,000 loan guarantee.  The Winnipeg River 
Brokenhead Community Futures Development Corporation accepted the loan guarantee and 
signed an agreement with Lakeview Consumer Co-op Ltd. dated March 5, 2007.  The loan 
guarantee shall reduce by $6,000 per year beginning on May 3, 2008. 
 
The Co-op ceased operation on September 12th, 2008 and the lender subsequently advised that the 
loan had not been repaid.  The amount to be paid out in respect of this guarantee is not 
determinable at this time.  The amount could be from $0 to $24,000 plus interest.   
 
During 2009/10 the Board made a proposal to the lender, but the terms have not yet been 
accepted. 
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The Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board 
   
  
Notes to the Schedule 
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
   
  
4.  Loan Act Authority 
  

The Government of the Province of Manitoba has authorized the following amounts to be expended for 
funding loans and loan guarantees: 
  

  
Authority 

  
Outstanding 

Expenditure Authority 

  
The Loan Act, 2009 
Guarantees $3,500,000 
Less:  Amounts committed by the Board 121,750 

  
  $3,378,250 

 
5.  Compensation Disclosure 
 

The Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act requires disclosure of the aggregate compensation 
paid to The Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board members and of individual compensation 
paid to board members or staff where such compensation exceeds $50,000 per year. For the period 
from April 1, 2009 to March 31, 2010, The Co-operative Loans and Loans Guarantee Board paid Board 
members an aggregate of $166 (2009 $0). This amount is included in Note 7. 

 
6.  Commitment 
 

On February 16, 2010, the Board approved a loan guarantee of up to 100% of the amount outstanding 
on a line of credit to a maximum of $45,000 subject to conditions.  These conditions were met 
subsequent to March 31, 2010 and therefore will be reflected as a loan guarantee transaction in the 
2010-11 fiscal year. 

 
7.  Contributed Services 
 

The Government of the Province of Manitoba provides the services of support staff, other 
administrative support services, office space and utilities.  The cost of support staff services for 2010 is 
estimated at $10,905 (2009 - $4,678) with another $16,080 (2009 - $2,107) for provincially paid 
identified expenses.  The costs of other administrative support services, office space and utilities are 
deemed too difficult to estimate and as such no amount has been determined. 
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The Cooperative Promotion Board 
203-280 Broadway 
Winnipeg MB  R3C 0R8 
 

 
 
July 8, 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 The Cooperative Promotion Board 
 
 Responsibility for Financial Reporting 
 
 

The accompanying financial statements and other financial information in the Annual Report for the year ended March 

31, 2010, are the responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board.  The financial statements 

were prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  Any financial 

information contained elsewhere in the Annual Report conforms to these financial statements. 

 

As management is responsible for the integrity of the financial statements, management has established systems of 

internal control to provide reasonable assurance that assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded from loss. 

 

The responsibility of the Office of the Auditor General is to perform an independent examination of the financial 

statements of the Board in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  The Auditors’ Report 

outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion. 

 

 

 

Original signed by  

 

Joy Goertzen 

Secretary of the Board 
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The Cooperative Promotion Board

Balance Sheet
as at March 31, 2010

2010 2009

General Account
Current Assets

Cash (Note 3) 115,549$   325,403$   
Accounts Receivable 2,650         508            
Prepaid Expenses 587            -            
Total Current Assets 118,786     325,911     

Investments (Note 4) 200,000     -            
Total General Account 318,786     325,911     

Commerical Fishing Account
Current Assets

Cash (Note 3) 72,654       72,285       
Total Current Assets 72,654       72,285       

Investments (Note 4) 533            523            
Total Commercial Fishing Account 73,187       72,808       

Total Assets 391,973$   398,719$  

Liabilities
Accounts Payable - General Account 3,500$       3,500$       

Fund Balances
General Account - Contributed Capital 128,800     128,800     
General Account 186,486     193,611     
Commerical Fishing Account (Note 5) 73,187       72,808       

388,473     395,219     
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 391,973$   398,719$  

Approved on behalf of the Board

Original signed by Secretary

Original signed by Member

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
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The Cooperative Promotion Board

General Account
Statement of Revenue and Expense and Fund Balance
for the year ended March 31, 2010

2010 2009

Revenue

Interest 4,558$       8,076$       
22,741       27,389       

Total Revenue 27,299       35,465       

Expense

Grants (Schedule 1) 9,900         21,975       

General and Administrative

Annual Report 439            212            
Board Members' Remuneration 495            1,100         
Board Members' Meals and Travel 640            948            
Membership Fee 824            800            
Miscellaneous 143            61              
Professional Fees 3,492         2,789         
Administrative Expenses (Note 2e) 18,491       22,390       

Total General and Administrative 24,524       28,300       
Total Expense 34,424       50,275       

Excess of Expense over Revenue (7,125)       (14,810)     

Fund Balance, beginning of year 193,611     208,421     

Fund Balance, end of year 186,486$  193,611$  

Administrative expenses paid for by the Province of Manitoba (Note 2e)
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The Cooperative Promotion Board

Commerical Fishing Account
Statement of Revenue and Expense and Fund Balance
for the year ended March 31, 2010

2010 2009

Revenue

Interest 369$          1,345$       
Dividend 10              15              

Total Revenue 379            1,360         

Expense

Grants -             -             
Total Expense -             -             

Excess of Revenue (under) over Expense 379            1,360         

Fund Balance, beginning of year 72,808       71,448       

Fund Balance, end of year 73,187$     72,808$    
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The Cooperative Promotion Board

Statement of Cash Flow
for the year ended March 31, 2010

General 
Account

Commercial 
Fishing 
Account 2010 2009

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expense (7,125)$         379$               $         (6,746) $       (13,450)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Changes in working capital balances

(Increase)/Decrease in Accounts Receivable (2,142)                       (2,142)                   -   
(Increase)/Decrease in Prepaid Expenses (587)                             (587)                   -   
(Decrease)/Increase in Accounts Payable -                                   -              (5,911)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of GIC (200,000)               (200,000)                   -   
Dividend from ACU Shares (10)                                 (10)                 (15)

Increase/(Decrease) in Cash (209,854)       369                (209,485)       (19,376)         

Cash Balance at Beginning of the Year 325,403         72,285           397,688         417,064         

Cash Balance at End of the Year 115,549$      72,654$        188,203$       397,688$      

Supplementary Information:

Interest received 2,366$          369$             2,735$           9,421$          
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The Cooperative Promotion Board 
   
  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended March 31, 2010 
   
  
1.   Nature and Objectives of the Board 
  

The Cooperative Promotion Board (the Board) operates under the terms of The Cooperative Promotion Trust Act 
(The Act), which came into force on December 20, 1988.  The Board is a continuation of the Board established 
under The Wheat Board Money Trust Act.  The Wheat Board Money Trust Act was repealed when the 
Cooperative Promotion Trust Act came into force.  The Department of Housing and Community Development 
administers the activities of the Board. 
 
General Account 
 
The General Account funds controlled by the Board consist of surplus funds of the original Canadian Wheat 
Board, apportioned to Manitoba by the Government of Canada (recorded as Contributed Capital), assets vested 
in the Board when The Cooperative Promotion Trust Act came into force, and assets acquired by the Board. 
 
The objectives of the Board with regard to the General Account are to assist in the development of cooperative 
organizations, to promote the general welfare of cooperative organizations and rural residents in Manitoba and to 
make recommendations to the Minister responsible with respect to cooperative organizations and related 
legislation. 
 
Commercial Fishing Account 
 
The Commercial Fishing Account consists of funds donated by Northern Cooperative Services Ltd.  As a 
condition of the donation, these funds are to be used exclusively for the promotion and development of 
commercial fishing in Manitoba 

  
2.  Accounting Policies 
  

a) General 
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP). 
 

b) New Accounting Policies  
Effective April 1, 2009 the Board adopted the following new accounting standards issued by the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA): 
 
Not-For-Profit Organizations 
The CICA amended a number of standards applicable to not-for-profit organizations (NFPOs) and issued new 
standard, CICA 4470 Disclosures of Allocated Expenses by Not-for-Profit Organizations. 
 
CICA 4400 Financial Statement Presentation by Not-For-Profit Organizations was amended to: 
 Clarify that revenues and expenses must be recognized and presented on a gross basis when a not-for-

profit organization is acting as a principal in transactions; and 
 Make Section 1540 Cash Flow Statements applicable to NFPOs 

 
Section 4430 Capital Assets Held by Not-For-Profit Organizations was amended to provide additional 
guidance with respect to the appropriate use of the scope exemption for smaller entities. 
 
Section 4460 Disclosure of Related Party Transactions by Not-For-Profit Organizations was amended to 
make the language in Section 4460 consistent with Section 3840 Related party Transactions. 
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The Cooperative Promotion Board 
   
  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended March 31, 2010 
  

 
New Section CICA 4470 Disclosure of Allocated Expenses by Not-For-Profit Organizations establishes 
disclosure standards for not-for-profit organizations that choose to classify their expenses by function and 
allocate expenses from one function to another. 

 
The adoption of these new requirements had no material impact on the Board’s financial statements for the 
year ended March 31, 2010, except that a cash flow statement and a related party transactions note are now 
disclosed. 

  
Section 1000 Financial Statement Concepts  
This section has been amended to focus on the capitalization of costs that truly meet the definition of an asset 
and de-emphasizes the matching principle. 

 
The revised requirements were effective for annual and interim financial statements relating to fiscal years 
beginning on or after October 1, 2008.  The adoption of this standard had no effect on the Board’s financial 
statements for the year ended March 31, 2010. 

 
c) Financial Instruments  

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value.  Measurement in subsequent periods 
depends on the financial instrument’s classification.  The Board is required to designate its financial 
instruments into one of the following five categories:  held for trading; available for sales; held to maturity; 
loans and receivables; and other financial liabilities.  All financial instruments classified as held for trading or 
available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value with any change in fair value recorded in net 
earnings and fund balance, respectively.  All other financial instruments are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost. 
 
The financial instruments of the Board consist of cash, accounts receivable, investments and accounts 
payable. 
 
The Board has designated its financial instruments as follows: 
 
Cash is classified as financial assets held for trading and is measured at fair value with gains and losses 
recognized in net earnings.  Due to the redeemable nature of this financial asset, carrying value is considered 
to be fair value. 
 
Investments held in the General Account are classified as financial assets held to maturity and are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  At March 31, 2010, the current prevailing interest 
rates for similar investments were the same as on the purchase date, therefore, the carrying value 
approximates fair value. 
 
Investments held in the Commercial Fishing Account are classified as financial assets held for trading and are 
measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in net earnings.  Due to the lack of an active market, 
cost is considered to be fair value. 
 
Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables.  These financial assets are recorded at their 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Accounts payable are classified as other financial liabilities.  These financial liabilities are recorded at their 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
 
It is management’s opinion that the Board is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risk arising 
from these financial instruments. 
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The Cooperative Promotion Board 
   
  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended March 31, 2010 
   

 
The fair value of accounts receivable and accounts payable approximates their carrying values due to their 
short-term nature. 
 
The Board continues to apply Section 3861 Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation. 

 
d) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results 
could differ from these estimates. 
 

e) Revenue Recognition 
Interest Revenue – Interest revenue earned from cash balances on hand and the Guaranteed Investment 
Certificate (GIC) are recorded on an accrual basis. 
 
Administrative Expenses Paid for by the Province of Manitoba – The Province of Manitoba provides the 
services of support staff, other administrative support services, office space and utilities.  The cost of support 
staff for 2010 is estimated at $18,491 (2009-$22,390) with another $4,250 (2009-$4,999) for provincially paid 
identified expenses.  The costs of other administrative support services, office space and utilities are deemed 
too difficult to estimate and as such no amount has been determined. 

 
f)  Related Party Transactions 

The Board is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created Departments, 
Agencies, Boards and Crown Corporations.  The Board enters into transactions with these entities in the 
normal course of operations and they are measured at the exchange rate amount agreed to by the related 
parties. 

 
3.   Cash 
   

General Account 
 
The cash balance for the General Account includes $103,540 (2009-$321,174) held in a high yield savings 
account at Assiniboine Credit Union at a fixed rate of 0.80% effective March 31, 2010.  Interest is paid monthly. 
 
Commercial Fishing Account 
 
The cash balance for the Commercial Fishing Account is held in a high yield savings account at Assiniboine 
Credit Union at a fixed rate of 0.50% effective March 31, 2010.  Interest is paid monthly. 
 

4.   Investments 
 

General Account 
 
On October 5, 2009 a 24 month non-cashable Guaranteed Investment Certificate (GIC) was purchased in the 
amount of $200,000 (2009-$0) held at Assiniboine Credit Union earning interest at a fixed rate of 2.25% 
compounded daily.  Interest is paid yearly upon the October anniversary date.  

 
Commercial Fishing Account     2010   2009 

  
Assiniboine Credit Union – Surplus Shares    $533   $523 
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The Cooperative Promotion Board 
   
  
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended March 31, 2010 
   
 
 
5. Commercial Fishing Account 
 

During 1993 and 1994, Northern Cooperative Services, Ltd. donated $41,724 to the Board subject to the 
condition that these funds are to be used exclusively for the promotion and development of commercial fishing in 
Manitoba.  These funds have earned interest and the balance available at March 31, 2010 is $73,187 (2009 
$72,808). 

 
6. Compensation Disclosure 
 

The Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act requires disclosure of the aggregate compensation paid to the 
Cooperative Promotion Board members and of individual compensation paid to board members or staff where 
such compensation exceeds $50,000 per year.  For the period of April 1, 2009 to March 31, 2010, the 
Cooperative Promotion Board paid Board members an aggregate of $495.  No individuals received compensation 
greater than $50,000. 

 
7. Commitments 
 

As of March 31, 2010, the Board has approved grants in the amount of $31,825, for which the grant applicants 
had not yet met the payment conditions.  If the payment conditions relating to these grants are met in the future, 
the commitments will be funded by the General Account. 

 
8. Capital Disclosures 
 

The Board’s objective when managing its capital is to maintain sufficient capital to cover its costs of operations.  
The Board’s capital consists of Contributed Capital, the General Account Fund Balance as well as the 
Commercial Fishing Account Fund Balance. 
 
The Board meets its capital objectives through interest revenue earned. 
 
The Board is subject to externally imposed capital requirements as imposed by Section 4(6) of The Act.  This 
Section requires that the Board maintain a minimum realizable value of $129,000, essentially the amount of the 
Contributed Capital.  The Board complied with the externally imposed capital requirements during the year. 

 
9. Comparative Figures 
 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation. 
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The Cooperative Promotion Board Schedule 1

Schedule of Grants
for the year ended March 31, 2010

2010 2009
General Account

CCA & CCCM 2008 Congress -$        2,966$        
Co-op Ventures Worker Co-op 3,000      -              
CWCF 2008 Conference -          3,570          
Devco Training (June Session) -          2,782          
Direct Farm Marketing/Prairie Fruit Growers Ass. (PFGA) -          1,201          
Elton Energy Co-op -          1,242          
Farmers' Markets Association of Manitoba 3,400      -              
Manitoba Cooperative Association Inc 3,000      6,000          
MOMA Trade -          2,500          
Western Feed Grain Development Co-op 500         1,714          

Total of Grants 9,900$   21,975$     
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION 
 
 

Responsibility for Financial Statements 
 

 
 
The management of the Council on Post-Secondary Education is responsible for the 
financial reporting process that produces the financial statements and accompanying 
notes. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles. 
 
The Council is responsible for overseeing management’s performance of its financial 
reporting responsibilities. The statements are audited by the Auditor General of Manitoba, 
whose opinion is included herein. 
 
In order to fulfill this responsibility, management maintains systems of internal control 
over the financial reporting process designed to provide assurance that relevant and 
reliable financial information is produced. 
 
 
 
“Original signed by      “Original signed by 
Carlos Matias”       Sid Rogers” 
_____________________      ___________________     
Carlos Matias, CGA       Sid Rogers   
A/Chief Financial Officer      Secretary  
 
 
 
 
July 2, 2010 
Winnipeg, Manitoba 
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Auditors’ Report 

 
 
To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba, and  
To The Council on Post-Secondary Education 
 
We have audited the statement of financial position of The Council on Post-Secondary 
Education as at March 31, 2010, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets 
and cash flows for the year then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility 
of the Council’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of The Council on Post-Secondary Education as at March 31, 2010, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
 
“Original signed by Office  
of the Auditor General” 
___________________________________ 
 
 
July 2, 2010 
Winnipeg, Manitoba  
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION   
   
Statement of Financial Position     
As at March 31, 2010     
     
  2010  2009 

ASSETS     
Current Assets:     
     Cash    $     633,473    $     264,343  
     Accounts receivable, Province of Manitoba  2,009,348   1,265,915  
     Prepaid Expenses  63,500  - 
   2,706,321   1,530,258 
     
Long-term Receivable: 
     Province of Manitoba (Note 4) 

  
 1,235,663  

  
 1,169,701  

     
Capital Assets (Note 6)  46,278   34,389  
     
Total Assets   $  3,988,262    $  2,734,348  
     

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS     
     
Current Liabilities:     
     Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   $    143,727   $    106,638 
     Grants payable  2,293,629  1,165,000 
  2,437,356   1,271,638  
     
Long-term Liabilities:     
     Provision for employees’ severance benefits (Note 7)  131,662    118,375  
     Provision for employer's share of employees' 
          pension benefits (Note 8) 

   
1,131,522  

   
1,065,560  

   1,263,184   1,183,935 
     
Total Liabilities   3,700,540    2,455,573  
     
Net Assets      
     Investment in Capital Assets  46,278  34,389 
     Unrestricted Net Assets  241,444  244,386 
  287,722  278,775 
  $  3,988,262  $  2,734,348 
     
Contractual Obligations (Note 9)     
     
Approved on Behalf of the Council     
___________________________”Signed by Sid Rogers”      
___________________________”Signed by James Allum”     
THE COUNCIL ON POST- SECONDARY EDUCATION  
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Statement of Operations   
For the year ended March 31, 2010      
     
      
   

 
2010 

 
 

 
2009 

Revenues:      
     Province of Manitoba grants:      
          Department of Advanced Education 
            and Literacy 
          Other 

   
$  542,361,777 

1,424,700 

  
$  507,480,744 

1,541,900 

     Interest   -   16,375 
           

Total Revenues    543,786,477     509,039,019  
      
Expenses:      
     Operating grants   480,129,901    434,592,584  
     Support programs   1,556,380    1,473,765  
     College Expansion Initiative grants   32,930,947    31,277,827  
     Post Secondary Strategic grants   895,613    1,110,800  
     Equipment and Renovations grants   6,733,600   7,986,600  
     Major Capital grants   5,174,588    5,084,000  
     Access grants   9,077,400    8,582,800  
     Tuition Rebate grants   -    12,975,991  
     Inter-Provincial Training Agreement   4,943,741    4,501,451  
     Administrative and Other, Schedule 1   2,335,360    1,434,651  
      
Total Expenses    543,777,530     509,020,469  
 
Excess of Revenues over Expenses 

   
 $      8,947  

  
 $      18,550  
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
                        
Statement of Changes in Net Assets    
For the year ended March 31, 2010      
     
      
  2010   2009 
 Investment 

in Capital 
Assets 

 
Unrestricted 
Net Assets 

 
 

Total 

  
 

Total 
     

Balance, Beginning of Year $ 34,389 $ 244,386     $278,775     $260,225  
      
Excess of Revenues over Expenses -    8,947     8,947      18,550 
Inter-fund Transfers 
   Capital Purchases       

 
45,286 

 
(45,286) 

-  - 

   Amortization  (33,397)    33,397  -      -    
 
Balance, End of Year 

 
 $46,278   

  
$241,444   

 
$287,722  

   
$278,775 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
_______________________________________________ 

 
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended March 31, 2010 
_______________________________________________      
 
    
    2010   2009  
 
 
Cash Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities: 
 Excess of Revenues over Expenses  $ 8,947  $  18,550 
 Amortization  33,397  10,113 
    42,344   28,663 
 
Net Change in Non-Cash Working Capital Items: 
 (Increase) in prepaid expenses  (63,500)                  -         
  (Increase) in accounts receivable  (743,433)  (519,807) 
 Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable and 
  accrued liabilities    37,089  (121,823) 
 Increase in grants payable  1,128,629  550,092 
 
     401,129   (62,875) 
 
 
Cash Provided by (Used In) Financing Activities: 
 (Increase) Decrease in long-term  
  receivable – Province of Manitoba  (65,962)  73,233 
 Increase in provision for employees’ 
  severance benefits   13,287  11,836 
 Increase (Decrease) in provision for employer’s  
  share of employees’ pension benefits  65,962  (73,233) 
 
    13,287  11,836 
Cash Used In Investing Activities: 
 Purchase of capital assets  (45,286)  (20,035) 
 
(Decrease) Increase in Cash for the Year   369,130    (71,074) 
 
Cash, beginning of year  264,343  335,417 
 
Cash, end of year      $   633,473 $         264,343 
 
 
Supplementary Financial Information 

   2010 2009 
 
Interest Received    - $16,375  
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Schedule 1 
 
 
THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
                             
Schedule of Administrative and Other Expenses     
For the year ended March 31, 2010      
     
      
   

2010 

 
 

2009 
      
Amortization   $      33,397   $      10,113  
Automobile and traveling   39,268  56,161 
Capital Review   -  66,204 
Commission on Tuition   -  62,900 
Communication data strategy   -  71,962 
Computer operating and lease costs   44,475   43,568  
Course and membership fees   21,122  12,076 
Furniture and equipment    -    3,981  
Graduate Survey   100,000  - 
Labour Market Bridge Programs   676,543  - 
Meetings-Council   4,783   4,273  
Miscellaneous grants   4,300   4,700  
Office rental    62,524    53,731  
Postage and telephone   12,991  14,594 
Printing and stationery supplies   30,859  21,049 
Professional fees   111,851  33,371 
Remuneration for Council members   42,916  41,132 
Salaries and employee benefits   1,021,383  851,155 
Subscriptions and books   3,003  1,498 
Sundry   125,945  82,183 

     
Total administrative and other expenses    $  2,335,360    $  1,434,651  

 
 
 

Page 191



The Council on Post-Secondary Education – Annual Report 2009 - 2010  Page 17
  

THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
_____________________________________________ 

 
Notes to Financial Statements   
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
_____________________________________________ 
 
1. Nature of Operations  
 

The Council on Post-Secondary Education (COPSE) was established by an Act of the Legislature 
passed in 1997 and is composed of 11 members appointed by the Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council. 
 

 The Universities Grants Commission Act was repealed effective April 28, 1997 by the Council on Post-
Secondary Education Act. 
 

 The Council on Post-Secondary Education Act provided that the University Grants Fund be continued 
as the Post-Secondary Grants Fund.  All assets and liabilities of the Universities Grants Commission 
were transferred to the Council on Post-Secondary Education. 
 

 Primarily, the Council on Post-Secondary Education provides funding to Manitoba’s universities and 
community colleges for approved programs and capital projects from funds received from the Province 
of Manitoba. 
 
On April 11, 2006, Treasury Board authorized the reorganization of the Council on Post-Secondary 
Education Secretariat.  This included the integration of the College Expansion Initiative into the Council 
on Post-Secondary Education Secretariat. 
 

2.    Significant Accounting Policies 
 

A. Basis of Accounting 
 
 The Council on Post-Secondary Education’s annual financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles using accounting standards 
for not-for-profit organizations. 
 

B. Grant Payments 
 

Operating, support program, college expansion initiative, tuition rebate, access, and strategic 
initiatives grants reflect payments to Manitoba universities and community colleges for their annual 
operations. These grants are funded on the basis of scheduled payments to meet the operating 
requirements of the universities and community colleges. Operating grants are also provided to 
private religious colleges and to the Winnipeg Technical College.  
 
Major capital grants based on shared cost agreements are funded on a reimbursement basis. The 
university must first incur eligible costs as defined in the terms of the agreement, which the Council 
then reimburses. 
 
Major capital grants to universities that are discretionary grants are funded when the university has 
met the eligibility criteria and fulfilled the conditions set out by the Council. 
 
Equipment and renovation grants are provided to Manitoba universities and community colleges 
based on the cash flow requirements of those institutions. 
 

C. Revenue Recognition 
 
 Revenue is recognized as funds are drawn from Province of Manitoba appropriations. 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
_____________________________________________ 

 
Notes to Financial Statements   
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
_____________________________________________ 

 
D. Vacation and Severance Benefits 

 
Employees of the Council are entitled to vacation and severance benefits in accordance with the 
terms of the collective agreement. The liability for vacation is recorded based on the Council’s best 
estimates.  The liability for severance benefits is based on an actuarial valuation using the accrued 
benefit cost method and management’s best estimates of salary escalation, retirement ages of 
employees and employee mortality.  Actuarial gains or losses are recognized in the year they are 
incurred. 

 
E. Employer’s Share of Employees’ Pension Benefits 

 
Employees of the Council are pensionable under the Civil Service Superannuation Act. The 
Council accrues a provision for the liability for the employer’s share of employee pension benefits, 
including future cost of living adjustments, based on an actuarial valuation using the accrued 
benefit cost method and management’s best estimates of salary escalation, retirement ages of 
employees and employee mortality.  Actuarial gains or losses are recognized in the year they are 
incurred. 

 
F. Capital Assets 
 

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over the 
assets’ estimated useful lives, in accordance with the Province of Manitoba guidelines, as follows: 

 
 Furniture  10 years 
 Leasehold Improvements  10 years 
 Machinery and Equipment 10 years 
 Computer Equipment      4 years 

 
G. Measurement Uncertainty 
 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingencies at the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. 
Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 

H. Financial Instruments 
 

Initially, all financial assets and liabilities must be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value.  
Subsequent measurement is determined by the initial classification of each financial asset and 
liability.  All financial instruments are classified as one of:  (a) held-for-trading; (b) loans and 
receivables; (c) held-to-maturity; (d) available-for-sale or (e) other liabilities. Financial assets and 
liabilities classified as held-for-trading are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized 
in net income (loss).  Financial instruments classified as held-to-maturity, loans and receivables 
and other liabilities are measured at amortized cost.  Available-for-sale financial instruments are 
measured at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recognized directly in net assets. 
 
The Council on Post-Secondary Education’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts 
receivable, long-term receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and grants payable. The 
Council has designated cash as held-for-trading, accounts receivable and long-term receivable as 
loans and receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and grants payable as other 
liabilities.  
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
_________________________________________ 

 
Notes to Financial Statements   
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
_________________________________________ 

 
3. Change in Accounting Policies 

 
The Council adopted the changes to CICA Handbook section 4400. The primary impact is the 
applicability of section 1540 “Cash Flow Statements”.  Adoption of this change has resulted in 
additional disclosure on the cash flow statement showing supplementary financial information. 
 

 
4. Long-term Receivable – Province of Manitoba 

 
The long term receivable from the Province of Manitoba represents the following recoverable amounts. 

 
 2010  2009 
      
Severance Pay  $ 104,141  $ 104,141 
      
Pension  1,131,522   1,065,560 
      
 $ 1,235,663  $ 1,169,701 

 
The amount recorded as a receivable from the Province for funding of the severance pay liability was 
initially based on the estimated value of the corresponding actuarially determined liability for severance 
pay as at March 31, 1998.  Subsequent to March 31, 1998, the Province provides annual grant funding 
for severance expense.  As a result, the change in the severance pay liability each year is fully funded.  
The interest component related to the receivable is reflected in the funding for severance expense.  
The receivable for severance pay will be paid by the Province when it is determined that the cash is 
required to discharge the related severance pay liabilities.  
 
The Province has accepted responsibility for providing the funding for the Council’s pension liability and 
related expense which includes an interest component.  The Council has therefore recorded a 
receivable from the Province equal to the estimated value of its actuarially determined pension liability 
of $1,131,522 (2009 - $1,065,560) and has recorded revenue (expense) for the year ended March 31, 
2010 equal to its pension expense of $122,816 (2009  -$16,474).  The Province will make payments on 
the receivable when it is determined that the cash is required to discharge the related pension 
obligations. 

 
 
5. Financial Instruments 

 
Disclosure and Presentation of Financial Instruments 
 
The Council continues to apply Section 3861 Financial Instruments - Disclosure and Presentation in 
place of Sections 3862 and 3863.  
 
Fair Value 
The fair values of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their 
respective carrying values due to their short-term maturities.  The fair value of the long-term receivable 
approximates its carrying value because the annual interest accretion is funded.   
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
_____________________________________________ 

 
Notes to Financial Statements   
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
_____________________________________________ 

 
Risk Management  
 
Interest Rate and Foreign Currency Risk  
 
The Council’s exposure to interest rate risk is considered low because of the short-term nature of its 
cash and accounts receivable.  The majority of the balance of the long-term receivable is not subject to 
interest rate risk because it is derived from the provision for employer’s share of employees’ pension 
benefits. 
 
The Council is not exposed to foreign currency risk as it has no foreign currency denominated financial 
instruments.  

 
Credit Risk  
 
Credit risk is the risk of potential loss to the Council if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
discharge an obligation.  The Council’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash, accounts 
receivable and long-term receivable.  The credit risk on cash is considered low as the counterparty is a 
high credit quality institution.  The credit risk on accounts receivables and the long-term receivable is 
considered low because the counterparty is the Province of Manitoba. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit risk exposure.  The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at March 31 was: 

 
 
 

 Carrying Amount 

 2010  2009 

Financial Assets Held-For-Trading:    

          Cash  $633,473  $264,343 

    

    

Loans and Receivables:    

          Accounts Receivable 2,009,348  1,265,915 

          Long-term Receivable – Province of Manitoba 1,235,663  1,169,701 

 $3,878,484  $2,699,959 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
_____________________________________________ 

 
Notes to Financial Statements   
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
_____________________________________________ 
 
6. Capital Assets 
 

              2010     
      Accumulated      Net Book 
     Cost   Amortization  Value  
 
Furniture   $ 64,482 $ 49,165 $ 15,317  
Leasehold Improvements    30,950  1,548  29,402  
Office Equipment    10,685  10,198  487  
Computer Equipment    25,422  24,350  1,072  
 
    $ 131,539 $ 85,261 $ 46,278  

 
 
              2009     

      Accumulated      Net Book 
     Cost   Amortization  Value  
 
Furniture   $ 60,157 $ 56,287 $ 3,870  
Leasehold Improvements    42,760  17,539  25,221  
Computer Software    5,590  3,494  2,096  
Office Equipment    10,685  10,057  628  
Computer Equipment    25,422  22,848  2,574  
 
    $ 144,614 $ 110,225 $ 34,389 
 

 
7. Severance Benefits 
  
 Provision for Employees’ Severance Benefits 

               2010             2009  
 
Balance at beginning of year $ 118,375 $ 106,539 

  Benefits accrued  5,001  4,378 
  Interest accrued on obligations  8,286  7,458 
  Benefits paid  -  - 
   
  Balance at end of year $ 131,662 $ 118,375 

 
 
Severance Benefit Expense  
               2010             2009  
 
Current service costs $ 5,001 $ 4,378 

  Interest costs  8,286  7,458 
  
Total   $ 13,287 $ 11,836 

 
An actuarial valuation of the severance obligations as at March 31, 2005 was conducted by Ellement & 
Ellement Ltd., Consulting Actuaries. The key actuarial assumptions used in that valuation were a rate of 
return of 6.5%, inflation rate of 2.5% and salary rate increases of 3.25%. The liability has been extrapolated 
to March 31, 2010 using a formula provided by the actuary. 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
_____________________________________________ 

 
Notes to Financial Statements   
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
_____________________________________________ 

 
8. Pension Benefits  
 
      Provision for Employer’s Share of Employees’ Pension Benefits 

 
               2010             2009  
 
Balance at beginning of year $ 1,065,560 $ 1,138,793 

  Actuarial (gain)  -  (128,733) 
  Benefits accrued  47,371  41,069 
  Interest accrued on obligations  75,445  71,190 
  Benefits paid  (56,854)  (56,759) 
 
  Balance at end of year $ 1,131,522 $ 1,065,560 

 
 
Net Pension Benefit Expense (Recovery)  
               2010             2009  
 
Current service costs, net of employee contributions $ 47,371 $ 41,069 

  Interest costs  75,445  71,190 
  Amortization of actuarial gain  -  (128,733) 
 

  
Net Pension Benefit Expense (Recovery)  $ 122,816 $ (16,474) 
 
An actuarial valuation of the pension obligations as at December 31, 2007 was conducted by Ellement 
& Ellement Ltd., Consulting Actuaries. The key actuarial assumptions used in that valuation were a rate 
of return of 6.5%, inflation rate of 2.5%, salary rate increases of 3.25% and post retirement indexing at 
2/3 of the inflation rate. The liability has been extrapolated to March 31, 2010 using a formula provided 
by the actuary. 

 
9. Contractual Obligations  
 

The Council on Post-Secondary Education has approved funding of $1,025,200 for various new 
programs and system restructuring which will be provided over fiscal years 2010/11 to 2013/14.  

 
 
10. Related Party Transactions 
 

In addition to those related party transactions disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the 
Council on Post-Secondary Education is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of 
Manitoba created departments, agencies and Crown corporations. The Council on Post-Secondary 
Education enters into transactions with these entities in the normal course of business.  These 
transactions are recorded at the exchange amount. 
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THE COUNCIL ON POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION  
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Notes to Financial Statements   
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
_____________________________________________ 
 
11. Capital Disclosures 
 

The Council’s capital is comprised of its net assets, which include Unrestricted Net Assets and 
Investment in Capital Assets.  The Council manages its capital through an approved operating budget. 
The Council has been successful in achieving a balanced budget by restricting spending to within the 
funded amounts.  The Council is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
The Council’s Statement of Changes in Net Assets sets out the balances in Unrestricted Net Assets 
and the Investment in Capital Assets at the beginning and end of the year.  The capital management 
strategy did not change during the year. 

 
12. Economic Dependence 

 
The Council is economically dependent on funding received from the Province of Manitoba. 
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AUDITORS’  REPORT 

    
 
 
 

 

To the Members of 
CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL 

We have audited the balance sheet of CROWN CORPORATIONS COUNCIL as at December 31, 
2009 and the statement of income and reserve reflecting net investment in capital assets for the year 
then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the organization's management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the organization as at December 31, 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

 

Chartered Accountants 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
Winnipeg, Manitoba 
February 18, 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, 
and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. 
 
BDO Canada s.r.l., une société canadienne à responsabilité limitée, est membre de BDO International Limited, société de droit anglais, et 
fait partie du réseau international de sociétés membres indépendantes BDO. 
 

Tel/Tél.:  204 956 7200 
Fax/Téléc.:  204 926 7201 
Toll-free/Sans frais:  800 268 3337 
www.bdo.ca 

BDO Canada LLP/s.r.l. 
700 - 200 Graham Avenue 
Winnipeg MB  R3C 4L5  Canada  
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

BALANCE SHEET    
 December 31 
 2009  2008 
ASSETS (thousands of dollars)  
    
Current:    
    
Cash  $   637    $   608  
Accounts receivable           5             6  

       642        614  

    
Capital assets (note 4)          -              -    

  $   642   $   614  
    

LIABILITIES AND RESERVE REFLECTING    
NET INVESTMENT IN CAPITAL ASSETS    
Current:    
    
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $     78   $   146  
Levies received in advance       152        112  
Due to Manitoba Crown Corporations (note 3)       258        141  

       488         399  
    
Retirement allowances and other benefits payable 154        215  

(notes 2 (e) and 5)    
       642        614  
Reserve reflecting net investment in capital assets            -              -  
    

  $   642    $   614  

 
 

(see accompanying notes) 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND RESERVE    

REFLECTING NET INVESTMENT IN CAPITAL ASSETS 
 December 31 
 2009  2008 
 (thousands of dollars)  
Income    
     Recoveries from corporations through levies  $   760   $   721  
     Interest           1             8  

       761         729  
    
Expenses    
  Salaries and benefits (notes 2(e) and 5)       504        529  
  Board remuneration and expenses         88           78  
  Rent         78           78  
  Professional fees         48          10  
  Professional development          10            2 
  Automobile Expense           8            8 
  Office supplies and printing           8            7 
  Communications           7            7 
  Equipment rental and maintenance           4            4 
  Travel           4            1 
  Insurance and miscellaneous           2            2 
  Depreciation           -            1 
  Industry conferences           -            3 
       761  730 
Excess (deficit) of income over expenses         -          (1) 
    
Reserve reflecting net investment in capital assets,    
     beginning of year           -             1  
    
Reserve reflecting net investment in capital assets,    

     end of year  $        -    $        -  
 

(see accompanying notes) 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31 ,  2009   

1. Nature of organization 

The Crown Corporations Council (the “Council”) is a body corporate established on 
June 5, 1989 under the Crown Corporations Public Review and Accountability Act. 
 
The mandate of the Council is to facilitate clear mandates, development of performance 
measures and consistent practices and to review corporate plans of Crown corporations under 
its purview. 

 

2. Significant accounting policies 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles.  Outlined below are those principles considered particularly significant 
for the Council. 
a) Financial Instruments 

The Council utilizes various financial instruments.  Unless otherwise noted, it is 
management's opinion that the organization is not exposed to significant interest, 
currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments and the carrying amounts 
approximate fair values. 
 
All transactions related to financial instruments are recorded on a trade date basis. 
 
The Council classifies its financial instruments as follows based on the purpose for which 
the asset was acquired and follows the disclosed accounting policy for each category. 
 
Assets/Liability        Category       Measurement 
Cash       Held for trading       Fair value 
Accounts receivable       Loans and receivables       Amortized cost 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities       Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 
Due to Manitoba Crown Corporations         Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 
 

 Held for trading items are carried at fair value, with changes in their fair value 
recognized in the statement of operations. 

 Other financial liabilities are carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest 
method. 

 Loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate 
method, less any provision for impairment. 

 
Transition costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

b) Recoveries of expenses from Crown corporations 

 Operating expenses are recovered from the Crown corporations through the assessment 
of levies allocated on a pro rata basis determined by the revenues of each Crown 
corporation.  The levies are recognized in these financial statements at the time the related 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31 ,  2009   

costs are incurred.  In addition, certain direct costs incurred on behalf of particular 
corporations are recovered directly from the respective Crown corporations. 

c) Reserve reflecting the net investment in capital assets 

The purchase of capital assets is funded through operating expense levies assessed to 
Crown corporations.  The reserve reflects levies assessed to the Crown corporations with 
respect to the Council’s capital assets. 

 

d)    Capital Assets 

Capital assets are recorded at cost.  Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis over 
five years on the office furniture and equipment and over three years on the computer 
equipment. 

 

e) Retirement allowances and other employee future benefits 

The Council provides retirement allowance and pension benefits to its employees.   
 
Retirement allowances are provided to certain qualifying employees.  The benefits are 
provided under a final pay plan.  The costs of benefits earned by employees are charged 
to expenses as services are rendered.  The costs are actuarially determined using the 
projected benefit method and reflect management’s best estimates of the length of 
service, salary increases and ages at which employees will retire.  In addition, adjustments 
arising from plan amendment, changes in assumptions, and the actuarial present value of 
the accrued entitlement as at January 1, 2000 are being amortized to expenses on a 
straight line basis over the expected average remaining service life of the employee group. 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in income immediately. 

 
Employees of the Council are provided pension benefits by the Civil Service 
Superannuation Fund (“the Fund”).  Under paragraph 6 of the Civil Service 
Superannuation Act, the Council is described as a “matching employer” and its contribution 
toward the pension benefits is limited to matching the employees’ contributions to the 
Fund.  The cost for the year was $23,800 (2008 - $23,100). 
 
In addition, one employee is entitled to enhanced pension benefits.  The plan is based on 
final pay and is indexed.  The cost of the benefits earned by the employee is charged to 
expenses as services are rendered.  The cost is actuarially determined using the projected 
benefit method and reflects management’s best estimate of salary increases and the age at 
which the employee will retire.   

 

f) Use of estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts 
reported in the financial statements.  Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.   
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31 ,  2009   

g) New Accounting Pronouncements 

 A recent accounting pronouncement that has been issued but is not yet effective, and 
have a potential implication for the corporation, is as follows: 

  
 Future for Not-for-Profit Organizations (NPO) 
 
 In October 2009, the Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) tentatively decided that it will 

propose a choice between the accounting standards for private enterprises plus the 
current NPO standards appropriately modified to fit with those standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards or Public Sector Accounting standards (PSAB) with NPO 
standards added on to PSAB. The Public Sector Accounting Board agreed that there was 
sufficient support to develop an NPO series to add onto the PSAB standards similar to 
the current NPO standards, but appropriately modified to fit with PSAB. The two boards 
are working together and intend to issue an Exposure Draft for comment in the first half 
of 2010. Until the Boards make a final decision all NPOs will continue to follow the 
current Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook – Accounting. 

 
  

3. Due to Manitoba Crown corporations 

These amounts are non-interest bearing and represent a retroactive adjustment to levies based 
on Council’s actual expenses.   

 
4. Capital assets 

These are comprised entirely of office furniture and equipment and computer equipment. 
 

  December 31 
  2009  2008 
  (in thousands of dollars) 
Cost     
 Office furniture and equipment   $ 59   $ 59 
 Computer equipment    44    44 
   $ 103   $ 103 
Accumulated depreciation     
 Office furniture and equipment   $ 59   $ 59 
 Computer equipment    44    44 
   $103   $ 103 
     
Net book value   $ 0   $ 0 
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5. Retirement allowances and enhanced pension benefits 

The Council measures its accrued benefit obligation for each of the retirement allowance and 
enhanced pension benefits as at December 31 of each year.  The most recent actuarial valuation 
report for the retirement allowance was at December 31, 2008 and the most recent finalized 
and approved actuarial valuation report for the enhanced pension benefits was at December 31, 
2007.   
 
(a) Information about the Council’s retirement allowance benefit plan is as follows: 
 
 2009 2008 
(thousands of dollars) $ $ 
Accrued benefit obligation 
 Balance, beginning of year 121 110 
 Current service cost 4 4 
 Interest cost 4 7 
   Benefits paid (43) 0 
 Experience gain on triennial adjustment (9) 0 
Accrued benefit obligation, December 31   77 121 
Unamortized transitional amount, December 31 0 (5) 
Accrued retirement allowance, December 31 77 116 
 
The Council’s retirement allowance expense consists of the following: 
 
 2009 2008 
(thousands of dollars) $ $ 
Current service costs 4 4 
Interest cost 4 7 
Accrued earned interest (1) (3) 
Experience gain on triennial adjustment (9) 0 
Amortization of transitional amount 5 5 
Total retirement allowance expense 3 13 
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Council’s retirement allowance 
obligation are as follows: 
 2009 2008 
 % % 
 
Benefit costs for the year ended December 31 
 Discount rate 6.50 6.50 
 Rate of compensation increase 4.00 4.00 
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(b) Information about the Council’s enhanced pension benefit plan is as follows: 
 
 2009 2008 
(thousands of dollars) $ $ 
 
Accrued benefit obligation and accrued pension liability 
 Balance, beginning of year 100 80 
 Current service cost 0 14 
 Interest cost 2 6 
 Experience gain on triennial adjustment (25) 0 
Accrued benefit obligation and accrued pension liability, (Dec 31)  77 100 
 
 
The Council’s enhanced pension expense (income) consists of the following: 
 
 2009 2008 
(thousands of dollars) $ $ 
 
Current service costs 0 14 
Interest cost 2 6 
Experience gain on triennial adjustment (25) 0 
Employee contributions (3) (2) 
Total enhanced pension expense (26) 18 
 

 
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Council’s pension obligation are as 
follows: 
 
 2009 2008 
 % % 
 

Benefit costs for the year ended December 31 
 Discount rate 6.50 6.50 
 Rate of compensation increase 4.00 4.00 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31 ,  2009   

6. Lease commitments 

The Council is committed under a premises lease expiring on April 30, 2010 with a new lease under 
review to expire in 2015 to annual basic rental payments of approximately $46,354 and annual 
common area and operating costs of approximately $41,553.   
 

The lease payments excluding annual common area and operating costs are as follows: 
 
 Year Base Rent 

2010 $42,695.75 
2011 46,354.00 
2012 46,354.00 
2013 46,354.00 
2014 46,354.00 
2015     15,451.33 
 
 $243,563.08 

 

7. Statement of cash flows 

A statement of cash flows has not been presented in these financial statements as no additional 
useful information would be provided by its inclusion. 
 

8. Capital Management 

The Council considers its capital to comprise its Reserve reflecting net investment in capital assets.  
There have been no changes to what the Council considers to be its capital since the previous period. 
 
The Council manages its capital to break even with the reserve reflecting funding of unamortized 
balance capital assets owned by the Council. 
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
 
 

2

Economic Innovation and Technology Council  Exhibit A 
Balance Sheet 
As at March 31   2010   2009 
 
 
Assets 
Current 
 Funds on deposit 
  Minister of Finance 
   Cash  
   Term deposits (and accrued interest) 
 Accounts receivable 
  Province of Manitoba 
  Other 
 Prepaid expenses 
 

 
 
 
 
$ 39,479 
 23,637 
 
 2,269 
 25,216 
 2,040  

 
 
 
 
$ 8,711 
 75,497 
 
 350 
 52,125 
 2,200  
 

 
 
Investment in Manitoba Technology Centre Ltd. (Note 4) 
 

 92,641 
 
 1 
 

 138,883 
 
 1 

 $ 92,642 $ 138,884 
 
 
 
Liabilities 
Current 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
  Province of Manitoba 
  Other 
 Unearned project receipts 
 

 
 
 
$ 2,882 
 59,570 
 8,523  

 
 
 
$ 2,913 
 58,475 
 50,041  

 
 

 70,975  111,429 

Equity 
Funds retained (Exhibit B) 
 

 
 21,667  

 
 27,455  

 $ 92,642 $ 138,884 
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Economic Innovation and Technology Council  Exhibit B 
Statements of Revenue, Expense, Other Comprehensive 
Income and Funds Retained 
Year Ended March 31   2010   2009 
 
 
Revenue 
 Sundry 
 

 
$ 83  

 
$ 1,238  

Expense 
 Professional fees 
 

 
 5,871  
 

 
 5,728  
 

Deficiency of revenue over expense and other 
comprehensive income  

 
$ (5,788) 

 
$ (4,490) 

 
 
 
Funds retained, beginning of year 
 

$ 27,455 $ 31,945 

Deficiency of revenue over expense and other 
comprehensive income 
 

 (5,788)  
 

 (4,490)  

Funds retained, end of year (Exhibit A) $ 21,667 $ 27,455 
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Economic Innovation and Technology Council  Exhibit C 
Statement of Project Receipts and Expenditures 
Year Ended March 31   2010   2009 
 
 
Receipts (by Program/Project) 
Life Science Initiatives 
  Contribution from Province of Manitoba (Note 5) 
 
Energy and Climate Change Initiatives  
 Contribution from Province of Manitoba (Note 5) 
 
Non-Intoxicant Gasoline Initiatives 
 Contribution from Province of Manitoba (Note 5) 
 
Targeted Geoscience Initiatives 
 Contribution from Government of Canada 
 

 
$  
 
 
 274,469 
 
 
 106,508 
 
 
 105,466  

 
$ 7,500 
  
 
 274,857 
 
 
  
 
 
 124,500  
 

  486,443   406,857  
 

Expenditure (by Program/Project) 
 Life Science Initiatives  
 Energy and Climate Change Initiatives 
 Non-Intoxicant Gasoline Initiatives 
 Targeted Geoscience Initiatives 

 

 
  
 274,469 
 106,508 
 105,466  
 

 
 7,500 
 274,857 
  
 124,500  

  486,443   406,857  
 

Excess of receipts over expenditures retained $ - $ - 
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Economic Innovation and Technology Council Exhibit D 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Year Ended March 31   2010   2009 
 
 
Increase (decrease) in funds on deposit 
 
 Operating 
  Deficiency of Council operations 
   revenue over expenditure (Exhibit B) 
  Net changes in non-cash working capital balances 
   Accounts receivable 
   Prepaid expenses 
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
   Unearned project receipts 
 

 
 
$ (5,788) 
 
 24,990 
 160 
 1,064 
 (41,518)  
 

 
 
$ (4,490) 
 
 (9,089) 
 (1,266) 
 42,554 
 50,041  
 

Net (decrease) increase in cash 
 

 (21,092)   77,750  

Funds on deposit, beginning of year 
 

 84,208   6,458  

Funds on deposit, end of year $ 63,116 $ 84,208 
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Economic Innovation and Technology Council 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 
 
 
1.  Establishment of the Council and nature of operations 
 
The Economic Innovation and Technology Council (EITC) was established by the Economic 
Innovation and Technology Council Act on September 1, 1992.  Pursuant to the Act, the 
purpose of EITC is to foster economic development and to support economic restructuring and 
commercialization in technology so as to enable Manitoba to compete effectively in a global 
market economy.  EITC's mission statement is "to promote and enhance a climate of 
innovation, entrepreneurship, and technological development that spurs responsible economic 
development for the benefit of Manitobans”. 
 
EITC is economically dependent upon the Province of Manitoba. 
 
 
 
2.  Significant accounting policies 
 
a)  Basis of reporting 
 
  The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles. 
 
b)  Cash and funds on deposit 
 
  Cash and funds on deposit include cash on hand, balances with the Minister of Finance 

and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less. 
 
c)  Use of estimates 
 
  In preparing the Council’s financial statements, management is required to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period.  Actual results could differ 
from these estimates.  

 
d)  Revenue recognition 
 
  Revenue is recognized as program expenditures are incurred. 
 
e)  Comprehensive income 
 
  The Council has not recognized any adjustments through other comprehensive income 

for the year ended March 31, 2010.  Because the Council has no items related to other 
comprehensive income, comprehensive income is equivalent to net income. 
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Economic Innovation and Technology Council 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 
 
 
2.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
f)  Capital disclosures 
   
  The Council’s capital consists of funds retained from operations.  
 
  The Council’s capital management policy is to maintain sufficient capital to meet its 

objectives through its retained earnings by managing transfers of surplus funds to the 
Province of Manitoba; meet short-term capital needs with working capital advances from 
the Province of Manitoba; and meet long-term capital needs through long-term debt with 
the Province of Manitoba. There were no changes in the Council’s approach to capital 
management during the period.  

 
  The Council is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  
 
 
 
3.  Financial instruments and financial risk management 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value.  Measurement in subsequent 
periods depends on the financial instrument’s classification.  Financial instruments are classified 
into one of the following five categories: held for trading; available for sale; held to maturity; 
loans and receivables; and other financial liabilities.  All financial instruments classified as held 
for trading or available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value with any change in fair 
value recorded in net earnings and other comprehensive income, respectively.  All other 
financial instruments are subsequently measured at amortized cost.  
 
The financial assets and liabilities of the Council are classified and measured as follows:  
 
        Subsequent 
Financial Asset/Liability  Category   Measurement  
Cash and funds on deposit  Held for trading    Fair value  
Accounts receivable  Loans and receivables  Amortized cost 
Investment in related party Available for sale  Cost  
Accounts payable  Other financial liabilities  Amortized cost 
Accrued liabilities  Other financial liabilities  Amortized cost 
 
Amortized cost is determined using the effective interest rate method.  
 
Gains and losses on financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost are 
recognized in the statements of revenue, expenditure and funds retained in the period the gain 
or loss occurs.   Changes in fair value on financial instruments classified as held for trading are 
recognized in the statements of revenue, expenditure and funds retained for the current period.  
Changes in fair value on financial instruments classified as available for sale would be recorded 
in other comprehensive income until realized, at which time they are recorded in the statements 
of revenue, expenditure and funds retained. 
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
 
The fair values of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
approximate their carrying values due to their short-term maturity. 
 
The fair value of the investment in related party cannot be reliably measured as there is no 
quoted market price available, and therefore, it is not disclosed.  
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Economic Innovation and Technology Council 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 
 
 
3.  Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued) 
 
Financial risk management - overview 
 
The Council has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; 
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk. 
 
Credit risk  
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and 
causes financial loss to another party.  Financial instruments which potentially subject the 
Council to credit risk consist principally of cash and term deposits and accounts receivable.   
 
The maximum exposure of the Council to credit risk at March 31, 2010 is: 
 
Cash and funds on deposit   $ 63,116  
Accounts receivable    25,216 
Receivable from the Province of Manitoba   2,269 

  $ 90,601 
 
Cash and funds on deposits:  The Council is not exposed to significant credit risk as the cash 
and term deposits are primarily held by the Minister of Finance. 
 
Receivable from the Province of Manitoba: The Council is not exposed to significant credit risk 
as the receivable is from the Province of Manitoba.  
 
Accounts receivable:  The Council is not exposed to significant credit risk as the receivables are 
from the Government of Canada and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The 
Council establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential 
credit losses.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and 
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment 
trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed 
for or written off.  Consistent with the previous year, there is no allowance for doubtful accounts 
as all receivables are expected to be collected.  
 
Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Council will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
come due.   
 
The Council manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from 
the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations. 
 
Market risk  
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates, will affect the Council’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.  
The significant market risks the Council is exposed to are interest rate risk and foreign currency 
risk. 
 
Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The interest rate exposure relates to 
funds on deposit.   
 
The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term 
nature.   
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Economic Innovation and Technology Council 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 
 
 
3.  Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued) 
 
Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Council is not exposed to 
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in 
foreign currency.   
 
 
 
4.  Investment in Manitoba Technology Centre Ltd.  
 
Effective June 1, 1996, EITC discontinued its role in the operations of the Environmental 
Sciences Centre (ESC).  Prior to June 1, 1996, the financial activities of ESC were reflected in 
the financial statements of EITC.  On June 1, 1996, EITC entered into a public/private 
partnership with Enviro-Test Laboratories, a division of ETL Chemspec Analytical Limited 
(ETL).  A new corporation, Manitoba Technology Centre Ltd. (MTC), was incorporated and 
certain assets of EITC, namely the assets of ESC, were transferred to MTC pursuant to an 
Asset Purchase Agreement in exchange for 25 Class A Common Shares with a paid-up capital 
value of $25, 1,500,000 Class A Special Preferred Shares with a redemption and paid-up 
capital value of $875,000, and 1 Class B Special Preferred Share with a paid-up capital value of 
$1.  Subsequent to the Asset Purchase Agreement, MTC issued 75 Class A Common Shares 
with a paid-up capital value of $75 to ETL.  A Unanimous Shareholders Agreement between 
EITC and ETL sets out the rights and obligations in respect of the shares of MTC.  The regular 
operations and management of MTC are the responsibility of ETL. 
 
Class A Special Preferred Shares 
 
Each Class A Special Preferred Share was non-voting, redeemable and retractable on a semi-
annual basis, with one share cancelled for each dollar contributed or invested by ETL in 
equipment, facilities, management and marketing.  The redemption amount of the shares was 
equal to the agreed value of ESC’s contributed assets of $875,000 divided by 1,500,000 or 
$.5833 per share.  As part of the Unanimous Shareholders Agreement, ETL was committed to 
contributing $1,500,000 over the first three years of the agreement.  
 
All Class A Special Preferred Shares were redeemed prior to May 31, 2002.  
 
Class B Special Preferred Share 
 
The Class B Special Preferred Share is non-voting, retractable and redeemable at $1.00 per 
share. 
 
Effective May 31, 2002, EITC has the option of retaining ownership of the Class B Special 
Preferred Share as long as it may wish and be entitled for so long as it holds this share to 
nominate one director to the Board of Directors provided that: 
 
1.  EITC no longer holds any common shares; 
 
2.  MTC continues to occupy premises owned by the Province of Manitoba; and 
 
3.  MTC has material contracts with the Province of Manitoba. 
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Economic Innovation and Technology Council 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2010 
 
 
4.  Investment in Manitoba Technology Centre Ltd. (continued) 
 
Common Shares 
 
On May 31, 1999, MTC redeemed EITC’s 25 common shares with a paid up capital value of 
$25 for $434,200.   
 
A gain of $434,175 resulting from this redemption was recorded. 
 
 
 
5.  Related party transactions 
 
EITC is related in terms of common ownership to all departments, agencies and Crown 
corporations created by the Province of Manitoba.  EITC enters into transactions with these 
entities in the normal course of business. 
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Auditorst Report

To the Board of Directors of First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority:

We have audited the statement of financial position of First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority as at

March 31, 2010 and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Authority’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and

perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material .respects, the financial position of the Authority as at

March 31, 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally

accepted accounting principles.

The financial statements as at March 31, 2009 and for the year then ended were audited by another accounting firm who issued an audit

report without reservation on those statements in the their report dated July 10, 2009.

Winnipeg, Manitoba L LP
June 18,2010 Chartered Accountants

2500- 201 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, Manitoba, R38 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1 (877) 500-0795
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First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority
Statement of Operations
For the year ended March 31, 2010

2010 2009
(Restated)

Revenue
Province of Manitoba 15,977,476 13,653,945
Interest 3,044 43,316
Other 237,400 4,664
Revenue deferred to subsequent period - (167,452)
Revenue deferred from prior period 167,452 -

Total revenue 16,385,372 13,534,473

Expenses
Agency financial review 241,429 -

Amortization 61,358 50914
Annual general meeting 12,536 20,038
Audit 6,950 4,500
Bank and service fees 4,605 840
Board expenses 10,862 9,836
Board Honorarium 35,893 37,900
Changes for children 38,939 259,032
Differential response 476,870 -

Family Innovation fund 339,723 13,736
IT support 38,408 6,119
Insurance 16,357 13,904
Janitorial 7,260 -

Meeting expenses 20,848 -

Membership fees 1,496 3,035
Miscellaneous 10,819 5,770
Office supplies 37,456 20,731
Payments to agencies 12,149,710 10,751,449
Payments to authorities 21,400 120,644
Payroll processing 2,309 2,198
Postage 1,385 1,444
Printing and stationary 5,321 1,515
Professional development 3,448 19,091
Professional fees 400,541 246311
Recruitment costs 10,773 2,959
Rent 53,127 57,977
Repairs and maintenance 1,347 5,539
Repatriation 12,868 5,418
Salaries and benefits 1,724,753 1,112,046
Telephone 29,324 32,187
Training and education 143,625 96,741
Travel 338,257 339,896

Total expenses 16,259,997 13,241,770

Excess of revenue over expenses 125,375 292,703

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

2
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First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Forthe year ended March 31, 2010

Unrestricted Internally Externally Invested in 2010 2009
restricted restricted capital assets

(Restated)

Net assets, beginning of year, as previously stated 343,807 783,107 503.235 91,506 1,721,655 1,452,952

Correction of an error (Note 8) 24,000 - - - 24,000 -

Net assets, beginning of year as restated 367,807 783,107 503,235 91,506 1,745,655 1452,952

Excess of revenue over expenses 125,375 - - - 125,375 292,703

Amortization of capital assets 61,358 - - (61,358) - -

Purchase of capital assets (21.007) - - 21,007 - -

Interfund transfers 345,630 (345,630) - - - -

Transfer of surplus (503,468) 503,468 - - - -

Net assets, end of year 375,695 940,945 503,235 51,155 1,871,030 1,745,655

The accompanying notes are an integral pad of these financial statements
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First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority
Statement of Cash Flows
Forthe year ended March 31, 2010

2010 2009
(Restated)

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating activities

Excess of revenues over expenses 125,375 292,703
Amortization 61,358 50,914

186,733 343,617
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (768,544) 188,424
Prepaid expenses and deposits 50,502 (43,606)
Accounts payable and accruals 338,066 90,525
Deferred contributions (167,452) 167,452

(360,695) 746,412

Investing activities
Purchase of capital assets (21,007) (45,089)

Increase (decrease) in cash resources (381,702) 701,323
Cash resources, beginning of year 1,701,506 1,000,183

Cash resources, end of year 1,319,804 1,701,506

Cash resources are composed of:
Cash 539,741 924,486
Marketable securities 780,063 777,020

1,319,804 1 701506

Supplementary cash flow information
Interest received 3,044 840

The accompanying notes are an integral pad of these financial statements
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First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements

Forthe year ended March 31,2010

i. Incorporation and operations

The First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority (“the Nothern Authority’) has been incorporated- -

under the Child and Family Services Authority Act, which was proclaimed by the Province of Manitoba on November 24,
2003.

The mandate of the Northern Authority is to administer and provide for the delivery of child and family services in Manitoba
to people who are members of the northern First Nations, people who identify with those northern First Nations and others
as determined in accordance with protocols established in the regulations which form part of the Child and Family Services
Authority Act. The Northern Authority is exempt from income taxes under Section 149(IX1) of the Income Tax Act.

On June 10,2002 legislation to create the First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority was
introduced in the Legislative Assembly. Royal Assent was received on August 9, 2002. The Child and Family Services Act
came into force upon proclamation. Proclamation occurred on November 30, 2003. All assets and liabilities of 4601149
Manitoba Association Inc. as of November 30, 2003 were transferred to the First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and
Family Services Authority on December 1, 2003.

2. significant accounting policies

The financial statements of the Northern Authority have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.

Revenue recognition

The Northern Authority follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted contributions are recognized
as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue
when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

The Northern Authority funding from the Province of Manitoba is recognized when earned.

Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost. The cost for contributed capital assets is considered to be fair value at the date of
contribution.

Amortization is provided using the straight-line method at rates intended to amortize the cost of assets over their estimated
useful lives. Rate

Computer equipment 3 years
Computer software 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 5 years

In the year of acquisition, amortization is taken at one-half of the above rates.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting period.

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts
is provided where considered necessary. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of capital assets.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary they are reported in
excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses in the periods in which they become known.

5
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First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2010

2. Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Capital disclosures

The Northern Authority’s capital consists of net assets provided by operations.

The Northern Authority’s capital management policy is to maintain sufficient capital in net assets to meet its objectives, meet
short term capital needs through working capital advances from the Province of Manitoba; and meet long term capital needs
through long-term debt with the Province of Manitoba. There were no changes in the Northern Authority’s approach to
capital management during the 2010 fiscal year.

The Northern Authority is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets consist of capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and amortized as described in the
applicable accounting policies.

The Northern Authority performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset, or group of assets, may not be recoverable. Impairment losses
are recognized when undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal are less than the assets carrying amount.
Impairment is measured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its fair value. Any impairment is
included in excess of revenue over expenses for the year.

3. Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on a
financial instrument’s classification.

Financial instruments are classified into one of the following five categories; held for trading; available for sale; held to
maturity; loans and receivables; and other financial liabilities. All financial instruments classified as held for trading or
available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value, with any change in fair value recorded in net earnings and other
comprehensive income, respectively. All other financial instruments are subsequently measured at amortized cost.

The financial assets and liabilities of the Northern Authority are classified and measured as follows:

Financial asset/liability Category Subsequent measurement

Cash and marketable securities Held for trading Fair value
Accounts receivable from the Province Loans and receivable Amortized cost
Working capital receivable from agencies Loans and receivable Amortized cost
Accounts receivable Loans and receivable Amortized cost
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortized cost
Working capital payable to the Province Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

Amortized cost is determined using the effective interest rate method.

Gains and losses on financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost are recognized in the statement of
operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Changes in fair value on financial intruments classified as held for trading
are recognized in the statement of operations for the current period.

6
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First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements

Forthe year ended March 31, 2010

3. Financial instruments (Continued from previous page)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of accounts receivable from the Province, working capital receivable from agencies, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities and working capital payable to the Province approximate their carrying values due
to their relatively short term maturity.

Financial risk management

The Northern Authority has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk;
market risk; and interest risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss to
another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Northern Authority to credit risk consist principally of cash,
marketable securities and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Northern Authority to credit risk as at March 31, 2010, is $1,600,388 (2009 - $831,844).

Accounts receivable: The Northern Authority is not exposed to significant credit risk since the receivables are with agencies
and Province of Manitoba.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Northern Authority will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.

The Northern Authority manages liquidity risk by balancing its cash flow requirements through its available working capital
payable and its cash balance. Regular determinations of the Northern Authority’s working capital payable and cash
requirements are reviewed by the Province of Manitoba to ensure that adequate funding is available as required to enable
the Northern Authority to meet its obligations as they come due.

Market Risk

The Northern Authority is exposed to market risk through the fluctuation of financial instrument fair values due to changes in
market prices. The significant market risks to which the Northern Authority is exposed to is interest rate risk.

Interest rate Risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of finandal instruments or future cash flows associated with the
instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

The interest rate exposure of the Northern Authority arises from its interest bearing assets, which inciude marketable
securities that earn interest at market rates.

The Northern Authority manages its exposures to the interest rate risk of its marketable securities by maximizing the interest
income earned on excess funds whiie maintaining liquidity necessary to conduct operations on a day-to-day basis.
Fluctuations in market rates of interest on marketable securities do not have significant impact on the Nothern Authority’s
results of operations.

4. Marketable securities
2010 2009

Royal Bank of Canada Money Market Fund 780,063 777,020

Mr
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First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority

5. Accounts receivable

Notes to the Financial Statements

_____ For the year ended March 31, 2010

2010 2009
(Restated)

Other 246,815

1,600,388 831,844

Capital assets

2010
Accumulated Net book

Cost amortization value

Computer equipment 88,951 80,724 8,227
Computer software 20,646 13,792 6,854
Furniture and fixtures 43,343 31,924 11,419
Office equipment 98,308 73,653 24,655

251,248 200,093 51,155

2009
Accumulated Net book

Cost amortization value

Computer equipment 77,272 53023 24,249
Computer software 11,317 8,465 2,852
Furniture and fixtures 43,343 23,255 20,088
Office equipment 98,308 53,991 44,317

230,240 138,734 91,506

Accounts payable and accruals

2010 2009

Accounts payable 1,080,745 722,223
Accruals 27,809 48,267

1,108,554 770,490

8. Correction of an error

During the year the Northern Authority determined that revenue that was related to 2009 was recorded in 2010 instead of
being set up as a receivable in 2009. This error resulted in an increase to net opening assets of $24,000 in 2010. For the
prior year this has resulted in an increase of $24,000 in accounts receivable and revenue.

a

OST Receivable 36,911
Province of Manitoba 1,316,662

18,430
743,163

70251
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First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2010

9. Internally Restricted Net Assets

The Board approved the following internal restrictions:

2010 2009

Copier replacement 9,270 9,270
Furniture replacement 9,270 9,270
Transitional expenses to Northern location - 50,600
Winnipeg projects - 57,339
Furniture, computers and equipment 80,368 16,900
Repatriation 22,132 35,000
Authority and agency development 300,000 300,000
Joint training unit 79.905 79,905
Family support innovations - 224,823
Northern office renovations 50,000
Community Relations Specialist position 120,000 -

Executive Assistant term position 70,000 -

IT support 50,000 -

Legal expenses 100,000 -

Winnipeg office 50,000 -

940,945 783,107

10. Externally Restricted Net Assets

Externally restricted net assets represents the unspent portion of Transition Grant Funding received from the Province of
Manitoba. The grant is to be used for the Aboriginal Justice Inquiry - Child Welfare Initiative one-time transition activities
connected to the establishment of the Northern Authority and to assist Family Service Agencies in extending their
operations and have the ability to accept the scheduled transfer of cases. In the year ended March 31, 2010 the Province of
Manitoba authorized the use of Externally Restricted Net Assets of $316,777 over three years to establish a presence in
northern Manitoba.

2010 2009

Authority development 186,480 186480
The Pas Northern office 34,060 34,060
Thompson Northern office 282,695 282,695

503,235 503,235

11. Economic dependence

First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority is solely dependent on the Province of Manitoba for
revenue to fund its operations.

9
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First Nations of Northern Manitoba Child and Family Services Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements

Forthe year ended March 31, 2010

12. Commitments

The Northern Authority has entered into a five year lease for one of their premises that expires on January 31, 2012. Under
the lease, the Northern Authority is required to pay a base annual rent of $39,963.

2011 39,963
2012 39963

79,926

13. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.

10
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2. 

THE HELEN BETTY OSBORNE MEMORIAL FOUNDATION 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 MARCH 31, 2010 
 
 
 Unre stricted Restricted Endowment Total Total 
 Fund Fund  Fund  2010  2009  
 
ASSETS 
 
CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and bank $ 102,486   19,566   43,454   165,506   120,666  
Short-term investments (Note 4) -   -   214,046   214,046   213,554  
Accrued interest receivable  -   -   -   -   268  
Accounts receivable  33,955   -   -   33,955   3,404  
Inventory (Note 2(c))  2,117   -   -   2,117   2,861  

  $ 138,558   19,566   257,500   415,624   340,753  
 
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 
 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Accounts payable  $ 8,601   -   -   8,601   599  
Deferred contributions (Note 3) -   19,074   -   19,074   -  

  8,601   19,074   -   27,675   599  

NET ASSETS 
Restricted  -   492   -   492   268  
Endowment  -   -   257,500   257,500   257,500  
Unrestricted   129,957   -   -   129,957   82,386  

   129,957   492   257,500   387,949   340,154  

  $ 138,558   19,566   257,500   415,624   340,753  
 

APPROVED BY THE BOARD: 

               Director 

               Director 
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3. 

THE HELEN BETTY OSBORNE MEMORIAL FOUNDATION 
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS  

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 
 
 Unre stricted Restricted Endowment Total Total 
 Fund Fund  Fund  2010  2009  
REVENUE 

Province of Manitoba operating  
grant (Note 7) $ 60,000   -   -   60,000   80,000  

Book sales  4,907   -   -   4,907   7,759  
Donations and fundraising  49,743   -   -   49,743   75,541  
Investment income (Note 4)  -   224   -   224   4,333  
Restricted contributions (Note 3) 

Bursaries and scholarships  -   127,500   -   127,500   104,400  
Project  -   12,071   -   12,071   26,544  

   114,650   139,795   -   254,445   298,577  

EXPENSES 
Bursaries and scholarships  -   127,500   -   127,500   123,500  
Cost of book sales   744   -   -   744   314  
Fundraising  66,335   -   -   66,335   66,080  
Project  -   12,071   -   12,071   26,903  

   67,079   139,571   -   206,650   216,797  

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER 
EXPENSES  47,571    224    -   47,795    81,780   

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF 
 YEAR           82,386    268    257,50 0   340,15 4   258,37 4  

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR $ 129,95 7   492    257,50 0   387,94 9   340,15 4  
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4. 

THE HELEN BETTY OSBORNE MEMORIAL FOUNDATION 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 
 
    2010 2009  

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN): 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 Excess of revenue over expenses   $ 47,795   81,780  
 Change in non-cash working capital: 
  Accrue d interest receivable     268   1,006  
  Acco unts receivable     (30,551)   (1,737)  
  Inventory     744   (2,861)  
  Acco unts payable      8,002   599  
  Deferre d contributions     19,074   (23,21 4)  

      45,332   55,573  
FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 Investments     (492)   (5,339)  

INCREASE IN CASH     44,840    50,234   

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR     120,66 6   70,432   

CASH, END OF YEAR    $ 165,50 6   120,66 6  

 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: 
 Interest received    $ 492   5,339  
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THE HELEN BETTY OSBORNE MEMORIAL FOUNDATION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

5. 

1.  ACCOUNTING ENTITY 

The Helen Betty Osborne Memoria l Foundatio n is incorporated under  The Helen  Betty 
Osborne Memorial Foundation Act,  which rece ived royal assent on  December 15, 2000 . 
The Foundation is a registered charitable organization exempt from income taxes under the 
provisions of the Income Tax Act of Canada.   

The legislat ed purpose  of the Foundation is t o receive donations of  real and personal 
property, including cash; to provide financia l assistance t o aboriginal persons re siding in 
Manitoba who are enrolled in post  secondary studies in Manitoba; and to promote the  
memory of Helen Betty Osborne. 

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) General  
The financia l statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles for not-for-profit organizations. 

(b) Revenue Recognition 
The Foundation follows the deferral method in accounting fo r contributions. Restricted 
contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the relate d expenses are 
incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when they are received 
or receivable, and when colle ctibility is reason ably assured. Endowment contribu tions 
are recognized as dir ect increases in net assets. Investment income earne d is 
restricted f or bursary or scho larship purpo ses and is recognized on a t ime 
proportionate basis. 

(c) Inventory  
Inventory is stated at  t he lower of  cost  and net realizab le value wit h cost  bein g 
determined using the first-in, first-out method. 

(d) Fund Accounting 
The Regulation of The Helen Bett y Osborne Memorial F oundation Act directs t hat 
scholarships, bursaries and grants may be pai d from the  fund as long as the fund will 
contain at least $57,500 after the capital in question has been withdrawn from the fund.  
If the fund contains less than $57,500, the Foundation may only pro vide scholarships, 
bursaries a nd grants using income earned fro m the  fund. The Found ation maintains 
the following funds: 

 - The Unrestricted Fund,  which reports the general activitie s of the Foundation, 
including administration. 

 - The Restricted Fund, which repor ts the revenues and expenses related to  
bursaries and scholarships and other special projects. 

 - The Endowment Fund,  which reports the inve stments and grants received is 
subject to externally imposed restriction s st ipulating th at the reso urces be 
maintained permanently. 
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THE HELEN BETTY OSBORNE MEMORIAL FOUNDATION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

6. 

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(e) New Accounting Policies 

Effective April 1, 2009 the Foundation adopted the followin g new accounting standards 
issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA): 

Not-For-Profit Organization Standards - CICA Handbook Sections 4400 to 4470 

The CICA a mended a number of standards a pplicable to  not-for-profit organizations 
(NFPOs) within Sectio ns 4400 to 4460 and issued new standard, CICA 44 70 
Disclosures of Allocated Expenses by Not-for-Profit Organizations.  

Section 440 0 Financial Statement Presentatio n by Not-For-Profit Organization s was 
amended to: 
 eliminate th e requirement to treat net asset s invested in capital a ssets as a 

separate component of net assets and, instead, per mit a not-for-profit 
organization (NFPO) to  present such an amo unt as a  ca tegory of in ternally 
restricted net assets when it chooses to do so; 

 clarify that revenues and expenses must be re cognized an d presented  on a 
gross basis when a n ot-for-profit organization  is acting as a principal in  
transactions; 

 make Section 1540 Cash Flow Statements applicable to NFPO's; and 
 make Section 1751 Int erim Financial Statements applica ble to NFPO's that 

prepare interim financial statements in accordance with GAAP. 

Section 4430 Capital Assets Held by Not-For-Profit Orga nizations w as amende d to 
provide additional guidance with respect to the appropriate use of the scope exemption 
for smaller entities. 

Section 4460 Disclosure of Related Party Transactions by Not-For-Profit Organizations 
was amend ed to make the language in Section 4460 consistent wit h Section 3840  
Related Party Transactions.  

New Section 4470 Disclosure of Allocated Expenses by Not-For-Profit Organizatio ns 
establishes disclosure standards for not-for-profit organizatio ns that choose to classify 
their expenses by function and allo cate expenses from one function to another.  The 
main features of the new Section are: 
 A requirement for an e ntity that allocates its f undraising and general support  

expenses to other functions to disclose the policies adopted for the allocation of 
expenses among functions, the nat ure of the expenses being allocated  and the 
basis on which such allocations have been made; and 

 A requirement for an en tity to disclose the amo unts allocated from eac h of its 
fundraising and general support functions and  the amoun ts and functions to 
which they have been allocated. 

The adoption of these new requirements had no material impact on the Foundation’s 
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2010. 
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THE HELEN BETTY OSBORNE MEMORIAL FOUNDATION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

7. 

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(e) New Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Financial Statement Concepts – CICA Handbook Section 1000 

Financial statement concepts has been amended to focus on the capitalization of costs 
that truly meet the definition of an asset and de-emphasizes the matching concept. 

The revised requiremen ts were effective for annual and interim financial statements 
relating to fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2008. The adoption of this 
standard ha d no effect on the Foundation’s f inancial st atements for the year ended  
March 31, 2010. 

Credit Risk and Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (EIC 173) 

During 2009 the Foun dation adop ted the Emerging Issu es Committ ee (EIC) 173 
regarding the credit risk and the fair value of financial a ssets and fina ncial liabilities. 
The EIC required entitie s to consider both their own risk and the risk of  counterparties 
when mea suring the  fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities for 
presentation and disclosure purposes. 

Due to the nature of th e Foundation’s financial instruments, the adoption of this EIC 
has no material impact on the financial position of the Foundation. 

(f) Financial Instruments 

Financial assets and lia bilities are initially recor ded at fair value.  Me asurement in 
subsequent periods depends on the financial instrument’s classifica tion.  Financia l 
instruments are classified into one of the following five c ategories: h eld for trading; 
available for sale; held to maturity; loans and receivables; and other financial liabilities.  
All financial instruments cla ssified as held for trading or available  for sale are 
subsequently measured  at fair value with any change in f air value recorded in n et 
earnings and net assets, respectively. All other financial instruments are subsequent ly 
measured at amortized cost. 

The financial assets and liabilities of the entity are classified and measured as follows:  

         Subsequent  
Financial Asset/Liability  Category   Measureme nt  

Cash and bank    Held for trading   Fair value  
Short-term investments   Held for trading   Fair value  
Accrued interest receivable  Loans and receivables Amortized cost  
Accounts receivable   Loans and receivables Amortized cost  
Accounts payable   Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 
Accrued liabilities   Other financial liabilities Amortized cost 

Amortized cost is determined using the effective interest method. 
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THE HELEN BETTY OSBORNE MEMORIAL FOUNDATION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

8. 

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(f) Financial Instruments (Continued) 
Gains and losses on financial in struments subsequently measured at amortized cost  
are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain  or loss o ccurs.   
Changes in  fair value  on financial instrume nts cla ssified as held  for trading are 
recognized in the statement of operations for the current period.  Change s in fair value 
on financia l instruments cla ssified as available  for sale are recorded in statement of  
changes in net assets until realized, at which time they re corded in th e statement of 
operations.   

As permitted within the CICA Accounting Handbook, the Foundation has continue d to 
apply CICA Section 3861 - Disclosure and Presentation in p lace of Sections 3862 and  
3863 for financial instruments.  

Fair value of financial instruments 
The fair values of cash,  short-term investments, accrued int erest receivable, accou nts 
receivable and accoun ts payable approximates their carrying values due to th eir 
short-term maturity. 

 Liquidity  risk 
Liquidity risk is the ri sk that the  Foundation will not be  able to meet its f inancial 
obligations as they come due. Financial li abilities consi st of acco unts payable. 
Accounts payable are paid in the normal course of business and except under certain 
exceptions, no later than one month. 

The Foundation’s appr oach to ma naging liquidity risk is to manage its cashflow  t o 
ensure it wil l always have sufficient  liquidity to meet liabilities when due. At March 31,  
2010, the Foundation has an  un restricted fund cash  ba lance of  $1 02,486 and  a 
restricted cash balance of $19,566 which exceeds total unrestricted and restricted fund 
current liabilities of $19, 584. Hence, it is management's opinion that the Foundation is 
not exposed to any liquidity risk of any significance.  

 Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a f inancial instrument will cause a financial loss 
for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. 

Financial in struments which pote ntially subje ct the orga nization to  credit risk and 
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of accounts r eceivable and short-term 
investments.   

 Management manages credit risk associated with accoun ts receivable by pursuing 
collections when they are due and investing in low risk investments that promote safety 
of principal. 

 Market risk 
Market risk is the risk th at the fair value or futur e cash flow s of a finan cial instrument 
will fluctuate because of  changes in market prices. Market r isk comprises three types 
of risk; foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

The Foundation is not exposed to any market risk of any significance.  
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THE HELEN BETTY OSBORNE MEMORIAL FOUNDATION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

9. 

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(g) Use of Estimates 
The preparation of the financial stat ements requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that  affect the  reported amounts of assets a nd liabilities and  
disclosure o f contingen cies at th e d ate of the f inancial statements, and the report ed 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods presented. Actual 
results could differ from these estimates. 

(h) Capital Management 
The Foundation's object ive when managing capital is to maintain sufficient capita l to 
cover its costs of operations.  The Foundation's capital consists unrestricted, restricted 
and endowment funds. 

The Foundation's capital management policy is to: 

 Maintain sufficient cap ital to meet  its objectiv es through its net assets by 
managing contributions from go vernment entities, private organizatio ns and 
individuals. 

 Meet short-term capital needs with ongoing management of cash on  hand and 
short-term investments.  

 Meet long-term capital needs throu gh allocation of revenu e to the endowment  
fund. 

The Regulation of The Helen Bett y Osborne Memorial F oundation Act directs t hat 
scholarships, bursaries and grants may be pai d from the  fund as long as the fund will 
contain at least $57,500 after the capital in question has been withdrawn from the fund.  
If the fund contains less than $57,500, the Foundation may only pro vide scholarships, 
bursaries and grants using income earned from the fund. 

The Endowment Fund, which reports the investments and grants received is subject to 
externally imposed restriction s stipulating t hat the resources be maintained 
permanently.  

There were no change s in the  Foundation’s approach to capital management during 
the year. 

(j) Donated Services 
The Foundation is econ omically dependent on the Province of Manito ba.  No amount 
has been re flected in the financia l statements for the Foun dation's audit fees,  certain 
expenses of trustees a nd other administrativ e services pro vided by th e Province of  
Manitoba. 

(k) Donations in Kind 
Various individuals or organizations donate it ems that are used in t he fundraising  
activities of the Helen Betty Osborn e Memorial Foundation.  These do nations in kind 
have been included in  the revenues and expenses wh ere the fair  value can be  
reasonably estimated except for design and marketing services provided by Cats in the 
Bag Design in the amount of $2,500 for March 31, 2010 (2009 - $5,500). 
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YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

10. 

3. DEFER RED CONTRIBUTIONS 

Deferred contributions r epresent unspent resources externally restricte d for schola rship or 
bursary purposes or other externally funded projects. Changes in the deferred contributions 
balance are as follows: 

 2010  2009  

 Balance, beginning of year $ -   23,214  
 Add:  Investment revenue restricted for scholarship purposes  224   4,333  
  Restricted contributions 

Bursaries and scholarships (Note 6)  128,645   104,400  
Project  30,000   1,900  
GST rebate  -   360  

Subtotal  158,869   134,207  
 Deduct current year: 
   Amounts recognized as restricted contributions 

Bursaries and scholarships  127,500   104,400  
Project  12,071   25,474  

   Amounts recognized as investment income   224   4,333  

 Balance, end of year $ 19,074   -  

4. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS AND INVESTMENT INCOME 

 Short-term investments within the endowment fund of $214,046 consist of 90-day trust 
 deposits held with the Minister of Finance with interest payable at 0.05% maturing between 
 April 12, 2010 and June 7, 2010. Investment income generated from the short-term 
 investments is as follows: 
  2010  2009  

 Total investment income recognized as revenue $ 224   4,333  

5. CONT RACTUAL COMMITMENTS 

During the fiscal year-ended March 31, 2010, the Foundation has entered into a contractual 
arrangement with David Robertson to commission a graphic novel to explore the residential 
experience. A commitment of $15,929 exists under this arra ngement for the 2010/11 fisca l 
year. 

During the fiscal year-ended March 31, 2010, the Foundation has entered into a contractual 
arrangement with Portage & Main Press to provide distribu tion services for the sale of The  
Life of Helen Betty Osborne Graphic Novel. 55% of net sales are kept by the distributor on 
all book sales until June 24, 2012. 
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YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 

11. 

6. FUNDING COMMITMENT RESTRICTED TO SPECIFIC BURSARIES 

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, the South Beach Casino and Resort provided 
a funding commit ment of $20,000, which is to be used for bursaries and scholarships. An 
amount of $5,000 was r eceived in both the prior and curr ent fisca l years. The re maining 
$10,000 is to be received over the next two fiscal years. 

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, the Department of Aboriginal & Northern  
Affairs provided a funding commit ment of $20,000 per year for three years. An amount o f 
$20,000 was received for March 31, 2010, and a further $20,000 will be received in each of 
the next two fiscal years. 

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, the Government of Canada provided a 
funding co mmitment of $49,050,  of which  $45,000 is to be u sed for bursa ries and  
scholarships.  An amou nt of $44,145 was received for March 31, 2010 and a hold back 
amount of $4,905 will be received in the nex t fisca l year upon the completion of final  
reports. 

7. UNRESTRICTED FUNDING COMMITMENT  

During the fiscal year ended Marc h 31, 2009, the Go vernment of Manitoba provided a 
funding commitment of $180,000 to be used for general operating purposes.  An amount of  
$80,000 was received for March 31 , 2009 and $60,000 was received for March 31 , 2010 
with the re mainder of the grant of $40,000 to be received in 2010/11,  upon the p ayment 
terms being met. 

8. PUBLIC SECTOR COMPENSATION DISCLOSURE ACT 

The requirement under the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act for an annual public 
disclosure be made of individual co mpensation in an amou nt exceeding $50,000 a nnually 
to any officer or emplo yee of the Foundation is not necessary.  All staf f, Trustees and the 
Chairperson to the Board of Trustee s are volunteers and receive no compensation for their  
services. 
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LEAF RAPIDS TOWN PROPERTIES LTD. AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 WERE NOT AVAILABLE AT THE TIME OF PRINTING 

THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA PUBLIC ACCOUNTS VOLUME IV. 

Page 292



                                                                                    www.legalaid.mb.ca            19

The accompanying financial statements of Legal Aid Manitoba are the responsibility of management 
and have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies stated in Note 2 to the 
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2010.

As management is responsible for the integrity of the financial statements, management has 
established systems of internal control to provide reasonable assurance that assets are properly 
accounted for and safeguarded from loss. 

The responsibility of the Auditor General is to express an independent professional opinion on 
whether the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with the accounting policies 
stated in the financial statements. The Auditor’s Report outlines the scope of the audit examination 
and provides the audit opinion.

Gil Clifford
Executive Director
Legal Aid Manitoba

August 17, 2010

Responsibility for Financial Reporting
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22      Legal Aid Manitoba

LEGAL AID MANITOBA

Statement of Revenue and Expense
for the year ended March 31

2010 2009

Revenue
Province of Manitoba (Note 9) $  26,645,026  $  21,286,572 
Manitoba Law Foundation (Note 10)  2,147,184  4,009,943 
Contributions from clients  1,089,291  973,985 
Recoveries from third parties  428,831  686,340 
Government of Canada  110,396  1,875 
Judgment costs and settlements  78,517  134,690 
Interest income  52,383  21,522 
Other  6,265  7,222 

$  30,557,893  $  27,122,149 

Expense
Private bar fees and disbursements (Note 13)

Legal aid certificates $  9,941,105  $  7,895,270 
Duty counsel services  806,424  1,032,273 
Transcripts  57,141  68,812 

 10,804,670  8,996,355 

Community Law Centres, Schedule 1  11,782,461  11,109,909 
Public Interest Law Centre, Schedule 1  1,082,053  860,764 
University Law Centre, Schedule 1  116,071  122,521 
General and Administrative, Schedule 1  7,951,382  5,809,195 

$  31,736,637  $  26,898,744 

Excess of Revenue (Expense) $  (1,178,744)  $  223,405 
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LEGAL AID MANITOBA

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
for the year ended March 31

2010 2009

Total Total

Balance, Beginning of Year $  320,796  $  78,559  $  2,705,504  $  3,104,859  $  2,881,454 

Restricted Net Assets Expenses  -  -  -  -  - 
Excess of Revenue over Expense  (112,492)  -  (1,066,252)  (1,178,744)  223,405 
Capital Asset Additions  86,064  -  (86,064)  -  - 

BALANCE, END OF YEAR $  294,368  $  78,559  $  1,553,188  $  1,926,115  $  3,104,859 

Invested in 
Capital Assets

Restricted Net 
Assets      (Note 

15)
Unrestricted Net 

Assets
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LEGAL AID MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
for the year ended March 31

2010 2009

Cash Flow Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities:

Excess of Revenue over Expense $  (1,178,744)  $  223,405 

Add items not affecting cash
Amortization  112,492  98,322 
Bad debt expense  231,026  227,500 

Changes in working capital:
Client accounts receivable  (203,187)  (142,866)
Province of Manitoba receivable  (1,193,700)  1,874,700 
Government of Canada receivable  (110,396)  73,025 
Other receivables  (27,851)  (177,441)
Prepaid expenses  1,036  19,436 

Accounts payable and accrued vacation pay  728,501  (182,517)
Deferred revenue  (11,530)  (3,170)
Deferred contribution from Province of Manitoba  -  30,000 
Charges on land  38,194  20,278 
Long-term funding commitments - pension  (3,385,114)  (1,180,830)
Severance liability  81,400  103,891 
Provision for employee pension benefits  3,385,114  1,180,830 

 (1,532,759)  2,164,563 

Cash Flow Provided by (Used In) Investing Activities:

Purchase of short term investment  -  (1,400,000)
Purchase of capital assets  (86,064)  (72,375)

 (86,064)  (1,472,375)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash for the Year  (1,618,823)  692,188 

Cash - Beginning of Year  2,496,588  1,804,400 

Cash - End of Year $  877,765 $  2,496,588 
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COMMUNITY LAW CENTRES TOTAL
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Advertising $  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  30,357  $  30,213  $  30,357  $  30,213 

Amortization  69,024  66,857  3,781  3,548  1,452  900  38,235  27,017  112,492  98,322 

Bad debts  -  -  -  -  -  -  231,026  227,500  231,026  227,500 

Bank charges  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,172  2,565  2,172  2,565 

Collection costs  -  -  -  -  -  -  5,996  17,494  5,996  17,494 

Computer costs  15,756  2,428  114  692  -  5,720  12,219  37,442  28,089  46,282 

Council expenses  -  -  -  -  -  -  147,240  147,584  147,240  147,584 

Duty counsel  244,925  174,266  5,228  4,220  -  -  1,207  2,998  251,360  181,484 

Equipment maintenance  103,419  92,291  9,858  9,454  939  353  42,486  56,231  156,702  158,329 

 -  -  -  61,157  -  -  -  -  -  61,157 

File disbursements  361,104  283,914  181,406  232,462  806  1,327  24,131  23,424  567,447  541,127 

Library  62,437  64,384  12,103  12,901  120  134  2,913  6,152  77,573  83,571 

Meetings  17,702  22,848  443  5,214  3,221  265  18,735  25,489  40,101  53,816 

Office expenses  193,240  209,255  19,232  13,664  4,657  7,321  122,231  114,556  339,360  344,796 

Office relocation  856  3,345  1,226  -  -  -  1,415  -  3,497  3,345 

Pension costs (note 14)  -  -  -  -  -  -  4,063,251  1,967,126  4,063,251  1,967,126 

Premise costs  668,396  693,687  23,004  26,152  112  1,771  166,108  177,218  857,620  898,828 

Professional fees  144,748  100,808  12,447  10,176  570  590  110,012  110,618  267,777  222,192 

Salaries, benefits and levy  9,528,420  8,954,988  792,416  463,115  93,494  93,516  2,658,445  2,568,774  13,072,775  12,080,393 

Severance benefits  -  -  -  -  -  -  170,333  165,145  170,333  165,145 

Staff development  117,757  163,525  3,699  5,994  -  -  16,112  11,569  137,568  181,088 

Staff recruitment  21,782  37,353  129  136  10  1,435  1,521  4,581  23,442  43,505 

Telephone  103,195  103,808  7,593  6,227  3,207  3,187  60,109  56,103  174,104  169,325 

Transcripts  26,370  25,446  75  -  327  63  -  -  26,772  25,509 

Travel  103,330  110,706  9,299  5,652  7,156  5,939  25,128  29,396  144,913  151,693 

TOTAL $  11,782,461  $  11,109,909  $  1,082,053  $  860,764  $  116,071  $  122,521  $  7,951,382  $  5,809,195  $  20,931,967  $  17,902,389 

PUBLIC INTEREST LAW 
CENTRE

UNIVERSITY LAW 
CENTRE

GENERAL AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE

Expert witnesses and 
consultants
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LEGAL AID MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
for the year ended March 31, 2010

1. Nature of the Corporation

Legal Aid Manitoba (the Corporation) was established by an Act of the Legislative Assembly of 
Manitoba.

The purpose of the Corporation, as set out in the Act, is to service the public interest by:

a) Providing quality legal advice and representation to eligible low-income individuals;
b) Administering the delivery of legal aid in a cost-effective and efficient manner; and
c) Providing advice to the Minister on legal aid generally and on the specific legal needs of 

low-income individuals.

The Corporation is economically dependent upon the Province of Manitoba.  Other revenue 
sources include the Manitoba Law Foundation, individual clients, and third party agencies.

2. Significant Accounting Policies  

a) General  

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP).

b) New Accounting Policies  

Effective April 1, 2009, Legal Aid Manitoba (LAM) adopted changes to CICA handbook 
section 4400. The primary impact is the applicability of section 1540 “Cash Flow 
Statements.” Adoption of this section has resulted in additional disclosure on the Cash 
Flow Statement.

c) Financial Instruments and Risk Management  

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value.  Measurement in 
subsequent periods depends on the financial instrument’s classification.  Financial 
instruments are classified into one of the following five categories: held for trading; 
available for sale; held to maturity; loans and receivables; and other financial liabilities. 
All financial instruments classified as held for trading or available for sale are 
subsequently measured at fair value with any change in fair value recorded in net 
earnings.  All other financial instruments are subsequently measured at amortized cost. 

The financial assets and liabilities of Legal Aid Manitoba are classified and measured as 
follows: 

Financial Asset/Liability Category Subsequent Measurement

Cash Held for trading Fair value

Short term investment Held for trading Fair value

Client accounts receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost

Receivable from the Province of Manitoba Loans and receivables Amortized cost

Receivable from the Government of Canada Loans and receivables Amortized cost

Other receivables Loans and receivables Amortized cost
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Financial Asset/Liability Category Subsequent Measurement

Long term receivables:

− Charges on land

− Severance – Province of Manitoba

− Pension – Province of Manitoba

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables

Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost

Accounts payable Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

Accrued vacation pay Other financial liabilities Amortized cost

Amortized cost is determined using the effective interest rate method. 

Gains and losses on financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost are 
recognized in the statement of revenue and expense in the period the gain or loss 
occurs. Changes in fair value on financial instruments classified as held for trading are 
recognized in the statement of revenue and expense for the current period.  Changes in 
fair value on financial instruments classified as available for sale are recorded in 
statement of changes in net assets until realized, at which time they are recorded in the 
statement of revenue and expense.

The Corporation has continued to apply Section 3861: Financial Instruments – Disclosure 
and Presentation in place of sections 3862 and 3863.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument is the estimated amount that the Corporation 
would receive or pay to settle a financial asset or financial liability as at the reporting 
date.

Due to the redeemable nature of cash and short term investment, carrying value is 
considered to be fair value.

The fair values of the client accounts receivable, receivable from the Province of 
Manitoba, receivable from the Government of Canada, other receivables and accounts 
payable and accrued vacation pay approximates their carrying values due to their short-
term maturity. 

The fair value of the long-term receivable – Charges on land approximates the carrying 
value because it is estimated from an analysis of expected recoveries based on recent 
experience and discounted to reflect the time value of money.

The fair value of the long-term receivable from the Province of Manitoba - severance 
approximates its carrying value as the receivable includes an interest component as 
described in Note 7.

The fair value of the long-term receivable from the Province of Manitoba - pension 
approximates its carrying value as the receivable includes an interest component as 
described in Note 14.

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts 
shown in the balance sheet are as follows:
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2010 2009

Financial Asset/Liability Carrying 
Amount

Fair Value Carrying 
Amount

Fair Value

Cash $ 877,765 $ 877,765 $ 2,496,588 $ 2,496,588 
Short term investment 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000 
Client account receivable 235,669 235,669 192,588 192,588 
Receivable from Province of Manitoba 5,237,000 5,237,000 4,043,300 4,043,300 
Receivable from Government of Canada 110,396 110 396 - - 
Other receivables 103,848 103,848 142,069 142,069 
Long-term receivables:

− Charges on land

− Severance – Province of Manitoba

− Pension – Province of Manitoba

714,505 
716,166 

16,629,700 

714,505 
716,166 

16,629,700 

757,549 
716,166 

13,244,586 

757,549 
716,166 

13,244,586 

Accounts payable 4,797,733 4,797,733 4,110,061 4,110,061 
Accrued vacation 992,192 992,192 951,364 951,364 

Financial risk management – overview

The Corporation has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial 
instruments:

• Credit risk;

• Liquidity risk; 

• Interest rate risk; and

• Foreign currency risk

The Corporation manages its exposure to risks associated with financial instruments 
that have the potential to affect its operating performance.  The Corporation’s 
Management Council has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of 
the Corporation’s objectives, policies and procedures for measuring, monitoring and 
managing these risks.  

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an 
obligation and causes financial loss to another party.  Financial instruments which 
potentially subject the Corporation to credit risk consist principally of cash, term 
deposits and accounts receivable.  

The maximum exposure of Legal Aid Manitoba to credit risk at March 31, 2010 is:

Cash and short term investment $ 2,277,765 
Client accounts receivable 235,669 
Receivable from the Province of Manitoba 5,237,000 
Other receivables 103,848 
Long-term receivables:

− Charges on land 714,505 

− Severance – Province of Manitoba 716,166 

− Pension – Province of Manitoba 16,629,700 

$ 25,914,653 
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Cash and short term investment: The Corporation is not exposed to significant credit 
risk as the cash and short term investment are held by a large financial banking 
institution.

Clients accounts receivable includes clients that contribute toward the cost of their case 
under the agreements to pay and expanded eligibility payment programs based on a 
contract.  The Corporation manages its credit risk on these accounts receivables which 
are primarily small amounts held by a large client base.  It is typically expected that 
clients will settle their account based on their payment program.  The Corporation 
establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential 
credit losses.  

Receivables from the Province of Manitoba:  The Corporation is not exposed to 
significant credit risk as the receivable is from the provincial government.

Other receivables includes court costs, Child and Family Services agencies, Employment 
and Income Assistance, and miscellaneous.  The Corporation is not exposed to 
significant credit risk related to court costs as an allowance of  95% is set up to 
recognize the likelihood of collection.  In the case of receivables from Child and Family 
Services agencies and Employment and Income Assistance, they are funded through 
the Province of Manitoba.  Miscellaneous includes employee advances, GST and other 
recoverable costs.  Employee advances are usually paid within one month, GST is 
received quarterly and other recoverable costs are usually paid within 90 days of 
receipt of an order to pay by the courts or other authority.  

Long-term receivables – charges on land: The Corporation manages its credit risk on 
these accounts receivables which primarily consists of small amounts held by a large 
client base for which payment is secured by a lien on property.  The Corporation 
establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential 
credit losses.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is calculated on a specific 
identification basis and a general provision for the remainder.

Long-term receivables – severance and pension – Province of Manitoba:  The 
Corporation is not exposed to significant credit risk as the receivables are with the 
provincial government.

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Legal Aid Manitoba will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due.  

Legal Aid Manitoba manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances.   The 
Corporation prepares and monitors detailed forecasts of cash flows from operations and 
anticipated investing and financing activities.  Identified funding requirements are 
requested, reviewed and approved by the Minister of Finance to ensure adequate 
funding will be received to meet the obligations.  The Corporation continuously monitors 
and reviews both actual and forecasted cash flows through periodic financial reporting.
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Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The interest rate 
exposure relates to cash, short term investment and accounts payable.

The interest rate risk is considered to be low on cash and short term investment 
because of their short-term nature and low on accounts payable because they are 
typically paid when due.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  The Corporation 
is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial 
instruments denominated in foreign currency.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices will affect Legal Aid’s income or the fair values of its 
financial instruments.  The significant market risks Legal Aid is exposed to are: interest 
rate risk; foreign currency risk; and other price risk.

d) Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from 
these estimates.

e) Revenue Recognition  

The Corporation follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions.  Restricted 
contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are 
incurred.  Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or 
receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is 
reasonably assured.

f) Recognition of Contributions from Clients  

Clients may be required to pay a portion or all of the legal costs incurred on their behalf 
by Legal Aid Manitoba based on the clients' ability to pay.

i) Agreements to Pay

Clients who are able to pay, sign an agreement to pay for their portion of the 
applicable legal costs.  The amount the client is required to pay is specified on 
the Legal Aid Certificate.  The revenue and receivable are recognized when the 
certificate is signed.
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ii) Expanded Eligibility

Under terms of expanded eligibility, clients are required to pay all of the legal 
costs and an administration fee of 25% of the Corporation's cost of the case up to 
a maximum of $250.  The revenue and receivable are recognized based on the 
date of the lawyer's billing.

iii) Charges on Land

Charges on Land are registered under Section 17 of the Corporations Act in a 
Land Titles Office against property owned by clients.  The revenue and receivable 
are recognized at the later of the date the lien is filed or the date of the lawyer's 
billing.  Collection of these accounts in the future is dependent on the client 
disposing of the property or arranging for payment.

g) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

The allowances for doubtful accounts are determined annually based on a review of 
individual accounts.  The allowances represent management's best estimate of probable 
losses on receivables.  Where circumstances indicate doubt as to the ultimate 
collectability of an account, specific allowances are established for individual accounts. 
In addition to the allowances identified on an individual account basis, the Corporation 
establishes a further allowance representing management's best estimate of additional 
probable losses in the remaining accounts receivable.

h) Capital Assets  

Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization.  Amortization of 
capital assets is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
capital assets as follows:

• Furniture and office equipment – 10 years
• Computer hardware and software – 4 years
• Leasehold improvements – over the term of the lease

Work in progress assets are not amortized until the asset is available to be put into 
service.

i) Pension Plan  

Employees of the Corporation are pensionable under the Civil Service Superannuation 
Act.  The Civil Service Superannuation Plan is a defined benefit pension plan.  Legal Aid 
Manitoba is a non-matching employer.  Under provisions of the Civil Service 
Superannuation Act non-matching employers defer contributing their share of employee 
pension benefits until they are billed for 50% of the benefit payments processed.  The 
Corporation accrues a provision for the liability for the employer's share of employee 
pension benefits, including future cost of living adjustments, based on actuarial 
calculations.  When actual experience varies from actuarial estimates, the adjustment 
needed is recognized immediately in net revenue (expense) in the year that the 
actuarial gain or loss arises.
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3. Client Accounts Receivable, net  

2010 2009

Agreements to Pay $ 64,751 $ 57,974

Expanded Eligibility 570,705 411,211

635,456 469,185

Less:  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 399,787 276,597

Clients Accounts Receivable, net $ 235,669 $ 192,588

4. Other Receivables, net  

2010 2009

Court Costs $ 216,009 $ 205,390

Child and Family Services Agencies 4,419 31,131

Employment and Income Assistance 53,736 78,371

Employee Advances, GST Recoverable, and Miscellaneous 42,216 27,194

316,380 342,086

Less:  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 212,532 200,017

Other Receivables, net $ 103,848 $ 142,069

5. Capital Assets  

2010 2009

Cost Accumulated 
Amortization

Cost Accumulated 
Amortization

Furniture and Office Equipment $ 239,178 $ 115,595 $ 232,691 $ 92,001

Computer Hardware and Software 239,854 137,783 194,032 122,113

Leasehold Improvements 314,736 246,021 314,736 206,549

Work in Progress - - - -

$ 793,768 $ 499,399 $ 741,459 $ 420,663

Net Book Value $ 294,369 $ 320,796

6. Charges on Land, net: see note 2(f)  

2010 2009

Charges on Land $ 1,394,003 $ 1,432,197

Less:  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 679,498 674,648

Charges on Land, net $ 714,505 $ 757,549

7. Long-term Receivable - Severance Benefits  

The amount recorded as a receivable from the Province for severance pay was initially based 
on the estimated value of the corresponding actuarially determined liability for severance pay 
as at March 31, 1998.  Subsequent to March 31, 1998, the Province provides annual grant 
funding for severance expense.  As a result, the change in the severance liability each year is 
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fully funded.  The interest component related to the receivable is reflected in the funding for 
severance expense.  The receivable for severance pay will be paid by the Province when it is 
determined that the cash is required to discharge the related severance pay liabilities.

8. Severance Liability  

Effective April 1, 1998, Legal Aid commenced recording the estimated liability for accumulated 
severance pay benefits for their employees.  The amount of this estimated liability is based on 
actuarial calculations.  The periodic actuarial valuation of this liability may determine that an 
adjustment is needed to the actuarial calculation when actual experience is different from that 
expected and/or because of changes in actuarial assumptions used.  The resulting actuarial 
gains or losses are recognized immediately in net revenue (expense) in the year that the 
actuarial gain or loss arises.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as at March 31, 2010 by 
Ellement & Ellement Consulting Actuaries.  The Corporation's actuarially determined net 
liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2010 was $1,719,000 (2009 - $1,637,600). 
The report provides a formula to update liability on an annual basis.

Severance pay, at the employee's date of retirement, will be determined using the eligible 
employee's years of service and based on the calculation as set by the Province of Manitoba. 
The maximum payout is currently 23 weeks at the employee's weekly salary at the date of 
retirement.  Eligibility will require that the employee has achieved a minimum of nine years of 
service and that the employee is retiring from the Corporation.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2010 valuation, and in the 
determination of the March 31, 2010 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation 
were:
Annual rate of return

Inflation component 2.50%
Real rate of return 4.00%

6.50%

Assumed salary increase rates
Annual productivity increase 0.75%
Annual general salary increase 2.50%

3.25%

9. Revenue from the Province of Manitoba  

2010 2009

Grant $ 14,052,743 $ 11,473,617

Salaries and other payments 10,866,910 8,861,749

Health and post secondary education tax levy 230,541 195,210

Employer portion of employee benefits 1,464,832 755,996

Other Government Agencies 30,000 - 

$ 26,645,026 $ 21,286,572

Grant revenue from the Province of Manitoba includes the Corporation's share of provisions 
recorded for unfunded pension liabilities.
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10. Revenue from the Manitoba Law Foundation  

2010 2009

Statutory Grant $ 1,881,184 $ 3,743,943

Public Interest Law Centre 180,000 180,000

University Law Centre 86,000 86,000

$ 2,147,184 $ 4,009,943

A statutory grant, pursuant to subsection 90(1) of the Legal Profession Act, is received 
annually from the Manitoba Law Foundation.  The Corporation's share under the Act is 50% of 
the total interest on lawyers' trust accounts as received by the Foundation or a minimum of 
$1,007,629, whichever is greater.  In the event that interest received by the Foundation in the 
preceding year, after deduction of the Foundation's operational expenses, is not sufficient to 
pay the statutory minimum of $1,007,629 to the Corporation, the Act provides for pro-rata 
sharing of the net interest.

Other grants from the Manitoba Law Foundation are received pursuant to subsection 90(4) of 
the Legal Profession Act.  These grants are restricted for the Public Interest Law Centre and the 
University Law Centre.  At March 31, 2010, there were no funds remaining from these grants.

11. Commitments  

a) Lease  

The Corporation rents facilities under operating leases.  Unpaid remaining commitments 
under the leases, which expire at varying dates are:

2011 $ 687,029

2012 471,356

2013 120,229

2014 40,603

Thereafter - 

$ 1,319,217

b) Private Bar  

Estimated total commitments for future billings on outstanding Legal Aid Certificates 
amount to $2,063,000 as at March 31, 2010 (2009 - $2,284,000).

12. Related Parties Transactions  

The Corporation is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created 
departments, agencies and crown corporations.  The Corporation enters into transactions with 
these entities in the normal course of business.  These transactions are recorded at the 
exchange amount.
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13. Private Bar Fees and Disbursements  

Fees Disbursements 2010 Total 2009 Total

Legal Aid Certificates $ 8,549,484 $ 1,391,621 $ 9,941,105 $ 7,895,270

Duty Counsel 806,424 - 806,424 1,032,273

Transcripts and Other - 57,141 57,141 68,812

Total $ 9,355,908 $ 1,448,762 $ 10,804,670 $ 8,996,355

Management Council declared a hold back holiday for all certificates processed during the 
fiscal year April 1, 2009 - March 31, 2010.  Certificates issued in this fiscal year were not 
subject to a hold back.

14. Provision for Employee Pension Benefits  

Pension costs consist of benefits accrued, interest accrued on benefits and experience (gain) 
loss.  This liability is determined by an actuarial valuation every three years with the balances 
for the intervening years being determined by a formula provided by the actuary.  The most 
recent valuation was completed as at December 31, 2009 by Ellement & Ellement Consulting 
Actuaries.  The actuary has projected the pension obligation to March 31, 2010.

2010 2009

Balance at beginning of year $ 13,244,586 $ 12,063,756

Benefits accrued 656,047 573,555

Interest accrued on benefits 978,127 918,821

Benefits paid (678,137) (786,296)

Experience (Gain) Loss 2,429,077 474,750

Balance at end of year $ 16,629,700 $ 13,244,586

The Corporation’s pension costs consist of the following:

2010 2009

Benefits accrued $ 656,047 $ 573,555

Interest accrued on benefits 978,127 918,821

Experience (Gain) Loss 2,429,077 474,750

$ 4,063,251 $ 1,967,126

The key actuarial assumptions were a rate of return of 6.50% (2007 – 6.50%), 2.50% inflation 
(2007 – 2.50%), salary rate increases of 4.25% (2007 – 4.25%) and post retirement indexing 
2/3 of the inflation rate.  The projected benefit method was used and the liability has been 
extrapolated to March 31, 2010 using a formula provided by the actuary.
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The Province of Manitoba has accepted responsibility for funding of the Corporation's pension 
liability and related expense which includes an interest component.  The Corporation has 
therefore recorded a receivable from the Province equal to the estimated value of its 
actuarially determined pension liability $16,629,700 (2009 - $13,244,586), and has recorded 
revenue for 2009/10 equal to its increase in the unfunded pension liability during the year of 
$3,385,114 (2009 - $1,180,830).  The Province makes payments on the receivable when it is 
determined that the cash is required to discharge the related pension obligation.

15. Restricted Net Assets - Wrongful Conviction Cases  

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 the Province of Manitoba approved a reallocation 
of $130,000 from the Corporation's unrestricted net assets.  This funding was provided for 
section 696 applications under the Criminal Code for wrongful conviction appeals.  In the 
current fiscal year, the Corporation did not incur any expenses (2009 - $ nil) for private bar 
fees and disbursements related to wrongful conviction cases.  The balance remaining is 
$78,559.

16. Capital Management  

The Corporation’s objective when managing capital is to maintain sufficient capital to cover its 
costs of operations.

The Corporation’s capital consists of the total of the various net asset balances in the amount 
of $1,926,115 (2009 – $3,104,859).

The Corporation is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

There were no changes in the Corporation’s approach to capital management during the 
period.

17. Public Sector Compensation Disclosure  

For the purposes of the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act, all compensation for 
employees, Management Council members, and the private bar fees and disbursements from 
Legal Aid Manitoba is disclosed in a separate statement.

18. Legal Aid Manitoba Application System (LAMAS)  

A new software application system was installed and implemented fiscal 2006/07 at a cost of 
$764,850.  The system was paid for by the Department of Justice and therefore, a capital asset 
has not been recorded in these financial statements.  

19. Comparative Figures  

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's 
presentation.
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Responsibility for 
Financial Statements

The management of the Manitoba Agricultural Services Corporation is responsible for the integrity, objectivity and 

reliability of the fi nancial statements, accompanying notes and other fi nancial information in the annual report.

Management maintains internal control systems to ensure that transactions are accurately recorded in accordance with 

established policies and procedures. In addition, certain best estimates and judgements have been made based on a 

careful assessment of the available information.

The fi nancial statements and accompanying notes are examined by the Auditor General for Manitoba, whose opinion 

is included here. The Auditor General has access to MASC’s Board of Directors, with or without management present, to 

discuss the results of their audit and the quality of MASC’s fi nancial reporting.

Neil Hamilton     Jim Lewis

President & Chief Executive Offi  cer   Vice President, Finance & Administration

July 13, 2010

Original signed by Original signed by
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Original signed by
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
as at March 31, 2010 (in thousands)  

2010 2009

ASSETS

Cash  $                 1,177  $                 2,764 

Investments (Notes 4(B) & 8)  393,687  380,982 

Accounts receivable (Note 9)  23,755  52,169 

Prepaid expenses  101  99 

Loans receivable (Note 10)  310,777  309,477 

Real estate  501  501 

Property and equipment (Note 13)  267  272 

 $            730,265  $            746,264 

LIABILITIES AND FUNDS RETAINED

Reinsurance premiums payable (Notes 14 & 15)  $                 2,549  $                 6,265 

Claims payable (Note 16)  16,893  35,566 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 17)  13,043  13,811 

Provision for losses on guaranteed loans (Note 23)  15,324  15,146 

Advances from the Province of Manitoba (Note 19)  339,372  346,394 

Deferred revenue (Note 20)  267  272 

Funds retained  342,817  328,810 

 $             730,265  $            746,264 

Approved by the Board:

John S. Plohman        Frieda Krpan

Chair         Vice Chair

Original signed by Original signed by
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
OPERATIONS AND FUNDS RETAINED 
for the year ended March 31, 2010 (in thousands) 

2010 2009

REVENUE:

Insurance premiums

   Insured producers  $              92,567  $             98,588 

   Government of Canada  65,986  71,769 

   Province of Manitoba  43,990  47,846 

 202,543  218,203 

Interest from loans  20,677  20,385 

Other contributions - Government of Canada  3,301  24,605 

Other contributions - Province of Manitoba  44,319  45,513 

Investment income  1,914  7,624 

Real estate and other income  156  824 

Reinsurance recoveries (Notes 14 & 15)  19  (138)

Total revenue  272,929  317,016 

EXPENSES:

Insurance indemnities and compensation payments (Note 21)  157,347  70,272 

Reinsurance premiums (Notes 14 & 15)  32,887  33,494 

Interest on borrowed funds  17,278  17,709 

Provision for credit losses (Note 12)  1,244  3,778 

Provision for guaranteed loan losses (Note 23)  3,000  2,286 

Young farmer incentives  1,795  1,825 

Loan interest concession (Note 11)  37  1,716 

Farmland school tax rebates (Note 6)  33,089  25,121 

Other program payments (recovery)(Note 7)  (6,396)  24,766 

Administrative expenses (Schedule 2)  18,641  20,425 

Total expenses  258,922  201,392 

Net income and comprehensive income for the year  14,007  115,624 

Funds retained, beginning of year  328,810  213,186 

Funds retained, end of year (Schedule 1)  $            342,817  $            328,810 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
for the year ended March 31, 2010 (in thousands)   

2010 2009

Cash provided by (used for) 

Operating activities

Net income and comprehensive income for the year:

    Income before investment income  $            12,093  $            108,000 

    Investment income  1,914  7,624 

 14,007  115,624 

Items not involving cash:

   Change in provisions and allowances  768  4,134 

    Loan interest concession  (1,083)  1,469 

   Gain on disposal of real estate  -    (133)

   Amortization of property and equipment  97  94 

Loans disbursed  (78,410)  (94,201)

Loan principal received  77,985  69,556 

Changes in:

   Accounts receivable  27,791  (14,660)

   Prepaid expenses  (2)  1 

   Loans receivable  283  420 

   Reinsurance premiums payable  (3,716)  1,830 

   Claims payable  (18,673)  6,336 

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (809)  1,507 

   Deferred revenue  (5)  (18)

Cash provided by operating activities  18,233  91,959 

Investing activities:

   Sale (purchase) of investments  (111,997)  34,821 

   Net proceeds on sale of real estate  -    390 

   Purchase of property & equipment  (93)  (76)

Cash provided by (used for) investing activities  (112,090)  35,135 

Financing activities:

   Advances borrowed from (repaid to) the Province of Manitoba  (7,022)  21,696 

Cash provided by (used for) fi nancing activities  (7,022)  21,696 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents (100,879) 148,790 

Cash and equivalents, beginning of year  345,334  196,544 

Cash and equivalents, end of year  $          244,455  $            345,334 

Cash and equivalents comprised of the following:

Investments  $          393,687  $            380,982 

Investments with terms greater than 90 days  (150,409)  (38,412)

Investments with terms of 90 days or less  243,278  342,570 

Cash  1,177  2,764 

 $          244,455  $            345,334 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at March 31, 2010 (tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

1. AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE

The Manitoba Agricultural Credit Corporation (MACC) was established under The Agricultural Credit Corporation Act. 

The Manitoba Crop Insurance Corporation (MCIC) was established under The Crop Insurance Act. As a result of the 

proclamation of The Manitoba Agricultural Services Corporation Act, C.C.S.M. c.A25 on September 1, 2005, MACC and MCIC 

were amalgamated to form the Manitoba Agricultural Services Corporation (MASC) and the legislation establishing the 

former corporations was repealed.

MASC provides lending, insurance and other programs and services. Its core programs include direct loans to agriculture 

producers, loan guarantees, AgriInsurance and Hail Insurance. MASC also delivers the Wildlife Damage Compensation 

Program, Farmland School Tax Rebate Program and other programs and services for the agricultural industry. 

2. BASIS OF REPORTING 

MASC’s fi nancial statements are presented in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Instruments - Disclosures

For the year ended March 31, 2010, MASC adopted the amended CICA Handbook section 3862 Financial Instruments 

Disclosures relating to fair value and liquidity risk disclosures. The new requirements are for disclosure only and did not 

impact MASC’s fi nancial results. 

Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement

In August 2009, the CICA issued various amendments to Section 3855 including: non-derivative fi nancial assets with 

fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market may be classifi ed as loans and receivables; loans 

and receivables for which MASC may not recover substantially all of the initial investment, other than because of credit 

deterioration, must be classifi ed as Available for Sale; and loans and receivables that MASC intends to sell immediately or 

in the near term must be classifi ed as Held for Trading. The amendments also require reversal of impairment losses, and 

permit reclassifi cations between certain categories in certain circumstances. The amendments did not have a fi nancial 

impact on MASC’s fi nancial results.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(A) Programs 
Under the provisions of the applicable legislation, MASC delivers lending, insurance and other programs and services. 

For fi nancial accounting purposes, all programs are treated as separate operations and are accounted for separately.

(B) Investments 
Funds in excess of operational needs are invested with the Province of Manitoba, in accordance with Section 52(1) of 

The Manitoba Agricultural Services Corporation Act. 

(C) Property and Equipment and Amortization 
Property and equipment are reported at cost less accumulated amortization. Property and equipment are amortized on a 

straight-line basis over their estimated useful life, as follows:

Furniture and Equipment     10 years 

Computer Hardware     4 years 

Computer Software     4 years 

Major Software Development     8 years 

Leasehold Improvements       remaining term of lease 

Page 316



34     MANITOBA AGRICULTURAL SERVICES CORPORATION - 2009/10 ANNUAL REPORT

(D) Pensions
MASC employees are pensionable under The Civil Service Superannuation Act.

Eff ective April 1, 1998, the former MCIC became a fully funded matching employer. Upon the formation of MASC, the current 

pension obligations to the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB) for former MCIC employees continued to be matched by MASC. 

Prior to amalgamation, MACC did not match employees’ current service contributions, and instead contributed 50% of 

the pension disbursements made to retired employees. Starting September 1, 2005, the current pension contributions for 

former MACC employees have been matched. MASC accrues a provision for its liability for the pensionable service 

that was earned by former MACC employees prior to the amalgamation on September 1, 2005, that includes future 

cost of living adjustments based on an actuarial valuation. The Province of Manitoba provides funding for this liability 

(Note 9). Details of the provision for the pension benefi ts are outlined in Note 18. Actuarial gains (losses) are recorded 

in the statement of operations in the fi scal year the actuarial valuation is completed.

As a matching employer, MASC discharges its pension liability on a current basis and, therefore, has no additional pension 

obligation. MASC’s matching contributions for 2009/10 totalled $650,731.

(E) Vacation and Severance Pay 
MASC employees are entitled to vacation and severance pay in accordance with the terms of the Collective Agreements 

and corporate policy. The severance pay liability is recorded based on an actuarial valuation and vacation pay is recorded 

based on MASC’s best estimate. Actuarial gains (losses) on severance pay are recorded in the statement of operations in 

the fi scal year the actuarial valuation is completed.

(F) Provision for Losses on Loans and Loan Guarantees
The provision for loan losses is determined annually through a review of individual accounts. The provision represents 

management’s best estimate of probable losses on receivables. Where circumstances indicate doubt as to the ultimate 

collectability of principal or interest, specifi c provisions are established for individual accounts. These accounts are valued 

at the lower of their recorded value or the estimated net realizable value of the security held for the accounts. In addition 

to the provision for loss on loans identifi ed on an individual loan basis, MASC establishes a general provision representing 

management’s best estimate of additional probable losses based on other factors including the composition and credit 

quality of the portfolio and changes in economic and business conditions.

The provisions for losses on loan guarantees are determined annually through a review of each guarantee program. 

The provisions represent management’s best estimate of probable claims against the loan guarantees. Such provisions 

are intended to cover principal, accrued and unpaid interest, and any additional amounts that are recoverable by the lender.

Current year provisions for losses on loans and loan guarantees are charged as expenses to the provision for credit losses 

and the provision for guaranteed loan losses, respectively. Actual loan accounts that have been written off  and loan 

guarantee claims that have been paid are charged to the appropriate provision once all security has been realized and all 

other collection eff orts have been exhausted.

(G) Real Estate Acquired in Settlement of Loans
Real estate that is acquired through foreclosure and voluntary transfer of titles in the settlement of loans is recorded at 

the lower of the recorded value of the loan or the appraised value of the real estate at acquisition date. Real estate is 

reported net of a provision for a decline in real estate values.

(H) Real Estate Under Long-Term Lease
Real estate that was acquired for the purpose of providing long-term leases to producers through the Land Lease 

program is recorded at cost.

(I) Premiums and Government Contributions 
MASC recognizes as revenue all premiums earned on insurance policies in force during the year. 

The Canada-Manitoba AgriInsurance Agreement, which is consolidated in Annex B of “Growing Forward: A Federal 

Provincial Territorial Framework Agreement on Agriculture, Agri-Food and Agri-Based Products Policy”, provides for 

the cost sharing of AgriInsurance premiums. Premiums for standard crop loss programs are shared between insured 

producers (40%), the Government of Canada (36%) and the Province of Manitoba (24%).
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In addition to the general premium sharing noted above, alternative premium sharing arrangements apply for basic 

Excess Moisture Insurance (EMI), the EMI zero deductible option and the Fall Frost Insurance pilot program.

(J) Administrative Expenses 

Identifi able administrative expenses for all of the programs administered by MASC are charged directly to the specifi c 

program. Where the direct charging of administrative expenses to specifi c programs is not possible, these expenses are 

allocated to each program on a basis approved by MASC’s Board of Directors. 

The Canada-Manitoba AgriInsurance Agreement referred to in Section (I) of this note, stipulates that administrative expenses, 

net of any administrative revenues, will be shared by the Government of Canada (60%) and the Province of Manitoba (40%). 

(K) Use of Estimates 

Preparing MASC’s fi nancial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that aff ect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure 

of contingent liabilities as of the date of the fi nancial statements, and reported amounts of revenue and expenses 

during the period. Actual results may diff er from these estimates. Signifi cant estimates are made by management in the 

following balances: accounts receivable, loans receivable, claims payable, accounts payable and the provision for losses 

on guaranteed loans.

(L) Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and their subsequent measurement is dependent on 

their classifi cation as described below. Their classifi cation depends on the purpose for which the fi nancial instruments 

were acquired or issued, their characteristics and MASC’s designation of such instruments.

Classifi cations
MASC has designated its fi nancial instruments as follows:

Held for trading:   Cash

Held to maturity:   Investments

Loans and receivables:  Accounts receivable

    Loans receivable

Other liabilities:   Reinsurance premiums payable

    Claims payable

    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

    Advances from the Province of Manitoba

    Provision for losses on guaranteed loans

Held for trading

Held for trading fi nancial assets are fi nancial assets typically acquired for resale prior to maturity or that are designated 

as held for trading. They are measured at fair value at the balance sheet date. Fair value fl uctuations including interest 

earned, interest accrued, gains and losses realized on disposal, and unrealized gains and losses, are all included in other 

income.

Held to maturity 

Held to maturity fi nancial assets are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments and a fi xed 

maturity, other than loans and receivables that an entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 

These fi nancial assets are measured at amortized cost using the eff ective interest method.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are accounted for at amortized cost using the eff ective interest method.

Other liabilities

Other liabilities are recorded at amortized cost using the eff ective interest method and include all fi nancial liabilities 

other than derivative instruments.

MASC uses the eff ective interest method to recognize interest income or expense, which includes discounts recognized 

on loans with concessionary terms. Transaction costs related to all fi nancial instruments are expensed as incurred.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Certain fi nancial instruments are valued at cost, with adjustments for any applicable allowance for doubtful accounts. 

This applies to investments, accounts receivable (excluding receivables related to pension and severance pay liabilities), 

reinsurance premiums payable, claims payable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities (excluding pension and 

severance pay liabilities). Cost approximates fair market value for these instruments due to their short-term nature. 

The fair value of fi nancial assets designated as held for trading (cash) are determined based on quoted prices in active 

markets for identical assets and categorized as “Level One of the Fair Value Hierarchy” as described in CICA Handbook 

Section 3862.

 

The carrying values of MASC’s pension and severance pay liabilities are based on actuarial valuations adjusted over 

time for the eff ect of interest and payouts since the valuations were performed. The carrying value of these liabilities 

approximates their fair values as the interest component is comparable to current market rates. The carrying values of 

the related pension and severance receivables approximates their fair values as their carrying values are derived from 

the related pension and severance liabilities.

Diff erences between the book value and the fair value of loans receivable and advances from the Province of Manitoba 

are caused by deviations between the interest rate at the time of the original loan and the current interest rate for the 

same loan product. 

While fair value amounts are designed to represent estimates of the amounts at which assets and liabilities could be 

exchanged in a current transaction between arm’s-length willing parties, MASC normally holds all of its loans receivable 

and amounts received from the Province of Manitoba to their maturity date. Consequently, the fair values presented 

are estimates derived by taking into account changes in interest rates and may not be indicative of net realizable value. 

Furthermore, as many of MASC’s fi nancial instruments lack an available trading market, the fair value of loans with fi xed 

rates are estimated using a discounted cash fl ow model with discount rates that are based on current market interest 

rates for similar types of loans. For loans receivable, the discount rate is MASC’s current lending rates for similar loan 

products, and for advances from the Province of Manitoba, MASC’s current borrowing rate from the Province of Manitoba 

for similar loan products is used.

The fair value of the provision for losses on guaranteed loans has also been calculated using a discounted cash fl ow 

model using the current Bank of Canada Treasury Bill rate as the discount rate.

The book values and the fair values for each category of fi nancial instruments are presented in the following table:

As at March 31, 2010 As at March 31, 2009

Financial assets/

liabilities at cost 

or amortized cost

Estimated 

fair value

Fair value greater

(less than) 

book value

Financial assets/

liabilities at cost 

or amortized cost

Estimated 

fair value

Fair value greater

(less than) 

book value

Financial assets:

Loans receivable $ 342,353 $ 353,282 $   10,929 $  342,211 $  373,236 $     31,025

Financial liabilities:

Advances from the    

   Province of Manitoba

$ 339,372 $ 360,405 $   21,033 $  346,394 $  365,661 $     19,267

Provision for losses on 

   guaranteed loans

$    15,324 $    14,501 $      (823) $     15,146 $    14,580 $        (566)

5. WILDLIFE DAMAGE COMPENSATION PROGRAM 

MASC administers the Wildlife Damage Compensation Program, which pays producers for 80% of damage to agricultural 

crops and related products caused by waterfowl or wildlife (big game animals), and the injury or death of domestic 

livestock caused by natural predators. Compensation and all administrative expenses are shared by the Government 

of Canada (60%) and the Province of Manitoba (40%). 
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6. FARMLAND SCHOOL TAX REBATE PROGRAM

In April 2005, MASC became responsible for administering the Farmland School Tax Rebate Program. The purpose of 

the program is to assist Manitoba farmland owners by providing a rebate on the school tax paid on farmland. The rebate 

was increased from 70% for the 2008 property tax year to 75% in 2009. The program provides a three-year time frame 

for claiming rebates. Recorded rebate payments for the 2009 tax year of $33,089,000 include a provision of $3,799,000 

for rebates that have not yet been applied for. A provision of $1,145,000 remains for prior year rebates that remain 

unclaimed. The Province of Manitoba pays for the full cost of the Farmland School Tax Rebate Program.

7. OTHER PROGRAMS

Inspection Services
In support of Manitoba’s agricultural sector, MASC provides inspection services at a reasonable cost (i.e. on a breakeven 

basis). These services include: grain audits for cash advances issued by the Canadian Wheat Board, production loss 

assessments for windmill construction and maintenance, certifi cates of local production for vendors at the St. Norbert 

Farmers Market, third-party loss appraisals for private sector property insurers, and on-farm livestock inspections for 

the Manitoba Livestock Cash Advance Program. Such services totalled $68,000 (2009 - $152,100).

Manitoba Bovine T.B. Mustering Compensation Program
In April 2008, MASC became responsible for the administration of the Manitoba Bovine T.B. Mustering Compensation 

Program. The program is being funded by the Government of Manitoba for the purpose of providing for the cost of 

gathering animals for the Canadian Food Inspection Agency testing for bovine tuberculosis (T.B.). Compensation 

payments totalled $77,000 (2009 - $235,400) with administrative expenses of $2,000 (2009 - $10,000).

Manitoba Forage Assistance Program 
In September 2008, MASC became responsible for the administration of the Manitoba Forage Assistance Program. 

The purpose of the program is to provide fi nancial assistance for the transport of feed and livestock for farmers aff ected 

by excess moisture and drought conditions. Funding is provided 60% by the Government of Canada and 40% by the 

Province of Manitoba (as an AgriRecovery initiative). A provision of $2,000,000 was accrued at March 31, 2009 for the 

estimated costs of the program. Actual compensation payments and administrative expenses were $2,245,000 and 

$115,000, respectively, for a total cost of $2,360,000. This resulted in an additional expenditure of $360,000 in 2009/10.

 

Manitoba Livestock Feed Assistance Program 
In March 2009, MASC became responsible for the administration of the Manitoba Livestock Feed Assistance Program. 

The purpose of the program was to provide assistance to livestock producers in the Interlake/Westlake area who were 

short of feed due to excess moisture conditions in 2008. Funding as an AgriRecovery initiative was provided 60% by the 

Government of Canada and 40% by the Province of Manitoba. A provision of $15,200,000 was accrued at March 31, 2009 

for the estimated cost of the program, comprised of $14,800,000 for program payments and $400,000 for administrative 

expenses. Actual compensation payments and administrative expenses were $11,177,000 and $282,000, respectively, for 

a total cost of $11,459,000. This resulted in a net recovery of $3,741,000 for the year ended March 31, 2010, causing less 

funding to be required from the two levels of government.

Manitoba Forage Restoration Assistance Program 
In March 2009, MASC became responsible for the administration of the Manitoba Forage Restoration Assistance Program. 

The purpose of the program was to provide assistance to forage producers in the Interlake/Westlake area in order to restore 

forage crops damaged by excess moisture in 2008. Funding as an AgriRecovery initiative was provided 60% by the 

Government of Canada and 40% by the Province of Manitoba. A provision of $10,284,000 was accrued at March 31, 2009 

for the estimated cost of the program, comprised of $9,884,000 for program payments and $400,000 for administrative 

expenses. Actual compensation payments and administrative expenses were $5,645,000 and $315,000, respectively, for 

a total cost of $5,960,000. This resulted in a net recovery of $4,324,000 for the year ended March 31, 2010, causing less 

funding to be required from the two levels of government.

Manitoba Interlake Unseeded Land Restoration Program
In March 2010, MASC became responsible for the administration of the Manitoba Interlake Unseeded Land Restoration 

Program. The purpose of the program is to provide fi nancial assistance in the northern Interlake area so that land aff ected 

by extended periods of excess moisture can be rehabilitated to facilitate the planting of the 2010 crop. Funding as an 
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AgriRecovery initiative was provided 60% by the Government of Canada and 40% by the Province of Manitoba. As of 

March 31, 2010, the funding from the Province of Manitoba had been committed and a provision of $1,100,000 was set 

up, comprised of $1,020,000 for program payments and $80,000 for administrative expenses. The Government of Canada 

approved their $1,650,000 share of the program funding in May 2010, with $1,530,000 for program payments 

and $120,000 for administration.

Discontinued Programs
For the year ended March 31, 2010, MASC recovered $75,000 for provisions for claims on emergency assistance programs 

that have been discontinued.

 

8. INVESTMENTS

MASC’s investments as of March 31, 2010 consist of the following:

Investment 

Maturity 

Terms

Average 

Interest 

Rate 

AgriInsurance 

Program

Hail 

Insurance 

Program

Farmland 

School Tax 

Rebate Program

Other 

Programs

2010

Total

2009

Total

1 year 0.334%     $    339,270 43,002 3,588             727 $        386,587 $        373,682

2 years 4.180% - 1,500 - - 1,500 2,700

3 years 4.474% - 3,100 - - 3,100 1,500

4 years 2.800% - 625 - - 625 3,100

5 years 2.961% - 1,875 - - 1,875 -

0.720% $    339,270 50,102 3,588             727 $        393,687 $        380,982

9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

MASC’s accounts receivable as of March 31, 2010 consist of the following: 

Lending 

Programs

AgriInsurance 

Program

Hail 

Insurance 

Program

Farmland 

School Tax 

Rebate Program

Other 

Programs

2010

Total

2009

Total

Insured producers $                    - 2,648 1,204 - - $               3,852 $             4,347

Government of 

Canada

- 6,224 - - 401 6,625 23,760

Province of Manitoba 5,974 3,762 - 1,736 1,361 12,833 23,495

Accrued investment 

interest

- 243 121 - - 364 401

Reinsurance receivable - 9 - - - 9 11

Other 23 49 - - - 72 155

$           5,997 12,935 1,325 1,736 1,762 $            23,755 $           52,169

Receivables from the Province of Manitoba related to:

Pension liability

The Province of Manitoba has accepted responsibility for funding MASC’s pension liability (for pensionable service earned 

by employees of the former MACC prior to amalgamation on September 1, 2005) and related expense, which includes 

an interest component.  MASC has therefore recorded a receivable from the Province of Manitoba equal to the estimated 

value of its actuarially determined pension liability of $5,974,000 as of March 31, 2010 (2009 - $5,917,000), and has recorded 

a reduction in revenue for 2009/10 equal to the related pension expense reduction of $57,000 (2009 – $295,000). 
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The Province of Manitoba makes payments on the receivable when it is determined that the cash is required to discharge 

the related pension obligation.

The carrying value of the receivable approximates its fair value as the interest component described above is comparable 

to current market rates.

Vacation pay liability

The amount recorded as a receivable from the Province of Manitoba for vacation pay expenses was initially based on the 

estimated value of the corresponding liability as of March 31, 1999. Subsequent to that date, the Province of Manitoba 

has included in its ongoing annual funding to MASC, an amount equal to its share of the current year’s expense for 

vacation pay entitlements. As of March 31, 2010, the receivable for vacation pay liability was $169,000 (2009 - $169,000).

Severance pay liability

The amount recorded as a receivable from the Province of Manitoba for severance pay was initially based on the estimated 

value of the corresponding actuarially determined liability for severance pay as of March 31, 1999. Subsequent to that 

date, the Province of Manitoba has included in its ongoing annual funding to MASC an amount equal to its share 

of the current year’s expense for severance. As a result, the change in the severance liability each year is fully funded. 

The interest component related to the receivable is refl ected in the funding for severance pay expense. The receivable 

for severance pay will be paid by the Province of Manitoba when it is determined that the cash is required to discharge 

the related severance pay liabilities. As of March 31, 2010, the receivable for severance pay liability was $429,000 

(2009 - $429,000).

The carrying value of the receivable approximates its fair value as the interest component described above is comparable 

to current market rates.

10. LOANS RECEIVABLE

MASC’s loans receivable as of March 31, 2010 consist of the following:

Amounts are due over the following terms:
Regular Program 

Loans

Special Assistance 

Loans*

2010 2009

1 year Accrued interest $                  6,733 $                 1,527 $                8,260 $              8,804

Arrears 7,769 5,069 12,838 12,584

Prepayments (6,114) (680) (6,794) (7,740)

Regular instalments 32,715 5,333 38,048 34,801

41,103 11,249 52,352 48,449

2 years Regular instalments 19,113 6,697 25,810 25,264

3 years Regular instalments 18,526 13,273 31,799 25,907

4 years Regular instalments 18,078 14,106 32,184 31,695

5 years Regular instalments 17,032 10,706 27,738 31,552

Over 5 years Regular instalments 148,007 24,463 172,470 179,344

261,859 80,494 342,353 342,211

Less:  Unamortized discount on loans with concessionary interest rates - 606 606 1,690

261,859 79,888 341,747 340,521

Less:  Provisions for credit losses 12,280 18,690 30,970 31,044

$               249,579 $              61,198 $             310,777          $    309,477

*Includes Manitoba Hog Assistance, BSE Recovery, Producer Recovery, Flood Proofi ng Assistance and Enterprise Development loans.
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A portion of the loans receivable will be paid through funding for the Young Farmer Rebate (YFR) program that is 

provided by the Province of Manitoba. Clients earn the rebate in equal payments over the fi rst fi ve years of the loan. 

Over the next fi ve years, YFR will provide approximately $5.4 million in payments towards the loan receivable balance.

Terms of Loans Receivable

All loans have fi xed rates, with an interest rate breakdown as follows:

Regular Program 

Loans

Special Assistance 

Loans*

2010 2009

2.0% and lower $ - $ 100 $ 100 $ 3,190

2.01% to 3.0% 14,217 1,247 15,464 30,828

3.01% to 4.0% 14,727 2,039 16,766 6,517

4.01% to 5.0% 13,369 34,971 48,340 9,569

5.01% to 6.0% 30,165 30,308 60,473 60,440

6.01% to 7.0% 151,745 11,648 163,393 180,945

7.01% to 8.0% 35,986 178 36,164 48,006

More than 8.0% 1,650 3 1,653 2,716

Average rate of 5.887% $ 261,859 $ 80,494 $ 342,353 $ 342,211

*Includes Manitoba Hog Assistance, BSE Recovery, Producer Recovery, Flood Proofi ng Assistance and Enterprise Development loans.

Loans maturities are as follows:

Regular Program 

Loans

Special Assistance 

Loans*

2010 2009

Less than 5 years $ 43,831 $ 25,416 $ 69,247 $ 66,373

5 years to up to 10 years 53,077 50,384 103,461 109,527

10 years to up to 15 years 77,646 4,694 82,340 77,901

15 years to up to 20 years 62,818 - 62,818 65,895

20 years to up to 25 years 24,487 - 24,487 22,515

$                   261,859 $ 80,494 $ 342,353 $ 342,211

*Includes Manitoba Hog Assistance, BSE Recovery, Producer Recovery, Flood Proofi ng Assistance and Enterprise Development loans.

Impaired Loans

A loan becomes impaired as a result of deterioration in credit quality to the extent that MASC no longer has reasonable 

assurance of timely collection of the full amount of principal and interest. The table below provides the amount of 

impaired loans and the specifi c provision for credit losses on these loans as of March 31, 2010.

Regular Program 

Loans

Special Assistance 

Loans*

2010 2009

Total impaired loans $ 20,941 $ 17,397 $ 38,338 $ 33,887

Less: Specifi c provision 5,636 11,132 16,768 14,122

$ 15,305 $ 6,265 $ 21,570 $ 19,765

*Includes Manitoba Hog Assistance, BSE Recovery, Producer Recovery, Flood Proofi ng Assistance and Enterprise Development loans

A total of $2,205,000 (2009 - $2,086,000) of interest on impaired loans was included in revenue for the year ended March 31, 2010.
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Loans Receivable by Economic Sector

Regular Program 

Loans

Special Assistance 

Loans*

2010 2009

Grains and oilseeds $ 142,069 $ 8,814 $ 150,883 $ 147,098

Potatoes 746 77 823 1,250

Other crops 7,402 141 7,543 8,799

Cattle 94,571 25,131 119,702 127,296

Hogs 6,777 40,129 46,906 45,090

Poultry 33 17 50 106

Dairy 4,064 313 4,377 3,554

Other 6,197 5,872 12,069 9,018

$ 261,859 $ 80,494 $ 342,353 $ 342,211

*Includes Manitoba Hog Assistance, BSE Recovery, Producer Recovery, Flood Proofi ng Assistance and Enterprise Development loans.

11. UNAMORTIZED DISCOUNT ON LOANS WITH CONCESSIONARY INTEREST

Loans receivable includes loans made under the Manitoba Hog Assistance Loans program implemented in February 2008,

which have an interest concession for the fi rst three years of the eight-year amortization period. Interest rates were 2.25% 

(with a one percentage point discount for young farmers under the age of 40 years) for the fi rst year, rising to 4.5% (with 

a one percentage point discount for young farmers carried forward) for the next two years. The full amount of the net 

present value of the interest concessions was expensed when the loans were disbursed and is recorded as interest revenue 

over the term of the interest concession. The balance of Manitoba Hog Assistance Loans was $42,685,000 on March 31, 

2010 and after a present value discount of $606,000 (net of amortization for interest write-back) for the loan interest 

concessions was applied, the balance was reduced to $42,079,000. The present value discount of $606,000 is the net of 

the total loan interest concession expense of $1,974,000 (2010 - $37,000; 2009 - $1,716,000 and 2008 - $221,000) less 

the present value discount amortization of $1,368,000 (2010 - $1,121,000 and 2009 - $247,000), which was included in 

interest revenue.

12. PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES

The provision for credit losses for lending programs consists of: 

Regular Program 

Loans

Special Assistance 

Loans*

2010 2009

Specifi c provision $ 5,636 $ 11,132 $ 16,768 $ 14,122

General provision 6,644 7,558 14,202 16,922

Ending provision balance $ 12,280 $ 18,690 $ 30,970 $ 31,044

*Includes Manitoba Hog Assistance, BSE Recovery, Producer Recovery, Flood Proofi ng Assistance and Enterprise Development loans
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Regular Program 

Loans

Special Assistance 

Loans*

2010 2009

Beginning provision balance $ 12,861 $ 18,183 $ 31,044 $ 28,996

Loans written off (150) (282) (432) (1,238)

Provision expense (recovery) (431) 789 358 3,286

Ending provision balance $ 12,280 $ 18,690 $ 30,970 $ 31,044

 

*Includes Manitoba Hog Assistance, BSE Recovery, Producer Recovery, Flood Proofi ng Assistance and Enterprise Development loans.

Loans Past Due But Not Impaired

Loans that are past due but not impaired are generally loans for which it is thought that the client has suffi  cient cash 

fl ow to meet their payment obligations and the loan is adequately secured. The majority of MASC’s term loans have 

semi-annual payments and therefore a loan that is in the ‘Less than 1 year’ category is generally only one payment in 

arrears. Two payments in arrears puts the loan in the ‘1 to 2 years’ category. In addition, Stocker Loans, which provide 

short-term fi nancing for the purchase or retention of feeder cattle, are due at the end of their term, which is generally 

one year. Any delay in the sale of the cattle at the end of the term may put the loan in arrears; however, these loans are 

normally paid in full once the associated cattle are sold.

Regular Program 

Loans

Special Assistance 

Loans*

2010 2009

Less than 1 year in arrears $ 6,013 $ 1,383 $ 7,396 $ 8,542

1 to 2 years in arrears 2,578 1,472 4,050 6,806

Over 2 years in arrears 176 111 287 668

Total past due $ 8,767 $ 2,966 $ 11,733 $ 16,016

*Includes Manitoba Hog Assistance, BSE Recovery, Producer Recovery, Flood Proofi ng Assistance and Enterprise Development loans.

13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment owned at March 31, 2010, include the following:

2010 2009

Cost Accumulated 

Amortization

Cost Accumulated 

Amortization

Furniture and equipment $ 398 $ 245 $ 342 $ 213

Computer hardware 243 177 214 151

Computer software 195 180 195 157

Major software development 2,907 2,907 2,907 2,907

Leasehold improvements 344 311 344 302

$ 4,087 $ 3,820 $ 4,002 $ 3,730

Net book value $ 267 $ 272

The expense for the provision of credit losses of $1,244,000 (2009 - $3,778,000) is made up of $358,000 (2009 - $3,286,000) 

for lending programs and a total of $886,000 (2009 - $492,000) for the AgriInsurance and Hail Insurance programs.  The 

change in the provision for credit losses for lending programs is as follows:
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14. REINSURANCE – AGRIINSURANCE PROGRAM 

In accordance with the terms of the reinsurance agreement between the Government of Canada and the Province of 

Manitoba, the two levels of government maintain separate reinsurance accounts. MASC pays reinsurance premiums to 

the Crop Reinsurance Fund of Canada for Manitoba and to the Crop Reinsurance Fund of Manitoba, based on the amount 

of premiums collected and the cumulative fi nancial balance of the AgriInsurance program. 

When indemnities paid to insured producers exceed the funds retained by MASC, after accounting for private sector 

reinsurance recoveries, transfers are made from the reinsurance funds to MASC. Interest is neither credited nor charged 

to the respective reinsurance funds by the Government of Canada or the Province of Manitoba. Surpluses in the Crop 

Reinsurance Fund of Canada for Manitoba and the Crop Reinsurance Fund of Manitoba are held by the Government 

of Canada and the Province of Manitoba, respectively.

Crop Reinsurance Fund 

of Canada for Manitoba

Crop Reinsurance Fund 

of Manitoba

2010 2009 2010 2009

Opening surplus (defi cit) $ 3,152 $ 2,174 $ 25,171 $ 24,193

Current year premium contributions (net)* 905 978 905 978

Net book value $ 4,057 $ 3,152 $ 26,076 $ 25,171

*Current year reinsurance premium contributions are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts, which is a recovery of $5,800 (2009 - $6,000).

In addition to the fi nancial protection provided by federal-provincial reinsurance as noted above, MASC entered into 

a one-year agreement with private sector reinsurers. The private sector reinsurance agreement involves 24 reinsuring 

companies assuming 90% of losses (including a deemed loss adjustment expense) from 15.0% to 27.5% of AgriInsurance 

liability (coverage). Reinsurance premiums were $29,743,000 (2009 - $30,171,000). Private sector reinsurance recoveries 

were $19,000 (2009 - $138,000 reimbursement), which were for outstanding prior year claims.

15. REINSURANCE – HAIL INSURANCE PROGRAM

Starting in 2007/08, MASC entered into a three-year agreement with private sector reinsurers for the Hail Insurance 

program. The agreement involves eight reinsuring companies assuming 80% of hail insurance losses (including actual 

loss adjustment expenses) from 4.25% to 7.00% of hail insurance liability (coverage). Reinsurance premiums were 

$1,340,000 (2009 - $1,361,000) with no reinsurance recoveries (2009 - nil).

 

16. CLAIMS PAYABLE 

Claims payable of $16,893,000 (2009 - $35,566,000) includes: a provision of $9,300,000 (2009 - $3,530,000) for the 

AgriInsurance program, which represents the liability associated with unpaid claims and the over-winter deterioration of 

unharvested crops; a provision of $4,944,000 (2009 - $4,297,000) for outstanding Farmland School Tax Rebate payments; 

a provision of $309,000 (2009 - $539,000) for the Wildlife Damage Compensation Program; and provisions of $1,047,000 

(2009 - $25,678,000) for outstanding payments for Other Programs, of which $1,020,000 relates to the Manitoba Interlake 

Unseeded Land Restoration Program (an AgriRecovery initiative) outlined at the end of Note 7.
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17. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at March 31, 2010, include the following:

Lending 

Programs

AgriInsurance 

Program

Wildlife Damage 

Compensation 

Program

Other 

Programs

2010 

Total

2009

Total

Province of Manitoba $ - 1,252 9 653 $ 1,914 $ 1,763

Accrued vacation pay - 1,096 - - 1,096 1,027

Provision for pension 

obligations (Note 18)

5,974 37 - - 6,011 5,935

Provision for severance 

obligations 

- 2,228 - - 2,228 2,036

Other 408 1,294 - 92 1,794 3,050

$ 6,382 5,907 9 745 $ 13,043 $ 13,811

18. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE PENSION BENEFITS

MASC’s employees are eligible for defi ned benefi t pensions under The Civil Service Superannuation Act. As outlined in Note 

4(D), MASC contributes 50% of the pension disbursements made to retired employees of the former MACC for service up 

to September 1, 2005. In addition, MASC has a pension liability for employees whose earnings are out of the scope of the 

Civil Service Superannuation Fund plan.

Actuarial valuations are to be carried out every three years to provide an estimate of the accrued liability for unfunded 

pension benefi ts. An actuarial valuation of the pension obligations as of December 31, 2007 was conducted by Ellement 

& Ellement. The key actuarial assumptions include a rate of return of 6.50% (2004 - 6.50%), infl ation of 2.5% (2004 - 2.5%), 

salary rate increases of 3.25% (2004 - 3.25%) and post retirement indexing at two-thirds of the infl ation rate. The accrued 

benefi t cost method with salary projection was used and the liabilities have been extrapolated to March 31, 2010 using 

a formula provided by the actuary. The following table provides the calculation of the liability for pension benefi ts of 

$6,011,000 (2009 - $5,935,000):

2010 2009

Accrued pension liability – beginning of year $ 5,935 $ 6,225

Experience loss (gain) (88) (439)

Benefi ts accrued 13 4

Interest accrued on benefi ts 419 398

Benefi ts paid (268) (253)

Accrued pension liability – end of year $ 6,011 $ 5,935

19. ADVANCES FROM THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Following practices established by the Province of Manitoba, MASC must repay advances according to the amortization 

schedule or be subject to a prepayment penalty. The prepayment penalty is calculated as the net present value of the 

future cash fl ows of the loan being prepaid minus the net present value of a loan with the same terms, except for the 

interest rate, which is equal to the semi-annual non-callable Province of Manitoba bond rate for a bond with the same 

term to maturity.

Advances are repayable in equal annual blended instalments of principal and interest, with interest rates ranging from 

1% to 8%. The average interest rate for MASC’s entire portfolio as of March 31, 2010 was 4.826% (2009 - 4.973%).
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Maturities of principal over the following terms 2010 2009

1 year $ 67,877 $ 72,790

2 years 48,016 44,547

3 years 44,092 44,554

4 years 32,782 40,486

5 years 28,932 29,016

More than 5 years 117,673 115,001

$ 339,372 $ 346,394

20. DEFERRED REVENUE 

Deferred revenue represents administrative subsidies provided by the Government of Canada and the Province of 

Manitoba and is used to acquire property and equipment. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue when amortization 

is recorded on property and equipment. 

21. INDEMNITIES

AgriInsurance indemnities of $146,694,000 (2009 - $57,834,000) represent $146,762,000 for the 2009/10 crop year and a 

reduction of $68,000 as a result of an excess in the estimate of claims payable as of March 31, 2009.

 22. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

MASC has entered into a number of long-term lease agreements. The minimum payments under these leases are as follows: 

Year Ending March 31 Lease Agreement Amounts

2011 $                                        66

2012 22

2013 6

2014 and beyond -

$                                        94

 

23. LOAN GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES  

(A) Contingent liabilities and the corresponding provisions for MASC’s loan guarantee programs as of March 31, 2010 are 

shown below:

Contingent Liability Provision for Losses

2010 2009 2010 2009

Operating Credit Guarantees for Agriculture $ 10,554 $ 11,156 $ 1,079 $ 1,343

Operating Credit Guarantees for Rural Small Business 83 - 8 -

Manitoba Livestock Associations Loan Guarantees 5,613 5,234 1,403 1,308

Diversifi cation Loan Guarantees 4,391 5,254 659 788

Enhanced Diversifi cation Loan Guarantees 56,593 58,116 12,175 11,707

$ 77,234 $ 79,760 $ 15,324 $ 15,146
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The change in the provision for guaranteed loan losses is as follows:

2010 2009

Beginning provision balance $ 15,146 $ 13,240

Guaranteed loan claims paid (net) (2,614) (302)

Provision expense 2,792 2,208

Ending provision balance $ 15,324 $ 15,146

Rural Entrepreneur Assistance (REA) guaranteed loan claims of $208,000 (2009 - $78,000) were added to the $2,792,000 

(2009 - $2,208,000) in provision expense for a total cost of $3,000,000 (2009 - $2,286,000). (When REA administration 

was transferred to MASC in 2005, the Manitoba Government agreed to maintain the contingent liability associated with 

existing and future REA loan guarantees. Therefore, MASC’s expenditure for REA is the guaranteed loan claims that are 

paid by MASC and subsequently recovered from the Province of Manitoba.)

The Operating Credit Guarantee for Agriculture program was introduced in 2003, replacing the Guaranteed Operating Loan 

program. Participating lending institutions are provided a guarantee of 25% of each individual loan made under the program. 

The maximum allowable loan is $450,000 for individuals and $700,000 for partnerships, corporations and co-operatives.

The Operating Credit Guarantee for Rural Small Business program was introduced in June 2009. Participating lending 

institutions are provided a guarantee of 25% of each individual loan made under the program. To be eligible for the 

program, annual sales have to be less than $2.0 million. The maximum allowable loan is $200,000.

The Manitoba Livestock Associations Loan Guarantee program was introduced in 1991. For each association, MASC provides 

a 25% guarantee to an association’s lending institution with a maximum of $5,000,000 in loans for each association.

The Diversifi cation Loan Guarantee program was introduced in 1995 to provide guarantees on loans made by 

participating lenders for diversifi cation or farm value-added activities. Under this program, 25% of the lender’s total 

associated loan portfolio was guaranteed. The maximum allowable individual loan was $3.0 million.

In 2001, the Diversifi cation Loan Guarantee program was replaced by the Enhanced Diversifi cation Loan Guarantee 

program. Under the new program, guarantees are based on 25% of the original principal amount of each individual loan, 

with no maximum loan amount.

(B) As of March 31, 2010, MASC had approved but not disbursed loans in the amount of $13,660,580 (2009 - $22,179,566).

(C)  Various legal actions for additional indemnity payments have been commenced by insured producers against MASC.

The outcome of these claims cannot be determined at this time.

 

24. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

MASC’s objective when managing capital is to maintain suffi  cient funds to cover current and future insurance and 

lending related cash outfl ows, and to fund its other initiatives. MASC’s capital consists of its funds retained.

MASC meets its capital objectives through revenues taken in, grants, and advances from the Province of Manitoba and 

the Government of Canada. The Manitoba Agricultural Services Corporations Act establishes MASC’s borrowing authority, 

based on the approval of the Lieutenant-Governor in Council.

MASC is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements, however, for the AgriInsurance program, MASC must 

meet the fi nancial self-sustaining criteria defi ned by the Government of Canada in its related regulation. The current 

fi nancial self-sustaining criteria requires that premiums be set so that the AgriInsurance program can recover from a 

defi ned worst case defi cit within a specifi ed number of years. MASC’s most recent actuarial review (Note 26) indicates 

that MASC’s AgriInsurance program meets the Government of Canada’s fi nancial self-sustaining criteria.

There were no changes in MASC’s approach to capital management during the period.
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25. RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial instruments comprise the majority of MASC’s assets and liabilities. For its lending operations, MASC borrows 

from the Province of Manitoba at fi xed rates and then provides fi xed term loans to its clients at rates that earn a 

reasonable interest rate margin. For its insurance operations, MASC invests the programs’ funds retained mainly in 

short-term funds, in order to have suffi  cient capital available to make insurance payments when losses exceed the 

available funds in the current year (premium income plus interest revenue less reinsurance premiums).

MASC’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse risk, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, 

and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Board 

of Directors approves these policies and management is responsible to ensure that the policies are properly carried out. 

The Board receives confi rmation that the risks are being appropriately managed through regular reporting, third party 

compliance reporting and by reviews conducted by MASC’s internal auditors.

MASC is exposed to credit, liquidity and market risks in respect of its use of fi nancial instruments.

 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a fi nancial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes fi nancial loss 

to another party. Financial instruments that potentially subject MASC to credit risk consist principally of investments, 

accounts receivable, loans receivable and guarantees on loans.

MASC’s maximum possible exposure to credit risk is as follows:

2010 2009

Investments $ 393,687 $ 380,982

Accounts receivable 23,755 52,169

Loans receivable 310,777 309,477

Loan guarantees 77,481 79,760

$ 805,700 $ 822,388

Investments - MASC is not exposed to signifi cant credit risk as the investments are held by the Province of Manitoba, and 

the Province of Manitoba guarantees the associated payments of principal and interest.

Accounts Receivable - MASC is not exposed to signifi cant credit risk as 82% of the accounts receivable is from the 

Government of Canada and the Province of Manitoba, with payment in full typically collected when due. The remainder 

of the accounts receivable consists largely of insurance premiums due from participating producers. The insurance 

programs off er credit for producer premiums, which are due and payable at the time of billing. Interest is charged on 

premiums that are not paid by October 31 of that crop year. March 31 is the fi nal payment deadline. Producers who have 

not made acceptable arrangements to pay will have their insurance contracts cancelled for the upcoming year. 

The importance of insurance programs to the fi nancial well being of an ongoing farming operation serves to mitigate 

the credit risk associated with insurance premiums.

Loans Receivable - Impairment provisions are provided for losses that have been incurred as of the balance sheet date. 

Signifi cant changes in Manitoba’s agricultural economy or deterioration in specifi c sectors of the industry, which 

represent a concentration within the overall loan portfolio, may result in losses that are diff erent from those provided for 

at the balance sheet date. Management of credit risk is an integral part of MASC’s activities and it is monitored carefully 

with appropriate remedial actions being taken.

The Board of Directors is responsible for approving and monitoring MASC’s tolerance for credit exposures, which it does 

through review and approval of the lending and guarantee program guidelines and setting limits on credit exposures to 

individual clients. MASC has comprehensive policy and procedure manuals in place for all programs.
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In general, MASC emphasizes responsible lending, which is comprised of a combination of adequate loan security and 

a client’s ability to pay. MASC is also mandated to deliver higher risk special assistance loan programs on behalf of the 

Government of Manitoba, which fall outside the normal limits set out in the regular loan policies. These special assistance 

loans have a provision for credit losses that is established at the inception of the program, which represents a best 

estimate of probable losses. In addition, an increased level of monitoring is carried out in an eff ort to mitigate losses. 

Special assistance loans make up 24% of the MASC’s lending portfolio.

MASC’s lending exposure to the various agricultural sectors, as provided in Note 10, is summarized as follows:

2010 2009

Grains/oilseeds 45% 43%

Cattle 36% 37%

Hogs 14% 13%

Other     5%     7%

100% 100%

The Province of Manitoba provides funding for the full amount of loans that are written off ; therefore, the risk to MASC is minimal. 

Loans Guaranteed - MASC also provides loan guarantees to fi nancial institutions, which encourage the provision of 

credit that the fi nancial institutions consider to be higher risk. Each guarantee request is reviewed to assess its viability 

and to ensure a fi t within the established program parameters. Loan guarantees are approved based on a delegated 

approval authority. MASC’s loan guarantee activity involves three separate programs: the Operating Credit Guarantee for 

Rural Small Business is directed at non-agricultural businesses with less than $2.0 million in annual sales; the Manitoba 

Livestock Associations Loan Guarantees are directed at the cattle industry; with Operating Credit Guarantees for 

Agriculture and Diversifi cation Loan Guarantees being generally available to Manitoba’s agricultural industry. MASC’s 

loan guarantee exposure by agricultural sector is summarized below:

Diversifi cation Loan Guarantees Operating Credit Guarantees

2010 2009 2010 2009

Grains/oilseeds - - 52% 52%

Cattle - - 14% 17%

Hogs 47% 48% 10% 11%

Dairy 28% 21% 1% -

Poultry   7% 7%   1% 1%

Potatoes   5% 5% 15% 13%

Other   13% 19%     7%     6%

100% 100% 100% 100%

The Province of Manitoba provides funding for all claims on loan guarantees resulting in minimal risk to MASC.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk relates to MASC’s ability to access suffi  cient funds to meet its fi nancial commitments.

Advances from the Province of Manitoba have a direct correlation to the loans receivable as the funds borrowed are 

directly lent to MASC clients. Funding is provided by the Province of Manitoba for the full amount of loans that are written 

off . Subsequently, MASC has minimal liquidity risk relating to MASC’s lending portfolio and its relation to the advances 

from the Province of Manitoba.

MASC’s primary liquidity risk relates to its liability for insurance claims. MASC does not have material liabilities that can 

be called unexpectedly at the demand of a lender or client, and has no material commitments for capital expenditures, 

or need for same, in the normal course of business.
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Insurance claims payments are funded fi rstly out of current revenue, which normally exceeds cash requirements. In addition, 

insurance program funds are retained and invested in short-term investments that are available to pay claims in excess 

of current revenue. Private sector reinsurance is in place for AgriInsurance and Hail Insurance, providing signifi cant 

protection against catastrophic losses. If all of the above are exhausted, the AgriInsurance program has a reinsurance 

agreement with the Government of Canada and the Province of Manitoba, which provides for unlimited additional 

funding for claim payments. (Notes 14 and 15 provide a summary of the reinsurance programs.) Both insurance programs 

also have the capacity to borrow funds from the Province of Manitoba, if required.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices, will 

aff ect MASC’s income or the fair values of its fi nancial instruments. Of these, MASC is only exposed to interest rate risk.

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash fl ows of a fi nancial instrument will fl uctuate due to changes in 

market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to investments, loans receivable, and advances from the Province 

of Manitoba.

Investments - MASC’s investment portfolio is mainly in short-term interest bearing investments. The investments are 

classifi ed as held to maturity fi nancial instruments and therefore, changes in interest rates do not aff ect the value of the 

investments on the fi nancial statements. All of MASC’s investments are placed through Manitoba Finance.

Loans Receivable/Advances from the Province of Manitoba - MASC borrows funds for lending operations from the Province 

of Manitoba at fi xed rates and normally lends those funds to clients at 1.5 percentage points above the associated 

borrowing rate. All advances from the Province of Manitoba have fi xed interest rates for the full term of the advances 

and MASC only off ers fi xed interest rate loans to its clients. Due to this corresponding arrangement, MASC does not 

incur signifi cant interest rate risk. However, some interest rate risk is imparted due to MASC’s lending policy of allowing 

prepayment of loans without penalty, given that MASC does not have the off setting ability to prepay the associated 

advances from the Province of Manitoba without penalty. MASC mitigates this risk by closely matching the cash fl ow 

from client loan payments, including estimated annual prepayments, to the cash fl ow required to repay advances from 

the Province of Manitoba.

26. ACTUARIAL REVIEW 

An actuarial certifi cation of MASC’s AgriInsurance program was completed by Tillinghast - Towers Perrin, consulting 

actuaries, in March 2008. The actuarial review concluded that: the methodologies used to establish the probable yields 

for insured crops do not exceed productive capabilities; the premium rate methodologies are actuarially sound and 

therefore suffi  cient to meet expected claim costs over time; and that the program meets the fi nancial self-sustaining 

criteria as defi ned by the Government of Canada. Any program changes require actuarial review prior to implementation.

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

MASC is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba departments, agencies and Crown corporations. 

MASC enters into transactions with these entities in the normal course of business. These transactions are recorded at the 

exchange amount.

Interest earned on investments held by the Province of Manitoba amounted to $1,625,000 (2009 - $7,158,000). Included 

in accounts receivable (Note 9) is $364,000 (2009 - $401,000) of accrued interest related to these investments.

28. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

Certain 2009 fi gures have been reclassifi ed to conform to the 2010 fi nancial statement presentation.

29. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Government of Canada approved their $1.65 million share of the Manitoba Interlake Unseeded Land Restoration 

program funding in May 2010, with $1,530,000 for program payments and $120,000 for administration.
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 Schedule 1

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND FUNDS RETAINED  
for the year ended March 31, 2010 (in thousands) 

Lending Programs AgriInsurance Program Hail Insurance 
Program

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

REVENUE:

Insurance premiums

   Insured producers  $                 -  $                 -  $        70,426  $         76,571  $        22,141  $        22,017 

   Government of Canada  -  -  65,986  71,769  -  - 

   Province of Manitoba  -  -  43,990  47,846  -  - 

 -  -  180,402  196,186  22,141  22,017 

Interest from loans  20,677  20,385  -  -  -  - 

Other contributions (recoveries) - Government of Canada  -  -  6,188  6,327  -  - 

Other contributions (recoveries) - Province of Manitoba  7,590  5,731  4,143  4,241  -  - 

Investment income  31  180  1,294  6,206  584  1,119 

Real estate and other income  88  229  -  -  -  - 

Reinsurance recoveries (Notes 14 & 15)  -  -  19  (138)  -  - 

Total revenue (recovery)  28,386  26,525  192,046  212,822  22,725  23,136 

EXPENSES:

Insurance indemnities and compensation payments (Note 21)  -  -  146,694  57,834  8,181  9,916 

Reinsurance premiums (Notes 14 & 15)  -  -  31,547  32,133  1,340  1,361 

Interest on borrowed funds  17,278  17,709  -  -  -  - 

Provision for credit losses (Note 12)  358  3,286  873  494  13  (2)

Provision for guaranteed loan losses (Note 23)  3,000  2,286  -  -  -  - 

Young farmer incentives  1,776  1,805  19  20  -  - 

Loan interest concession (Note 11)  37  1,716  - -  -  - 

Farmland school tax rebates (Note 6) - -  -  - - -

Other program payments (recovery) (Note 7)  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Administrative expenses (recovery) (Schedule 2)  4,957  5,146  10,313  10,547  2,764  2,608 

Total expenses (recovery)  27,406  31,948  189,446  101,028  12,298  13,883 

Income (loss) for the year  980  (5,423)  2,600  111,794  10,427  9,253 

Funds retained, beginning of year  (45,187)  (39,764)  333,085  221,291  40,912  31,659 

Funds retained, end of year  $  (44,207)  $  (45,187)  $      335,685  $       333,085  $        51,339   $        40,912 
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Schedule 2

CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  
for the year ended March 31, 2010 (in thousands) 

2010 2009

Adjustors' wages, benefi ts and expenses  $                       4,323  $                       4,824 

Advertising  177  302 

Amortization expense  97  94 

Appeal Tribunal  10  21 

Audit fees and legal  232  320 

Directors' remuneration and expense  126  122 

Furniture and equipment  52  108 

Information technology  423  486 

Offi  ce rental and utilities  1,048  1,032 

Other administrative expenses  371  592 

Other administrative recoveries  (661)  (623)

Postage  152  185 

Printing and offi  ce supplies  226  209 

Salaries and employee benefi ts  11,460  12,079 

Telephone  199  211 

Travel and vehicle expenses  406  463 

Total administrative expenses  $                     18,641  $                     20,425 

Administrative expenses allocation:

   Lending Programs  $                        4,957  $                       5,146 

   AgriInsurance Program  10,313  10,547 

   Hail Insurance Program  2,764  2,608 

   Wildlife Damage Compensation Program  419  458 

   Farmland School Tax Rebate Program  322  411 

   Other Programs expense (recovery) (Note 7)  (134)  1,255 

Total administrative expenses  $                     18,641  $                     20,425 
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May 12, 2010

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The preparation of the financial statements and other information contained in this Annual Report is the
responsibility of management of the Manitoba Arts Council.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles using management's estimates and judgments where appropriate.  The financial information
shown elsewhere in this Annual Report is consistent with information contained in the financial statements.

Management of the Manitoba Arts Council has developed and maintains accounting systems and internal
controls designed to provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of the financial information, and that 
assets are appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded.

The financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2010 have been audited by Magnus & Buffie in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  The Auditors' Report outlines the 
scope of their audit and their opinion on the presentation of the information included in the financial statements.

The Council, through its Audit/Finance/Human Resource Committee, carries out its responsibility for the
review and approval of the financial statements and the Annual Report.  The Audit/Finance/Human Resource
Committee reports to Council who approves these financial statements and the Annual Report prior to 
release.

Douglas Riske
Executive Director
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MAGNUS & BUFFIE
 

CHARTERED   ACCOUNTANTS

AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members of the Council
Manitoba Arts Council

We have audited the statement of financial position of Manitoba Arts  Council as at March 31, 2010 and

the statements of revenues and expenses and changes in fund balances for the year then ended.  These

financial statements are the responsibility of the Council's management.  Ou r responsibility is to express

an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those

standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estima tes made by management, as well as evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of

the Council as at March 31, 2010 and the results of its operations for the yea r then ended in accordance

with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

May 12, 2010 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

430 Five Donald Street · Winnipeg, Manitoba · R3L 2T4 · Phone (204) 942-4441 · Fax (204) 944-0400
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MANITOBA ARTS COUNCIL
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2010

Grants &
Programs Bridges 2010 2009

Fund Fund Total Total

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and short-term investments (note 4) $99,100 $0 $99,100 $317,963
Accrued interest income 3,014 0 3,014 8,871
Accounts receivable 17,507 0 17,507 25,540
Prepaid expenses 9,474 0 9,474 17,601

$129,095 $0 $129,095 $369,975

Recoverable, Province of Manitoba (note 12) 36,000 0 36,000 36,000

Recoverable, Province of Manitoba 0 0 0 175,720

Long term investments (note 5) 193,900 0 193,900 403,000

Musical instruments 104,796 0 104,796 104,796

Works of visual art 329,995 0 329,995 329,995

Capital assets (note 6) 109,483 0 109,483 121,813

Interfund balances  (47,500) 47,500 0 0

TOTAL ASSETS $855,769 $47,500 $903,269 $1,541,299

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 120,129 0 120,129 127,410
Commitments for grants and programs 255,814 7,500 263,314 498,462
Deferred grant revenue 0 0 0 300,720

375,943 7,500 383,443 926,592

Investments in musical instruments and works
of visual art 434,791 0 434,791 434,791

810,734 7,500 818,234 1,361,383
Fund Balances

Invested in capital assets 109,483 0 109,483 121,813
Internally restricted  (note 8) 0 40,000 40,000 60,000
Unrestricted  (64,448) 0  (64,448)  (1,897)

45,035 40,000 85,035 179,916

Lease Commitment (note 9)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES $855,769 $47,500 $903,269 $1,541,299

On behalf of Council

Chair Executive Director

The accompanying notes are an integral component of these financial statements.
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MANITOBA ARTS COUNCIL
Statement of Revenues and Expenses
As at March 31, 2010

Grants &
Programs Bridges 2010 2009

Fund Fund Total Total

REVENUES
Province of Manitoba - Operating Grant (note 10) $8,588,300 $0 $8,588,300 $8,483,500
Province of Manitoba - Bridges Grant 0 875,000 875,000 875,000
Province of Manitoba - Manitoba Theatre Centre 0 150,000 150,000 150,000
Grant Revenue - VANOC 0 300,720 300,720 75,000
Investment Income 5,011 0 5,011 84,925
Other 55,000 0 55,000 143,230

8,648,311 1,325,720 9,974,031 9,811,655
EXPENSES
ORGANIZATIONS
Annual & Operating Grants
Arts Training Schools 154,550 0 154,550 151,000
Arts Service Organizations 146,000 0 146,000 146,500
Dance Companies 985,500 0 985,500 975,500
Music Organizations 1,199,000 0 1,199,000 1,218,500
Theatre Companies 1,659,000 150,000 1,809,000 1,785,000
Visual Arts Organizations 888,500 0 888,500 873,000
Book Publishers 271,000 0 271,000 262,300
Periodical Publishers 210,225 0 210,225 210,000

5,513,775 150,000 5,663,775 5,621,800
2010 Vancouver Olympic Games 0 300,720 300,720 75,000
Touring Grants 324,500 0 324,500 329,500
Presentation Grants 305,218 0 305,218 298,036
Technical Assistance Grants 0 0 0 17,793
Special Grants 1,000 0 1,000 1,000
Management & Governance 0 25,000 25,000 35,690

6,144,493 475,720 6,620,213 6,378,819
INDIVIDUALS
Professional Development Grants 247,729 247,729 258,136
Creation and Production Grants 794,785 794,785 873,642
Touring Grants 20,000 20,000 43,400
Aboriginal Arts Grants 83,728 83,728 87,511

1,062,514 83,728 1,146,242 1,262,689
ARTS DEVELOPMENT
Residencies 326,508 326,508 345,092
ArtsSmarts Projects 52,000 52,000 57,420
Award of Distinction 30,000 30,000 30,000
Special Projects 16,854 16,854 13,484
Special Opportunities 50,000 50,000 85,050
Community Connections & Access 150,762 150,762 151,470
Arts Education Initiatives 15,000 15,000 25,000
French Language (NB/MB Residency) 0 0 19,965

475,362 165,762 641,124 727,481

7,682,369 725,210 8,407,579 8,368,989
Arts Program Delivery Expenses (Schedule) 848,137 162,884 1,011,021 1,037,652

8,530,506 888,094 9,418,600 9,406,641
Administrative Expenses (Schedule) 652,361 0 652,361 694,919

9,182,867 888,094 10,070,961 10,101,560
Rescinded Commitments  (2,049) 0  (2,049)  (7,463)

Total expenses 9,180,818 888,094 10,068,912 10,094,097

Excess (Expenses) Revenues for the Year (532,507) 437,626 (94,881)  (282,442)

The accompanying notes are an integral component of these financial statements.
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MANITOBA ARTS COUNCIL
Statement of Changes in Fund Balances
As at March 31, 2010

  Grants & Program Fund Bridges
Invested In General Fund 2010 2009

Capital Assets (Note 8) (Note 8) Total Total

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 121,813  (1,897) 60,000 179,916 462,358

(Expenses) excess revenues for the year  (83,870)  (448,637) 437,626  (94,881)  (282,442)

Additions to capital assets 71,540  (71,540) 0 0 0

Interfund transfer (note 8) 0 457,626  (457,626) 0 0

Fund Balances, End of Year 109,483 (64,448) 40,000 85,035 179,916

The accompanying notes are an integral component of these financial statements.

Page 339



MANITOBA ARTS COUNCIL
Notes to Financial Statements
As at March 31, 2010

1. Authority & Purpose

The Arts Council Act established the Manitoba Arts Council in 1965 to "…promote the study, enjoyment, production 
and performance of works in the arts."  The Council is a registered charity (public foundation) and, as such, is exempt
from income taxes under the Income Tax Act (Canada).

2. Change in Accounting Policies

New Accounting Policies

Section 3064 Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Effective April 1, 2009, the Council adopted the recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
("CICA") Handbook section 3064 Goodwill and Intangible Assets and the updates to CICA Handbook section 1000
Financial Statement Concepts.

This guidance establishes updated standards for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill
and intangible assets.

These changes did not have an impact on the Council's financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2010.

Credit Risk and Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

During 2009 the Council adopted the Emerging Issues Committee (EIC) 173 and amendments to Section 3855,
Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement and 3862, Financial Instruments - Disclosures:
. Section 3855 - Effective Interest Method
. Section 3855 - Embedded Derivatives on Reclassification of Financial Assets
. Section 3855 - Impairment of Financial Assets
. Section 3862 - Fair Value and Liquidity Risk Disclosure

Due to the nature of the Council's financial instruments, the adoption of these standards and amendments had no
material impact on the financial statements of the Council.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices

(a)  Basis of Presentation
      These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
      accounting principles within the framework of the accounting policies summarized in these notes to the financial
      statements.

(b)  Fund Accounting
      The financial statements disclose the activities of the following funds maintained by the Council:

     ( i)  Grants & Program Fund
           This fund reflects the disbursement and administration of grants and programs in the spirit of the aims and
           objects of Council defined in The Arts Council Act.

     (ii)  Bridges Fund
           This fund was established in June 1999 to generate new initiatives in art development and practice, enhance
           public access to the arts and enhance administrative and governance skills for arts organizations.  As well, 
           the program will encourage new partnerships, provide more opportunities for professional development and 
           assist in audience development.  The excess of revenues over expenditures, if any, is transferred to the Grants &
           Programs Fund at an amount determined by the Council to fulfill similar goals and objectives.
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(c)  Revenue Recognition
      The Council follows the deferral method accounting for revenues.  Externally restricted revenues are deferred and
      recognized as revenue in the applicable fund in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.  Unrestricted
      and internally restricted revenues are recognized as revenue in the applicable fund when received or receivable.

(d)  Grant Commitments
      Grants and program commitments are reflected as expenses when funding is formally approved and committed
      by Council.  Cancellations of prior years' grant expenses are reflected as rescinded grant commitments.

(e)  Capital Assets
      Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization.  Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis
      over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

      Office furniture and equipment 5-10 years
      Computer hardware and software      3 years

(f)  Musical instruments and works of visual art
      Musical instruments and works of visual art are shown on the Statement of Financial Position as assets at cost 
      with an offsetting credit to investments in musical instruments and works of visual art.  The art bank collection was
      re-appraised in 2005, at a current market value of $449,222.00.

(g)  Capital Disclosures
      The Council's capital consists of Fund balances.  The Council's capital management policy is to maintain sufficient 
      capital to meet its objectives through its fund balances by managing its grants and operational expenses against its
      funding revenue.  There were no changes in the Council's approach to capital management during the period.

      The Council is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

(h)  Financial Instruments - recognition and measurement
      Financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value.  Measurement in subsequent periods depends on
      the financial instrument's classification.  Financial instruments are classified into one of the following five categories:
      held for trading; available for sale; held to maturity; loans and receivables; and other financial liabilities.  All financial
      instruments classified as held for trading or available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value with any change
      in fair value recorded in net earnings and other comprehensive income, respectively.  All other financial instruments
      are subsequently measured at amortized cost.

      The financial assets and liabilities of the Council are classified and measured as follows:

      Subsequent
      Financial Asset/Liability Category Measurement
      Cash and short-term investments Held for trading Fair value
      Accrued interest income Held for trading Fair value
      Accounts receivable Held for trading Fair value
      Recoverable, Province of Manitoba Held for trading Fair value
      Long term investments Held for trading Fair value
      Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Held for trading Fair value
      Commitments for grants and programs Held for trading Fair value

      Amortized cost is determined using the effective interest rate method.

      Gains and losses on financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost are recognized in the statement
      revenues and expenses and fund balances in the period the gain or loss occurs.  Changes in the fair value on
      financial instruments classified as held for trading are recognized in the statement of revenues and expenses and
      fund balances for the current period.  Changes in fair value on financial instruments classified as available for sale
      would be recorded in other comprehensive income until realized, at which time they are recorded in the combined 
      statement of revenues, expenses and comprehensive income and fund balances.

(i)   Fair Value of Financial Instruments
      The fair value of cash and short-term investments, accrued interest income, accounts receivable, long term 
      investments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and commitments for grants and programs approximate 
      their carrying values due to their short-term maturity.

      The fair value of the recoverable, Province of Manitoba is not practical to determine due to their underlying terms 
      and conditions.

(j)   Use of Estimates
      The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
      requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of certain assets and
      liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of certain revenue and expenses during
      the year.  Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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4. Cash and short term investments

Cash and short term investments consist of $69,041 cash (2009 - $30,601) and a short term investment of $30,059
(2009 - $287,362).  The short term investment matures June 21, 2010 with a yield of 0.15 %.

5. Long Term Investments

2010 2009
Cost Market Cost Market

Farm Credit Canada
(Due Sept. 15, 2009, yielding 3.3%) 0 0 100,000 101,225

ICICI Bank (GIC Annual)
(Due Jul. 26, 2011, yielding 4.64%) 28,400 29,295 0 0

Manitoba Hydro Bonds
(Due June 15, 2011, yielding 1.0%) 103,000 103,816 103,000 106,168

Royal Bank Mortgage Corp.
(GIC Non-Redeemable)
(Due Oct. 7, 2011, yielding 4.35%) 62,500 63,804 0 0

Royal Bank of Canada Issuer
Extendible Step-Up Med. Term
Notes (Yielding 3.20%-4.25%, 0 0 100,000 103,179
Maturing September 2006 to 
September 2010)

Manulife Bank Investment 0 0 100,000 100,925
Savings

193,900 196,915 403,000 411,497

As the difference between costs and market is insignificant, Council has not adjusted its carrying value to market.

6. Capital Assets
2010 2009

Accumulated Net Book Net Book
Cost Amortization Value Value

Office furniture and equipment 129,105 99,308 29,797 37,649
Computer hardware and software 429,915 350,229 79,686 84,164

559,020 449,537 109,483 121,813

7. Works of Visual Art

The Manitoba Arts Council moved selected works from the Visual Art Bank to the Art Gallery of Southwestern
Manitoba.  The Manitoba Foundation for the Arts awarded a grant to the Manitoba Arts Council to provide
to the Art Gallery of Southwestern Manitoba for the care, storage and exhibition of those works.  An art bank
loan agreement between the Council and the Art Gallery of Southwestern Manitoba is currently being negotiated.

8. Interfund Transfers and Internally Restricted Fund Balances

In 2010, the Council members internally restricted $40,000 to be used as follows:

Grants & 
Programs Bridges

French Language Programs 0 40,000
0 40,000

These internally restricted amounts are not available for unrestricted purposes without the approval of the members
of Council.  In addition, $457,626 (2009 - $409,872) was transferred from the Bridges Fund to the Grants & Programs
Fund in order to fund the cash outlays for Grants to Individual Artists and Arts Development Grants.
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9. Lease Commitment

Council has entered into an agreement to lease office premises until March 31, 2012.  The 2010 basic annual rent was
$113,684.  The 2011 basic annual rent is estimated to be the same as 2010 ($113,684).  Expenses arising from an escalation
clause for taxes, insurance, utilities and building maintenance are in addition to the basic rent.

10. Funding Agreement

The funding agreement with the Province of Manitoba established the terms and conditions of funding for five years 
ended March 31, 2000.  During the term of the agreement, Council was entitled to retain proceeds up to $1,000,000
from the Province of Manitoba.  Any proceeds retained in excess of $1,000,000 except for proceeds exempted in the
funding agreement, would have been repaid to the Province of Manitoba on demand.  In accordance with this agreement,
there were no proceeds repayable to the Province.  As at March 31, 2010, the Council was in discussions with the 
Province regarding the terms of a new funding agreement.

11. Pension Plan

Eligible employees are participants in the Manitoba Civil Service Superannuation Fund.  The Council participates on a 
fully funded basis and its contributions of $24,841 (2009 - $13,257) represent the total obligations for the year.

12. Severance Liability

Effective March 31, 1999, the Manitoba Arts Council, as a Crown organization, is required to record a severance
liability.  The Province of Manitoba has recognized an opening liability of $36,000 as at April 1, 1998.  Any subsequent
changes to the severance liability will be the responsibility of Council.  As at March 31, 2010, Council recorded a liability
of $27,719 (2008 - $34,706).  This liability is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

13. Statement of Cash Flow

A statement of cash flow is not presented as part of the financial statements as Council has determined that cash
flow information is readily determinable from the other financial statements.

14. Economic Dependence

A substantial portion of the Council's total revenue is derived from the Province of Manitoba in the form of an operating
grant.

15. Financial Instruments - Risk Management

In the normal course of operations the Council is exposed to various financial risks.  The financial risk management
objectives and policies are as follows:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss to
another party.  Financial instruments which potentially subject the Council to credit risk consist principally of cash
and short-term investments, accrued interest income, accounts receivable and long term investments.

The maximum exposure of the Council to credit risk at March 31, 2010 is:

Cash and short-term investments $99,100
Accrued interest income 3,014
Accounts receivable 17,507
Long term investments 193,900

$313,521

Cash and short-term investments and accrued interest income:  The Council is not exposed to significant credit risk
as these are primarily held by financial institutions and the Province of Manitoba.

Long term investments:  The Council is not exposed to significant credit risk as these consist of interest bearing bonds
and accounts from financial institutions and Manitoba Hydro, a provincial Crown corporation.

Accounts receivable:  The Council is not exposed to significant credit risk as the nature of the accounts receivable is 
with the Province of Manitoba.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Council will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.

Management monitors the Council's liquidity and is of the opinion that it is unlikely that the Council will encounter difficulty
in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will affect the
Council's income or the fair values of its financial instruments.  The significant market risks the Council is exposed to
is interest rate risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.  The interest rate exposure relates to short-term investments and long term investments.

The interest rate risk on short-term investments are considered to be low because of their short-term nature.

The interest rate risk on long term investments are considered to be low because this consists mainly of fixed interest
bearing bonds.
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SCHEDULE OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
For the year ended March 31, 2010

2010 TOTAL 2009 TOTAL

Salaries and benefits $379,639 $403,355
Council meetings 49,042 60,040
Rent 49,204 50,608
Amortization 64,843 63,288
Office supplies, printing and stationery 11,077 11,237
Postage, courier and telephone 14,918 13,737
Staff travel and expenses 21,269 28,676
Insurance and sundry 6,223 6,525
Memberships & Subscriptions 10,270 9,838
Professional fees 10,788 23,224
Equipment repairs and maintenance 18,028 2,389
Loss on Disposal of Capital Equipment 0 2,814

Total Administrative Expenses $635,301 $675,731

Other Administrative Expenses (Art Bank Administration) $17,060 $19,188
$652,361 $694,919

SCHEDULE OF ARTS PROGRAM DELIVERY EXPENSES
For the year ended March 31, 2010

GRANTS &
PROGRAMS BRIDGES 2010 2009

FUND FUND TOTAL TOTAL

Salaries and benefits $532,810 $135,837 $668,647 $682,012
Jurors' fees and expenses 73,771 7,429 81,200 106,941
Rent 54,568 11,368 65,936 63,037
Communication 64,116 0 64,116 42,371
Professional Fees 19,716 0 19,716 48,079
Advocacy 23,653 0 23,653 26,252
Community consultations 2,904 0 2,904 14,429
Staff travel and expenses 10,335 5,809 16,144 17,874
Postage, courier and telephone 8,809 2,264 11,073 13,694
Office supplies 955 177 1,132 2,035
Touring development 20,000 0 20,000 20,000
Sundry 1,198 0 1,198 928
Memberships & Partnerships 35,302 0 35,302 0

$848,137 $162,884 $1,011,021 $1,037,652

GRANTS & PROGRAMS FUND
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Management Report 

The accompanying financial statements of the Manitoba Centennial Centre Corporation (the  
“Corporation”) are the responsibility of management and have been prepared in accordance with  
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. We understand that fair presentations of these 
financial statements include: providing sufficient information about certain transactions, or events, 
having an effect on the Corporation’s financial position; results of operations and cash flows for the 
periods presented that are of such size, nature and incidence that their disclosure is necessary to 
understand that effect on the Corporation’s financial statements; and providing information in a  
manner that is clear and understandable. 
 
Management are responsible for the design, implementation and operation of internal controls to 
safeguard the assets of the corporation and to prevent, deter and detect fraud and error,  including 
internal controls over the financial reporting process. 
 
The responsibility of the Office of the Auditor General is to express an independent, professional 
opinion on whether the financial statements of the Corporation are fairly presented in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principals. The Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of 
the audit examination and provides their opinion.   

On behalf of Management, 

Bob Sochasky, CMA, FCMA 
Chief Executive Officer 

Laura Proulx, CMA 
Director, Finance and Administration  
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Statement of Financial Position 

March 31, 2010, with comparative figures for 2009 

2010 2009 

Assets
Current assets: 

Cash $ 575,551 $ 70,530 
Term deposits - Province of Manitoba  771,968 873,283 
Accounts receivable 203,260 249,011 
Capital grant receivable - Province of Manitoba 550,180 283,313 
Inventory 29,629 36,049 
Prepaid expenses 60,516 73,970 
Vacation pay recoverable from the Province of Manitoba (note 5) 199,964 199,964 

2,391,068 1,786,120 

Amounts recoverable - Province of Manitoba: 
Severance (note 5) 307,561 307,561 
Pension (note 6) 5,482,000 5,283,000 

Capital assets (note 7) 991,258 1,131,991 

Other investments (note 10) 114,396 116,350 

  $ 9,286,283 $ 8,625,022 

Liabilities, Deferred Contributions and Fund Balances 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1,098,750 $ 560,412 
Accrued vacation pay  237,944 248,866 
Capital advances (note 11)  98,434 95,079 
Deferred income and rental deposits  38,987 37,290 

1,474,115 941,647 

Accrued severance pay (note 5) 464,875 523,665 

Pension liability (note 6)  5,482,000 5,283,000 

Deferred contributions related to capital assets (note 8) 869,704 985,523 

Fund balances 

Invested in capital assets (note 9) 121,554 146,468 
Internally restricted funds (note 10) 114,396 116,350 
Unrestricted funds: 

General fund  759,639 628,369 
995,589 891,187 

  $ 9,286,283 $ 8,625,022 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

On behalf of the Board: 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010, with comparative figures for 2009 
 
  Internally 2010 2009 
  General Capital restricted Total Total 
         
Revenue: 

Concert Hall $ 949,964 $ –    $ –    $ 949,964 $ 836,254 
Studio rental 133,485 –    –    133,485 107,700 
Concession sales 411,100 –    –    411,100 324,532 
Parking fees 808,422 –    –    808,422 789,863 
Miscellaneous 109,654 –    –    109,654 110,955 
 2,412,625 –    –    2,412,625 2,169,304 
 

Province of Manitoba grants: 
Operating 3,059,400 –    –    3,059,400 3,019,900 
Amortization of deferred 

contributions (note 8) –    255,552 –    255,552 241,579 
Province of Manitoba -  

pension, net (note 6) 183,024 –    –    183,024 (33,282) 
 3,242,424 255,552 –    3,497,976 3,228,197 

 
City of Winnipeg grant: 

Strategic Economic  
Development grant 29,725 –    –    29,725 29,725 

 
Recoveries of expenses 209,805 –    –    209,805 215,162 
Investment income (note 10) –    –    136 136 2,311 

 
Total revenues, grants and 

recoveries 5,894,579 255,552 136 6,150,267 5,644,699 
 
Expenses: 

Administration and general 582,607 –    –    582,607 547,408 
Amortization of capital assets –    280,466 –    280,466 266,490 
Concession operations 242,884 –    –    242,884 193,725 
Building services and 

maintenance 1,326,857 –    –    1,326,857 1,301,407 
Host service and special 

projects 265,496 –    –    265,496 244,522 
Manitoba Production Centre 246,360 –    –    246,360 209,715 
Parking service 212,551 –    –    212,551 259,792 
Pension (note 6) 401,605 –    –    401,605 168,180 
Security services 481,829 –    –    481,829 465,036 
Stage operations 365,871 –    –    365,871 359,499 
Grant (note 10) –    –    2,090 2,090 2,950 

 4,126,060 280,466 2,090 4,408,616 4,018,724 
 
Expenses incurred on behalf of  

The Manitoba Museum  
(note 12) 1,637,249 –    –    1,637,249 1,683,155 

 
Total expenses (schedule - operating 

expenses) 5,763,309 280,466 2,090 6,045,865 5,701,879 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenue  

over expenses 131,270 (24,914) (1,954) 104,402 (57,180) 
 
Fund balance, beginning of year 628,369 146,468 116,350 891,187 948,367 

 
Fund balance, end of year $ 759,639 $ 121,554 $ 114,396 $ 995,589 $ 891,187 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010, with comparative figures for 2009 
 
  2010 2009 
 
Cash provided by (used in): 
 
Operating: 

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses $ 104,402 $ (57,180) 
Adjustments for: 

Amortization of deferred contributions (255,552) (241,579) 
Amortization of capital assets 280,466 266,490 
   129,316 (32,269) 

 
Change in other investments 1,954 639 
Change in accrued severance pay (58,790) 55,134 
Change in non-cash working capital balances: 

Accounts receivable 45,751 (83,488) 
Inventory 6,420 (9,443) 
Prepaid expenses 13,454 (2,490) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 41,690 (131,605) 
Accrued vacation pay (10,922) 6,918 
Capital advances 3,355 26,916 
Deferred income and rental deposits 1,697 6,300 

  173,925 (163,388) 
 
Financing: 

Capital assets grants and advances - Province of Manitoba 396,818 381,305 
 
Investing: 

Purchase of capital assets  (167,037) (385,482) 
 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 403,706 (167,565) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 943,813 1,111,378 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 1,347,519 $ 943,813 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 

Cash $ 575,551 $ 70,530 
Term deposits - Province of Manitoba 771,968 873,283 

 
  $ 1,347,519 $ 943,813 
 

Supplementary disclosure:  
Non-cash financing and investing activities - purchase  

of capital assets in accounts payable $ 103,231 $ 130,535 
Interest received 1,084 24,313 
 

 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010 
 
 

1. Nature of the Corporation’s operations: 

The Manitoba Centennial Centre Corporation (the Corporation) was established in 1968 for the 
development and management of the permanent arts centre in the City of Winnipeg as the 
principal memorial in the Province to the centennial anniversaries of the Confederation of 
Canada and the inclusion of Manitoba as a Province. Its aim and objectives are to maintain and 
enhance the properties and facilities available to organizations and individuals involved in 
various elements of the visual and performing arts. The Corporation is exempt from income 
taxes under Sub-section 149(1) of the Income Tax Act. 

2. Properties of the Corporation: 

The Corporation oversees properties on behalf of the Province of Manitoba. At March 31, 2010 
registered titles to these properties, being the Concert Hall, Manitoba Production Centre, 
parkade, parking lots and other buildings, are held by the Province of Manitoba. These 
properties are made available at no direct charge to the Corporation. 

The Corporation has included the financial results of the Manitoba Production Centre within its 
financial statements as per the Letter of Understanding between Manitoba Culture, Heritage, 
Tourism and Sport and the Manitoba Centennial Centre Corporation dated December 14, 2005, 
in which the Corporation agreed to manage the Manitoba Production Centre for the Province. 

3. Significant accounting policies: 

(a) Fund accounting: 

The Corporation’s financial statements have been prepared on a fund basis, using 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  

The General Fund is used to account for the operations of the Corporation. 

Internally restricted funds consist of the Foundation of the Future Fund which is to be used 
towards funding of youth based arts and culture. Internally restricted funds cannot be 
expended without the approval of the Board of Directors.  

The Capital Asset Fund reports the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses related to 
capital assets other than buildings that are funded by the Province of Manitoba (notes 2, 3 
(e) and 9). 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010 
 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Pension costs: 

Pension payments are recognized as operating expenses as payments are made under 
provisions of The Manitoba Civil Service Superannuation Act. The provisions of this Act 
require the Corporation to contribute 50 percent of the pension payments being made to 
retired employees. In addition, a provision has been recorded in the accounts of the 
Corporation for the employer’s share of current and past service pension obligations. 

(c) Term deposits: 

Term deposits are recorded at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates fair value 
due to the short-term nature of these deposits. 

(d) Inventory: 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost, using the first-in, first-out method, and net 
realizable value. 

(e) Capital assets: 

Capital assets are recorded at cost and are being amortized using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

 
Asset   Rate 
 
Computer equipment  20% 
Concert hall refurbishments  10% 
Concrete replacement  8% 
Equipment and furnishings  20% 
Marquee  20% 
Office renovations  10% 
Physical plant and building controls   10% 
Stage equipment  20% 
System and motor controls 10% 
 
 

Assets under construction are included in the appropriate asset category. Assets under 
construction are not amortized until asset construction is complete. 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010 
 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

The financial statements of the Corporation exclude capital assets related to buildings and 
associated assets, as title to these assets is held by the Province of Manitoba (note 2) and 
these assets are reflected in the financial statements of the Province of Manitoba. 
Expenditures on these excluded assets, and the related advances from the Province of 
Manitoba, are presented in note 11. Effective April 1, 2006, the Corporation began 
reflecting all other capital asset expenditures in its financial statements, and such assets 
have been accounted for in accordance with the requirements of Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook Section 4430. 

(f) Cash: 

Cash includes cash on hand and balances with banks. 

(g) Revenue recognition: 

Revenue is recognized when services are rendered and when collectibility is reasonably 
assured. 

The Corporation follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted 
contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are 
incurred. 

Deferred contributions related to capital assets represent the unamortized amount of 
capital grants received for the purchase of capital assets. The amortization of deferred 
contributions is recorded as revenue in the statement of operations on the same basis as 
the amortization of the related capital assets. 

Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the 
amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

(h) Financial instruments: 

Financial assets and liabilities classified as held-for-trading are measured at fair value with 
gains and losses recognized in excess of revenue over expenses. Financial instruments 
classified as held-to-maturity, loans and receivables and other liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost. Available-for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair value, with 
unrealized gains and losses recognized directly in unrestricted funds. 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010 
 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

The Corporation designated cash and term deposits as held-for-trading; accounts and 
grants receivable and amounts recoverable from the Province of Manitoba as loans and 
receivables; and accounts payable and accrued liabilities and accrued vacation pay as 
other liabilities. The Corporation has neither available-for-sale nor held-to-maturity 
instruments. 

Except for held-for trading designated financial instruments, transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets or liabilities are 
accounted for as part of the respective asset or liability’s carrying value at inception and 
amortized over the expected life of the financial instrument using the effective interest 
method. For held-for trading financial assets and liabilities, transaction costs are recorded 
in the statement of operations as incurred. 

The Corporation has adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) 
Handbook Section 3861, Financial Instruments - Disclosure and Presentation. In 
accordance with the Accounting Standards Board’s decision to exempt not-for-profit 
organizations from the disclosure requirements with respect to financial instruments 
contained within Section 3862, Financial Instruments - Disclosures, and Section 3863, 
Financial Instruments - Presentation, the Corporation has elected not to adopt these 
standards in the financial statements. 

(i) Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

4. New accounting policies: 

Effective April 1, 2009, the Corporation adopted the following new Handbook sections issued 
by the CICA: 

Effective April 1, 2009, the Corporation adopted the CICA’s amendments to the 4400 Sections 
of the CICA Handbook. These amendments affect the financial statement presentation and 
disclosure requirements for not-for-profit organizations. Adoption of these recommendations 
had no significant impact on the financial statements of the Corporation for the year ending 
March 31, 2010. 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010 
 
 

4. New accounting policies (continued: 

Effective April 1, 2009 the Corporation adopted the CICA’s amendments to Section 1000 of the 
CICA Handbook. These amendments clarified the definitions and recognition criteria of assets, 
liabilities and expenses. Adoption of these recommendations had no effect on the financial 
statements of the Corporation for the year ending March 31, 2010. 

5. Employee benefits: 

(a) Accrued vacation pay: 

The cost of the Corporation’s vacation benefits is accrued when the benefits are earned by 
the employees. 

The Province of Manitoba funds a portion of the vacation pay benefits of the Corporation, 
which is limited to the amount estimated at March 31, 1995. Accordingly, the Corporation 
has recorded a recoverable in the amount of $199,964 from the Province of Manitoba 
which reflects the estimated liability for accumulated vacation pay benefits at March 31, 
1995. Each year the Corporation is expected to fund the change in the liability from annual 
funding provided by the Province of Manitoba. 

(b) Severance: 

Effective April 1, 1998, the Corporation commenced recording the estimated liability for 
accumulated severance pay benefits for its employees. At March 31, 2010, based on an 
actuarial estimate, the obligation for accrued severance pay is $464,875 (2009 - $523,665). 
The significant actuarial assumptions include an interest rate of 7 percent (2009 - 7 
percent). 

Severance pay, at the employee’s date of retirement, will be determined by multiplying the 
eligible employee’s years of service (to a maximum of 23 years) by the employee’s weekly 
salary at the date of retirement. Eligibility will require that the employee has achieved a 
minimum of nine years of service and that the employee is retiring from the Corporation. 

The amount of funding which will be provided by the Province of Manitoba for severance 
pay benefits of $307,561, represents the amount accumulated to March 31, 1998 by the 
employees of the Corporation, and is recorded as amounts recoverable - Province of 
Manitoba on the statement of financial position. This receivable from the Province of 
Manitoba has no specified terms of repayment. The Corporation is responsible for funding 
liabilities for severance pay benefits accumulated after March 31, 1998 through its 
operating grants from the Province of Manitoba. As a result, the change in the accrued 
severance pay liability, including the interest accretion, is reflected in the funding for 
severance expense. 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010 
 
 

6. Pension liability: 

The Corporation records the pension liability and the related pension expense, including an 
interest component, in its financial statements. Based on extrapolation from the most recent 
actuarial report as at December 31, 2007, the Corporation has recorded an amount of 
$5,482,000 (2009 - $5,283,000) in its financial statements, representing the estimated 
unfunded liability for the Corporation’s employees as at March 31, 2010. Total pension expense 
of $493,832 (2009 - $258,030) has been recorded in the statement of operations (see 
schedule), or $401,605 net of expenses incurred on behalf of Manitoba Museum. 

The Province of Manitoba has accepted responsibility for the pension liability and the related 
expense. The Corporation has therefore recorded an amount recoverable from the Province of 
Manitoba of $5,482,000 (2009 - $5,283,000) equal to the estimated value of its actuarially 
determined liability in its financial statements, and has recorded associated net revenue of 
$183,024 (2009 - net expense of $33,282). The Province makes payments on the receivable 
when it is determined that the funding is required to discharge the related pension obligation. 

Provision for employer’s share of employees’ pension plan: 

 
  2010 2009 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 5,283,000 $ 5,301,000 
Decrease (increase) in trust account held by the  

Province of Manitoba (20,880) 27,620 
Benefits accrued 153,004 155,191 
Interest accrued (7 percent; 2009 - 7 percent) 375,303 353,852 
Benefits paid (308,427) (288,463) 
Actuarial gains1 –     (266,200) 

 
Balance, end of year $ 5,482,000 $ 5,283,000 
 
1The actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2007 was completed in April 2009, and the 
resulting adjustment recorded in the year ended March 31, 2009. 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010 
 
 

7. Capital assets: 

 
 2010 2009 
  Accumulated Net book Net book 
  Cost amortization value value 
 
Computer equipment $ 59,615 $ 35,769 $ 23,846 $ 35,769 
Concert hall 

refurbishments  171,032  51,310  119,722  136,828 
Concrete replacement 10,060 2,414 7,646 8,450 
Equipment and furnishings 134,115 68,610 65,505 92,328 
Marquee 382,230 229,338 152,892 229,338 
Office renovations 437,851 171,350 266,501 309,829 
Physical plant and building 

 controls 235,633 46,230 189,403 76,503 
Stage equipment 350,442 241,625 108,817 178,904 
System and motor controls 71,158 14,232 56,926 64,042 
 
 $ 1,852,136 $ 860,878 $ 991,258 $ 1,131,991 
 

8. Deferred contributions: 

 
  2010 2009 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 985,523 $ 947,318 
Capital grants received and receivable 139,733 279,784 
Less amortized to revenue (255,552) (241,579) 

 
Balance, end of year $ 869,704 $ 985,523 
 

9. Invested in capital assets: 

 
  2010 2009 
 
Capital assets (note 7) $ 991,258 $ 1,131,991 
Amounts financed by deferred contributions (note 8) (869,704) (985,523) 

 
  $ 121,554 $ 146,468 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010 
 
 

10. Internally restricted funds and other investments: 

 
  2010 2009 
 
Balance, beginning of year $ 116,350 $ 116,989 
Investment income 136 2,311 
Grant expense (2,090) (2,950) 
 
Balance, end of year $ 114,396 $ 116,350 
 

Internally restricted funds are held in term deposits with the Province of Manitoba. 

11. Capital advances: 

Capital funds in the amount of $98,434 (2009 - $95,079) were drawn in advance on projects 
awarded but not yet undertaken by March 31, 2010 (as follows): 

 
  2010 2009 
 
Capital advances - Province of Manitoba: 

Advances brought forward from previous years $ 95,079 $ 68,163 
Received during the year  984,395  513,817 
  1,079,474 581,980 

 
Capital expenditures not reflected on the Corporation’s  

financial statements [note 3(e)]: 
Courtyard renovations (8,771) (486,901) 
Parkade resurfacing (366,146) –    
Stage sound and lighting (123,210) –    
Stage acoustic system (8,977) –    
Systems motor control (473,936) –    
  (981,040) (486,901) 

 
Advances carried forward to future years $ 98,434 $ 95,079 
 

The Corporation had no outstanding contractual commitments to complete capital 
improvements at March 31, 2010 or 2009. 

12. Grant of service: 

The Manitoba Centennial Centre Corporation incurs expenses such as cleaning, utilities and 
maintenance on behalf of the Manitoba Museum. These expenses amount to $1,637,249 for 
the year ended March 31, 2010 (2009 - $1,683,155). Included in these expenses is $194,481 
(2009 - $190,028) of administration and general expenses of the Corporation that are allocated 
to the Manitoba Museum proportionately on a predetermined basis. 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010 
 
 

13. Financial instruments: 

The Corporation’s financial instruments consist of cash, term deposits, accounts receivable, 
amounts recoverable from the Province of Manitoba, accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
and accrued vacation pay. It is management’s opinion that the Corporation is not exposed to 
significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments. The fair 
values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying values, unless otherwise noted.  
The carrying values of the amounts recoverable from the Province approximate their fair value 
because the annual interest accretion is funded, as described in notes 5(b) and 6. 

14. Economic dependence: 

The Corporation is economically dependent on funding received from the Province of Manitoba. 

15. Capital management: 

The Corporation’s objective when managing its capital is to maintain sufficient capital to cover 
its costs of operations, while fulfilling its mandate under the Manitoba Centennial Centre 
Corporations Act. The Corporation’s capital consists of unrestricted funds, internally restricted 
funds and funds invested in capital assets. The Corporation’s ability to meet its capital 
objectives is dependent on its cash flows, including operating and capital grants received from 
the Province of Manitoba. 

The Corporation is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

There were no changes in the Corporation’s approach to capital management during the 
period. 

16. Comparative figures: 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the financial statement 
presentation adopted in the current year. 
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MANITOBA CENTENNIAL CENTRE CORPORATION 
Schedule - Operating Expenses 
 
Year ended March 31, 2010, with comparative figures for 2009 
 
  2010 2009 
 
Administration and general: 

Salaries and employee benefits $ 470,165 $ 494,925 
Insurance 96,552 91,122 
Telephone and fax 25,097 20,866 
Audit and legal 21,927 16,329 
Other 129,374 98,454 
Payroll service 6,362 6,361 
Marketing 27,611 9,379 
  777,088 737,436 

Concession operations: 
Salaries and employee benefits 77,896 70,591 
Cost of goods sold 126,040 105,477 
Other 38,948 17,657 
  242,884 193,725 

Building services and maintenance: 
Salaries and employee benefits 1,274,345 1,284,155 
Utilities 854,937 936,780 
Repairs, maintenance and supplies 487,722 426,082 
  2,617,004 2,647,017 

Host services and special projects: 
Salaries and employee benefits 237,952 230,520 
Other 27,544 14,002 
  265,496 244,522 

Manitoba Production Centre: 
Salaries and employee benefits 7,667 11,483 
Administration costs 67,420 35,072 
Repairs, maintenance and supplies 24,769 19,494 
Property taxes 82,496 81,998 
Utilities 64,008 61,668 
  246,360 209,715 

Parking services: 
Salaries and employee benefits 138,105 137,831 
Agency fees and expenses 65,949 73,772 
Other 8,497 48,189 
  212,551 259,792 

 
Pension  493,832 258,030 
 
Security services: 

Salaries and employee benefits 522,037 509,221 
Other 20,186 13,482 
  542,223 522,703 

Stage operations: 
Salaries and employee benefits 299,066 292,485 
Repairs, supplies and equipment 66,805 67,014 
  365,871 359,499 

 
Total expenses of general fund 5,763,309 5,432,439 
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Thomas Tasker  Chartered Accountant Inc. Thomas Tasker, CA                                                                                           
200-960 Portage Avenue   Telephone (204) 783-3118 
Winnipeg, MB R3G 0R4   Fax          (204) 772-7541 Del Halliday, CMA                                                                                                                  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 AUDITOR'S REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
To the Members of 
Manitoba Community Services Council Inc. 
 
 
 
 
 
I have audited the balance sheet of Manitoba Community Services Council Inc. as at March 31, 2010 
and the statements of changes in net assets and financial activities for the year then ended.  These 
financial statements are the responsibility of the Council's management.  My responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit. 
 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those 
standards require that I plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. 
 
In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Manitoba Community Services Council Inc. as at March 31, 2010 and the results of its operations 
and the changes in its financial position for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles. 
 
 

  
 
Winnipeg, Manitoba Chartered Accountant    
May 17, 2010  
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MANITOBA COMMUNITY SERVICES COUNCIL INC. 
 

BALANCE SHEET 
 

MARCH 31, 2010 
 
 
 
                                                                    Assets 2010   2009  
  
Current assets 
   Cash $   66,914 $   18,865 
   Accrued interest 10,433 15,629 
   GST refund 2,640 3,539  
   Prepaid expense 11,134 8,869 
  Guaranteed investment certificates (note 3)  442,927 622,471  

 534,048 669,373 
 
Guaranteed investment certificates (note 3) 278,486 267,081 
 
Capital assets (note 4)     6,518   10,762
 
 $ 819,052 $ 947,216 
 
 

Liabilities  
 
Current liabilities  
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $    2,711 $   10,054 
  Allocations not yet paid 469,821 551,737  

 472,532 561,791
 

Net assets 
 
Invested in capital assets 6,518 10,762 

unds for future allocation  340,002 374,663F 
 346,520 385,425
 
 $ 819,052 $ 947,216 
 
 
 
Approved on Behalf of the Board 
 
                                                Director 
 

Thomas Tasker
 Chartered Accountant Inc.                                  
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MANITOBA COMMUNITY SERVICES COUNCIL INC. 
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010 
 
 
 
 
 Invested in  Funds for    
 Capital  Future   Total   Total   
 Assets Allocation 2010   2009   
 
 

Balance, beginning of year $   10,762  $ 374,663 $ 385,425 $ 827,228 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenue 
   over allocations and expenses (4,244)    (34,661)  (38,905)   (146,779) 
 
Funds for Priority Area Strategy  -      -    -   (295,024) 
 
Invested in capital assets           -           -           -           -   
 
Balance, end of year $     6,518 $ 340,002 $ 346,520 $ 385,425 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Thomas Tasker
 Chartered Accountant Inc.                                  
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MANITOBA COMMUNITY SERVICES COUNCIL INC. 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010  
 
 
 
 2010   2009   
    
Revenue 
   Province of Manitoba 
      Manitoba Culture, Heritage, Tourism and Sport $ 2,004,000 $ 1,998,800 
  Interest      29,080      50,843  

 2,033,080 2,049,643
Allocations and expenses 
   Administrative expenses  
      Bank charges 1,088 1,040 
      Communications 16,465 25,319 
      Computer expense 4,868 13,681 
      Consulting 258 2,652 
      Courier 1,147 868 
      Equipment rental 10,556 10,682 
      Insurance 5,155 5,003 
      Meeting costs and volunteer travel 24,353 26,576 
      Office supplies 7,871 6,999 
      Postage  3,226 1,504 
      Professional fees 4,947 4,489 
      Telephone        5,232       4,842
 85,166 103,655 
 
   Amortization 4,244 5,510 
   Occupancy 30,493 29,730 
   Salaries and benefits 236,347 240,267 
   Grant allocations  1,773,673 2,133,107 
   Grant allocations (recovered)   (57,938)  (70,958) 
   Priority Area Strategy allocations    -   50,135 
  Priority Area Strategy (recovery)             -      (295,024)    
 2,071,985 2,196,422 
 
Deficiency of revenue over allocations and expenses $     (38,905) $   (146,779) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Thomas Tasker
 Chartered Accountant Inc.                                  
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MANITOBA COMMUNITY SERVICES COUNCIL INC. 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

MARCH 31, 2010 
 
 
 
 
1. Incorporation 
 

Manitoba Community Services Council Inc. (Council) was incorporated under The 
Corporations Act of Manitoba on March 13, 1990 without share capital, created for the purpose 
of distributing bingo events and provincial funds to non-profit community organizations on 
behalf of the Province of Manitoba. 

 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles and include the following significant accounting policies: 

 
 a) Statement of cash flows 
 

A statement of cash flows has not been presented since information concerning cash 
flows is evident from the financial statements presented. 

 
 b) Guaranteed investment certificates 
 
  Guaranteed investment certificates are carried at cost. 
 
 c) Capital assets 
 

Capital asset acquisitions are recorded in the year of purchase at cost.  Amortization is 
provided for on a straight-line basis at the following rates which will amortize the cost of 
the assets over their estimated useful lives: 
 
 Furniture and equipment 20% 

   Computer equipment 30% 
   Computer software 50% 
 
 d) Revenue recognition 
 

Funding for programs and grant allocations comes from the Province of Manitoba, 
Minister of Culture, Heritage, Tourism and Sport.  The fiscal period relates to the same 
fiscal period as the Province and is included in their fiscal budgets.  If funding were 
approved and not received, it would be accrued at the end of the fiscal period. 

 
  Interest revenue is accrued based on the investment rate of return over the fiscal period. 

Thomas Tasker
 Chartered Accountant Inc.                                  
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MANITOBA COMMUNITY SERVICES COUNCIL INC. 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONT'D 
 

MARCH 31, 2010 
 
 
 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies, cont'd 
 
 e) Measurement uncertainty (use of estimates) 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles which require management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results may differ 
from management's best estimates. 

 
These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become 
necessary they are reported in earnings in the periods in which they become known. 

 
 f) Financial instruments      
 

The organization classifies its financial instruments into one of the following categories 
based on the purpose for which the asset was acquired or liability incurred.  The 
organization’s accounting policy for each category is as follows: 

 
Financial instruments classified as assets held-for-trading are reported at fair value at 
each balance sheet date, and any change in fair value is recognized in net income (loss) 
in the period during which the change occurs.  Transaction costs are expensed when 
incurred.  In these financial statements, cash and cash equivalents have been classified 
as held-for-trading. 

 
Financial instruments classified as held-to-maturity are financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the organization’s management has the 
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  These assets are initially recorded at 
fair value and subsequently carried at amortized costs, using the effective interest rate 
method.  Transaction costs are included in the amount initially recognized.  In these 
financial statements, guaranteed investment certificates have been classified as held-to-
maturity. 

 
Financial instruments classified as other financial liabilities are carried at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method.  Transaction costs are expensed when incurred.  In 
these financial statements, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and allocations not yet 
paid have been classified as other financial liabilities. 

 
The company's financial instruments consist of cash, guaranteed investment certificates, 
accrued interest, accounts payable and allocations not yet paid.  Unless otherwise 
noted, it is management's opinion that the Council is not exposed to significant interest, 
currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments.   

 
Thomas Tasker
 Chartered Accountant Inc.                                  
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MANITOBA COMMUNITY SERVICES COUNCIL INC. 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONT'D 
 

MARCH 31, 2010 
 
 
 
 
3. Guaranteed investment certificates 
   2010  2009  
 
 Due within one year,  interest rates of $ 442,927 $ 622,471 
 .79% to 5.35% 
 
 Long-term investment certificates, due $ 278,486 $ 267,081 
 October, 2011, interest rate of 2.04%. 
 
 
4. Capital assets 
               2010                                 2009                       
                    Accumulated                       Accumulated 

      Cost        Amortization      Cost         Amortization 
 
 Furniture and equipment $  22,962 $  22,962 $  22,962 $  22,917 
 Computer equipment  11,047 4,971  11,047 1,657 
 Computer software  11,040  10,598  11,040   9,713 
 
   $  45,049 $  38,531 $  45,049 $  34,287 

Cost less accumulated 
                amortization $    6,518  $  10,762 
 
 
5. Provincial funding 
 

The Province of Manitoba has committed funding in the amount of $2,004,000 for the year 
ended March 31, 2011. 

 
 
6. Commitment 
 

The Council has leased realty pursuant to a lease agreement, until March 31, 2015.  Under the 
terms of the lease, the Council is responsible for base rent and its proportionate share of 
property taxes and operating costs of the building. 

 
 The minimum base rent payment for the next year is as follows: 
 
  2011 $  13,080 
 2012 13,080 
 2013 13,080 
 2014 13,080 
 2015 13,080 

Thomas Tasker
 Chartered Accountant Inc.                                  
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MANITOBA COMMUNITY SERVICES COUNCIL INC. 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONT'D 
 

MARCH 31, 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
7. Pension plan 
 

The employees of the organization participate in the United Way Agencies  
Employees’ Retirement Plan, a multi-employer, defined benefit pension plan.  The Council's 
pension contribution and expense for the year was $11,618 (2009 - $8,443). 
 
In accordance with the provisions of the Manitoba Pensions Benefit Act the plan is required to 
calculate the value of its assets and actuarial liabilities on a solvency basis.  The basis assumes 
the plan will be wound up and settled on the valuation date.  The most recent actuarial valuation 
estimated a solvency excess at December 31, 2006. 

 
A triennial actuarial valuation at December 31, 2009 is currently being prepared.  The results 
are not available.  It is anticipated that there may be a solvency deficiency at 
December 31, 2009.  The amount of a deficiency, if any, is unknown at this time.   
 
If there is a solvency deficiency it will be funded by additional Manitoba Community Services 
Council Inc. contributions in excess of the minimum required contributions.  The deficiency 
would be paid quarterly over a five year period (10 years if solvency relief is available). 

 
 
8. Bingo earnings 
 

The Council allocates a certain number of bingo events to various organizations that it funds.   
 
The funds received from bingos are paid directly by the Manitoba Lotteries Corporations to the 
above organizations.  These funds are not reflected on the statement of financial activities. 

 

Thomas Tasker
 Chartered Accountant Inc.                                  
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Auditors' Report

To the Board of Directors of Manitoba Film & Sound Recording Development Corporation:

We have audited the statement of financial position of Manitoba Film & Sound Recording Development Corporation as at March 31, 2010

and the statements of revenues and expenses, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial

statements are the responsibility of the Organization's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and

perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Organization as at March 31,

2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted

accounting principles.

Winnipeg, Manitoba i1~ 1J~ ~ L..LP

April 30,2010 Chartered Accountants

2500 - 201 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1 (877) 500-0795
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The Management of the Manitoba Gaming Control Commission (MGCC) is responsible for the integrity, objectivity 

and reliability of the financial statements, accompanying notes and other financial information that it has prepared 

for this report.

Management maintains internal control systems to ensure that transactions are accurately recorded in accordance 

with established policies and procedures. In addition, certain best estimates and judgments are made based on a 

careful assessment of the available data.

The financial statements and accompanying notes are examined by Manitoba’s Office of the Auditor General (OAG), 

whose opinion is included herein. The OAG has access to the Board of Commissioners, with or without Management 

present, to discuss the results of their audit and the quality of financial reporting at the MGCC. 

F.J.O. (Rick) Josephson Dale Fuga
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

June 18, 2010

D l F
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Manitoba Gaming Control Commission

MARCH 31  2010 2009

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash $ 222,655  $ 50,301 

Short-term investments  1,377,596   1,126,515 

Accounts receivable (Note 5)   30,429   60,221

Prepaid expenses  31,532   30,923

    1,662,212   1,267,960 

 (Note 8)  146,079   146,079

Capital Assets (Note 6)   344,177   376,865

(Note 7)   6,016   8,595 

   $ 2,158,484  $ 1,799,499 

LIABILITIES AND SURPLUS

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 523,259  $ 547,783

    523,259   547,783 

 (Note 8)  565,743   538,793

 (Note 11)  34,900   52,751

    1,123,902   1,139,327 

Surplus  1,034,582   660,172 

   $ 2,158,484  $ 1,799,499 

On behalf of the Board:

DIRECTOR  DIRECTOR

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Manitoba Gaming Control Commission

Statement of Operations and Surplus

For the year ended March 31 	 2010	 2009

Revenue

Registration fees	 $	 4,108,250		  $	 3,825,776	

License fees	  	 1,151,408			   994,036	

	  		  	 5,259,658			   4,819,812	

Expenses

Salaries and benefits		  3,601,071			   3,596,806	

Rent	  	 331,414			   310,988

Legal and professional fees		  163,984			   169,573	

Transportation	  	 131,421	 		  123,237

Public Education	  	 119,418			   145,833

Communications	  	 104,252			   115,637

Supplies and services	  	 102,519			   118,571

Education, training, and conference		  97,923			   97,515

Amortization – capital assets	  	 73,722	 		  80,189	

			   – intangible assets		  2,578			   3,684

Commission Board		  59,789			   123,245

Accommodations	  	 56,463			   54,120	

Other expenses 		  45,913	 		  15,905

HR/Systems support		  21,426	 		  21,728

First Nations legal and professional		  7,381	 		  92,000

				    4,919,274			   5,069,031	

Income (loss) before other items	 	 340,384			   (249,219	)

Other Items

Interest income	 	 2,622			   40,002	

Other income	 	 31,404			   26,240	

 			   	 34,026			   66,242	

Excess revenue (expenses) and comprehensive income (loss)		  374,410			   (182,977	)

Surplus, beginning of year	 	 660,172			   843,149

Surplus, end of year	 $	 1,034,582		  $	 660,172

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.	
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For the year ended March 31 	 2010	 2009

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Excess of revenue over expenses	 $	 374,410	 	 $	 (182,977	)

Items not involving cash

	 Amortization of capital assets		  73,722	 		  80,189

	 Amortization of intangible assets		  2,578			   3,684	

	 Amortization of capital/intangible assets 
		  related to the Commission Board		  1,470	 		  1,615

				    452,180			   (97,489	)

Changes in non-cash working capital balances

	 Accounts receivable		  29,792			   (27,087	)

	 Prepaid expenses		  (609	)		  (1,644	)

	 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities		  (24,524	)		  87,708

	 Deferred revenue		  0			   (1,922,525	)

	 Provision for employee severance benefits	 	 26,950			   51,231

	 Provision for employee pension benefits	 	 (17,851	)		  7,350

			   	 465,938			   (1,902,456	)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchase of capital assets	 	 (42,503	)		  (81,496	)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year		  423,435			   (1,983,952	)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	 	 1,176,816			   3,160,768

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	 $	 1,600,251		  $	 1,176,816	

Represented by

Cash	 $	 222,655		  $	 50,301	

Short-term investments	 	 1,377,596			   1,126,515	

			   $	 1,600,251		  $	 1,176,816	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Manitoba Gaming Control Commission

Statement of Cash Flows
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Manitoba Gaming Control Commission

Notes to Financial Statements
for the year ended March 31, 2010

	 1	Nature of Business

The Manitoba Gaming Control Commission was 
established by The Gaming Control Act. The 
organization’s objectives are to regulate and control 
gaming activity in the province with the aims of ensuring 
that gaming activity is conducted honestly, with integrity 
and in the public interest. The organization began its 
operations on October 20, 1997.

	 2	Change in Accounting Policies

Effective April 1, 2009, the Manitoba Gaming Control 
Commission (MGCC) adopted the following new 
handbook sections issued by the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants (CICA):

Section 3064 Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

Effective April 1, 2009, the Commission adopted 
the recommendations of the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook section 3064 
Goodwill and Intangible Assets and the updates to CICA 
Handbook section 1000 Financial Statement Concepts. 
This guidance establishes updated standards for the 
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 
of goodwill and intangible assets. The adoption of these 
standards affects financial statement presentation only.

Accordingly, the Commission has reclassified $66,443 
(2009 - $66,443) of Capital Assets to intangible assets.

Credit Risk and Fair Value of Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities

During 2009 the Commission adopted the Emerging 
Issues Committee (EIC) 173 and amendments to 
Section 3855, Financial Instruments - Recognition and 
Measurement Section 3855 – Effective Interest Method.

Section 3855 – Embedded Derivatives on 
Reclassification of Financial Assets

Section 3855 – Impairment of Financial Assets

Due to the nature of the Commission’s financial 
instruments, the adoption of these standards and 
amendments had no material impact on the financial 
position of the Commission. 

Section 3862 Financial Instruments – Disclosure

The MGCC has adopted the amendment to the CICA 
standard, Section 3862 Financial Instruments –  
Disclosures. This amended section, which was effective 
January 1, 2009, requires an entity to classify fair 
value measurements into a three-tier hierarchy as a 
framework for disclosing fair value based on inputs 
used to value the MGCC’s investments. The hierarchy 
of inputs is summarized below:

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived 
from prices), or

Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not 
based on observable market data.

Changes in valuation methods may result in transfer 
into and out of an investment’s assigned level. 

The above noted new standards have no impact on 
the recognition, measurement or presentation of 
financial instruments in the MGCC’s year-end financial 
statements. The only financial statement impact is to 
note disclosure.

Future Accounting Changes 

Convergence with Public Sector Accounting Standards 
as issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

Effective April 1, 2011 the Commission will be adopting 
Public Sector Accounting Standards issued by the Public 
Sector Accounting Board. The Commission is currently 
in the process of quantifying the impact these changes 
will have on its financial position. 
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	 3	Significant Accounting Policies

a. General

These financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP).

b. Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingencies at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

c. Capital Assets

Capital assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortization. Amortization based on the estimated 
useful life of the asset is calculated as follows:

Equipment	 20% declining 	  
		  balance basis

Furniture and fixtures 	 10% declining  
		  balance basis

Computer equipment	 30% declining  
		  balance basis

Leasehold improvements	 Straight-line method  
		  over remaining term  
		  of lease (82 months)	

d. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortization. Amortization based on the estimated 
useful life of the asset is calculated as follows:

Computer software	 30% declining 	  
		  balance basis	

e. Revenue Recognition

Revenue and expenses are recorded on an accrual 
basis except for license and supplier registration fees, 
which are recognized on a cash receipt basis.

f. Capital disclosures

In the context of the MGCC, capital is defined as 
the surplus of the MGCC. Externally-imposed capital 
requirements relate to the administration of the MGCC 
in accordance with The Gaming Control Act and 
accompanying regulations. The MGCC has developed 
appropriate risk management strategies, as described 
in note 4, to preserve the surplus of the MGCC.  
The MGCC has complied with externally-imposed 
capital requirements during the year.
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	 4	Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on 
the financial instrument’s classification. Financial instruments are classified into one of the following five categories: 
held for trading; available for sale; held to maturity; loans and receivables; and other financial liabilities. All financial 
instruments classified as held for trading or available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value with any change 
in fair value recorded in net earnings and other comprehensive income, respectively. All other financial instruments 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost. 

The financial assets and liabilities of MGCC are classified and measured as follows: 

	 		  Subsequent	
Financial Asset/Liability	 Category	 Measurement	

Cash and Short-Term Investments 	 Held for trading 	 Fair value 

Long-Term Investment	 Held for trading	 Fair value

Accounts receivable	 Loans and receivables	 Amortized cost

Accounts payable	 Other financial liabilities	 Amortized cost

Accrued liabilities	 Other financial liabilities	 Amortized cost	

Amortized cost is determined using the effective interest rate method. 

Gains and losses on financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost are recognized in the statement 
of operations and surplus in the period the gain or loss occurs. Changes in fair value on financial instruments 
classified as held for trading are recognized in the statement of operations and surplus for the current period. 
Changes in fair value on financial instruments classified as available for sale would be recorded in a statement of 
changes in net assets or other comprehensive income until realized, at which time they are recorded in the statement 
of operations and surplus.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of accounts receivable, receivable from the Province of Manitoba, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities approximates their carrying values due to their short-term maturity.

It has been determined that the MGCC’s investments would be classified as Level 2 because they are invested with 
the Department of Finance.

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Balance Sheet  
are as follows:

	 2010	 2009	

		   Carrying	  	 Fair		   Carrying	  	 Fair 
		  Value 		 Amount 		 Value 		  Amount

Financial Asset/Liability								      

Cash and Short-Term Investment	 $	 1,600,251	 $	 1,600,251	 $	 1,176,816	 $	 1,176,816

Accounts receivable		  30,429		  30,429		  60,221		  60,221

Long-Term Investment		  146,079		  146,079		  146,079		  146,079

Accounts payable		  45,991		  45,991		  116,062		  116,062

Accrued liabilities		  477,268		  477,268		  431,721		  431,721
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Financial risk management - overview

The MGCC has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•	 credit risk

•	 liquidity risk

•	 market risk

•	 interest risk and

•	 foreign currency risk

The MGCC manages its exposure to risks associated with financial instruments that have the potential to affect its 
operating performance in accordance with its risk management framework. The MGCC’s Board of Commissioners 
has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the MGCC’s objectives, policies and procedures for 
measuring, monitoring and managing these risks. 

The MGCC has exposure to the following risks associated with its financial instruments. Analysis of sensitivity to 
specified risks is provided where there may be an effect on the results of operations or financial position. Sensitivity 
analysis is performed by relating the reasonably possible changes in risk variables as at March 31, 2010 to the 
financial instruments outstanding on that date. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss 
to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject MGCC to credit risk consist principally of cash,  
Short-Term Investments and accounts receivable. 

The maximum exposure of MGCC to credit risk  
at March 31, 2010 is:

Cash and Short-Term Investments	 $1,600,251	

Accounts receivable		  30,429	

Long-Term Investment		  146,079	

			   $1,776,759	

Cash and funds on deposits: MGCC is not exposed to significant credit risk as the cash, short-term investments and 
long-term investments are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: MGCC is not exposed to significant credit risk as license and registration fees from charities, 
Manitoba Lotteries Corporation (MLC), First Nations casinos, and suppliers are typically collected when they are due. 
Employee advances are collected upon retirement. Other trade receivables are not typical and have been collected 
subsequent to year end. As such, no specific allowance for doubtful accounts has been created as the potential for 
any receivable impairment is negligible. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that MGCC will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. 

MGCC manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by appropriately utilizing working capital 
advances if required. MGCC prepares and monitors detailed forecasts of cash flows from operations and anticipated 
investing and financing activities. Identified funding requirements are requested, reviewed and approved by the 
Minister of Finance to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations. MGCC continuously 
monitors and reviews both actual and forecasted cash flows through periodic financial reporting. 
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Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices 
will affect MGCC’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments. The significant market risks MGCC is exposed 
to are: interest rate risk; foreign currency risk; and other price risk.

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to short-term investments and long-term debt. 

The interest rate risk on short-term investments is considered to be low because of their short-term nature. The 
interest rate risk on long-term investments is considered low as the original deposit is reinvested annually at rates for 
investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in foreign exchange rates. MGCC is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as it does not have 
any financial instruments denominated in foreign currency. 

	 5	Accounts Receivable

	 2010	 2009	

Charitable Licensees	 $	 2,470	 $	 1,318

Manitoba Lotteries Corporation		  9,300		  17,450

First Nations Casinos	 	 3,100		  3,600

Employee Advances	 	 9,819		  9,819

Supplier Investigations 		  3,161		  2,777

Other trades		  2,579		  25,257	

			  $	 30,429	 $	 60,221	
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	 6	Capital Assets

2010		

						    Accumulated 	 Net Book  
				   Cost 		 Amortization 	 Value 

Equipment	 $	 64,367	 $	 53,709	 $	 10,658	

Furniture and fixtures		  412,482		  244,401		  168,081	

Computer equipment		  939,622		  823,575		  116,047

Leasehold Improvements		  57,318		  7,927		  49,391	

			  $	 1,473,789	 $	 1,129,612	 $	 344,177	

2009			 

						     Accumulated 	 Net Book  
				   Cost 		  Amortization 	 Value 

Equipment	 $	 62,740	 $	 51,282	 $	 11,458	

Furniture and fixtures		  403,713		  226,619		  177,094	

Computer equipment		  928,332		  796,638		  131,694	

Leasehold improvements		  57,318		  699		  56,619	

			  $	 1,452,103	 $	 1,075,238	 $	 376,865	

	 7 	Intangible Assets

2010		

						    Accumulated 	 Net Book  
				   Cost 		 Amortization 	 Value 

Computer software	 $	 66,443	 $	 60,427	 $	 6,016	

2009		

						     Accumulated 	 Net Book  
				   Cost 		  Amortization 	 Value 

Computer software	 $	 66,443	 $	 57,848	 $	 8,595	
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	 8	Long-Term Investment - Provision for Employee 

Severance Benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Commission commenced 
recording the estimated liability for accumulated 
severance pay benefits for certain of its employees. 
During the last collective bargaining session it was 
negotiated that effective April 1, 2007 all employees 
would be eligible for severance pay benefits. The 
amount of this estimated liability is determined using 
the annual actuarial report of severance obligations as 
at March 31, 2010. 

Severance pay, at the employee’s date of retirement, 
will be determined using the eligible employee’s 
years of service and based on the calculation as set by 
the Province of Manitoba. The maximum payout is 
currently 17 weeks at the employee’s weekly salary at 
the date of retirement. Eligibility will require that the 
employee has achieved a minimum of nine years of 
service and that the employee is retiring from  
the Commission. 

An actuarial report was completed for the severance 
pay liability as of March 31, 2010. The Commissions’ 
actuarially determined net liability for accounting 
purposes as at March 31, 2010 was $565,743 
(2009 - $538,793). An actuarial gain of $40,650 will 
be amortized over the 15 year expected average 
remaining service life of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the 
March 31, 2010 valuation and in the determination 
of the March 31, 2010 present value of the accrued 
severance benefit obligation were:

Annual rate of return		

(i)	 inflation component	 2.50%

(ii)	real rate of return	 4.00%	

				    6.50%	

Annual salary escalation rates

(i)	 general increases

		  a) salary increase	 2.50%

		  b) real rate	 0.75%	

				    3.25%	

The Province of Manitoba had accepted responsibility 
for the severance pay benefits of $146,079 
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of its 
employees. Effective March 31, 2010 the Province 
of Manitoba placed the amount of $146,079 into 
an interest bearing trust account to be held on the 
Commission’s behalf until the cash is required to 
discharge the related liabilities.

	 9	Commitments

The organization has an operating lease for its 
premises expiring in 2016.

The minimum annual lease payment for the next  
five years is:

2011	 272,855

2012	 281,329	

2013	 291,497

2014	 291,497

2015	 296,581

	10	Economic Dependence

A substantial portion of the organization’s total revenue 
is derived from Manitoba Lotteries Corporation in 
the form of registration fees. The Manitoba Lotteries 
Corporation is related to the Commission through 
common ownership by the Province of Manitoba. The 
registration fees are recorded at the amount prescribed 
by MGCC regulation.
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	11	Pension Plans

Effective April 1, 2005, all employees are members 
of the Province of Manitoba’s defined benefit 
Superannuation Fund (“the Fund”). 

In accordance with the provisions of the Civil 
Service Superannuation Act (Act), employees of the 
Commission are eligible for pension benefits. Plan 
members are required to contribute to the Fund at 
prescribed rates for defined benefits and will receive 
benefits based on the length of service and on the 
average of annualized earnings calculated on the best 
five years prior to retirement, termination or death 
that provides the highest earnings. The Commission 
is required to match contributions contributed to the 
Fund by the employees at prescribed rates, which is 
recorded as an operating expense. Under this Act,  
the Commission has no further pension liability.

The Commission’s portion of contributions to the 
Fund is recognized as an operating expense in the 
period of contribution. Total contributions for the year 
are $173,601. Contributions for the 2009 year were 
$184,790.

For employees whose annual earnings exceed the 
limit under the Fund, a pension liability is established. 
Based on the triennial actuarial report of pension 
obligations as at March 31, 2010, a reserve of $34,900 
has been established as a pension liability for these 
employees. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized 
in income immediately. Significant long-term actuarial 
assumptions used in the March 31, 2009 Valuation 
and in the determination of the March 31, 2010 
present value of the accrued basic pension benefit 
obligations were:

Annual rate of return		

(i)	 inflation component	 2.50%

(ii)	 real rate of return	 4.00%	

				    6.50%	

Annual salary escalation rates

(i)	 general increases

	 a) salary increase	 2.50%

	 b) productivity component	 0.75%	

	  			   3.25%	

	

12	Working Capital advance

The Minister of Finance, with Lieutenant-Governor-
in-Council approval by Orders in Council (341/1997) 
has arranged for working capital advances to be 
available to the commission. The aggregate of the 
outstanding advances is not to exceed $2,000,000 
(2009 - $2,000,000). As at March 31, 2010 $2,000,000 
(2009 - $2,000,000) of these advances were unused 
and available.

	13	Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures have been restated to 
conform with the financial statement presentation 
adopted in the current year.

	14	Subsequent Event

The MGCC will extend its independent regulatory 
oversight to include lottery ticket retailers as a result of 
amendments to the Gaming Control Act subsequent 
to the year end.
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The management of the Manitoba Habitat Heritage Corporation is responsible for the integrity, 
objectivity and reliability of the financial statements, accompanying notes and other financial 
information in the annual report.

Management maintains internal control systems to ensure that transactions are accurately record-
ed in accordance with established policies and procedures. In management’s opinion, the finan-
cial statements have been properly prepared and out of necessity, include some amounts based 
upon management’s best estimate and judgments up to May 27, 2010.

The responsibility of the Auditor General and staff is to express an independent opinion on 
whether the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles. The auditors’ report outlines the scope of the auditors’ examina-

tion and provides the audit opinion.

       

 Chief Executive Officer

 Business Manager

May 27, 2010 

Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The Manitoba  
Habitat Heritage  
Corporation
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To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba, and

To the Board of Directors of the Manitoba Habitat Heritage Corporation

We have audited the statement of financial position of The Manitoba Habitat Heritage Corporation as at 

March 31, 2010 and the statements of operations and changes in fund balances and cash flows for the 

year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 

standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the finan-

cial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 

overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

the Corporation as at March 31, 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then 

ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Office of the Auditor General

Winnipeg, Manitoba 

May 27, 2010

AUDITORS’ REPORT

500 - 330 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, Manitoba, CANADA  R3C 0C4
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION    
 
Statement of Financial Position 
as at March 31, 2010 
(with comparative figures for 2009)         

   
  North American  Wetland   Land Inter Plan/

  Waterfowl Riparian Restoration Capital Management/Legal Program 2010 2009

  Management Plan Program Incentive Program Assets Fund Eliminations 

ASSETS 

Current Assets

Cash  $72,996   $59,174   $225,055   $122,005   $60,145   $539,375  $673,082 

Funds on deposit with Province of Manitoba (Note 3)  201,283   50,963   100,000     352,246   641,590 

Accounts receivable           

 Government of Canada  365,735     3,997     369,732   151,302 

 Province of Manitoba  135,000   30,000        165,000   237,935 

 U.S. Governments     130,759     130,759   8,175 

 Ducks Unlimited Canada  2,940     11,760     14,700   197,630 

 Other  51,005        51,005   5,525 

 RP – Account Receivable  2,743       $(2,743)  

 NAWMP – Accounts Receivable        

Prepaid expenses  22,189        22,189   27,873 

   853,891   140,137  225,055  368,521   60,145   (2,743)  1,645,006   1,943,112 

Capital Assets (Note 6)     9,243,866    9,243,866   8,326,552 

Trust Assets (Note 11)         1,062,618   1,081,387 

TOTAL ASSETS  $853,891   $140,137   $225,055   $9,612,387   $60,145   $(2,743)  $11,951,490   $11,351,051 

     

LIABILITIES        

Current Liabilities        

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $145,950   $6,562   $4,286   $52,350     $209,148   $181,649 

Due to North American Waterfowl Management Plan   2,743      $(2,743)

Due to Riparian Program

 

Deferred contributions related to operations (Note 4)  135,000   130,832   225,055      490,887   514,095 

Deferred contributions related to capital assets (Note 5)     309,127     309,127   544,904 

   280,950   140,137   229,341   361,477    (2,743)  1,009,162   1,240,648

    

FUND BALANCES

Invested in Capital Assets     9,250,910     9,250,910   8,333,597 

 Unrestricted  572,941    (4,286)     568,655   695,419

 Land Management/Legal Fund (Note 1 d))      $60,145    60,145 

Trust Liabilities (Note 11)        1,062,618   1,081,387 

TOTAL LIABILITIES & FUND BALANCES $853,891   $140,137   $225,055   $9,612,387   $60,145   $(2,743)  $11,951,490   $11,351,051   

      

        
On behalf of the Board:

Director

Director
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION    
  
Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances 
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
(with comparative figures for 2009)         

   
  North American  Wetland   Land Inter Plan/

  Waterfowl Riparian Restoration Capital Management/Legal Program 2010 2009

  Management Plan Program Incentive Program Assets Fund Eliminations  

   

REVENUE 

Current Assets 

Government of Canada  $380,795   $55,884       $436,679   $441,275 

Province of Manitoba  763,383   86,236   $377,955      1,227,574  891,593 

Highways Mitigation Fund, Province of Manitoba         88,963 

Conservation Districts         20,173 

U.S. Governments  26,773        26,773   209,397 

Ducks Unlimited         39,527 

Donations  750        750   778 

Interest   262   263       525   9,158 

Other   56,799        56,799   50,995 

Management Fee  51,710        51,710   51,989 

   1,280,472   142,383   377,955      1,800,810   1,803,848

EXPENSES

Amortization of capital assets     $35,825     35,825   34,948

Service delivery  – Schedule 1  1,335,006        1,335,006   1,308,349 

– Schedule 2   155,825       155,825   238,151 

– Schedule 3    363,875      363,875   30,356 

   1,335,006   155,825   363,875   35,825     1,890,531   1,611,804 

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses  (54,534)  (13,442)  14,080  (35,825)    (89,721)  192,044 

FUND BALANCES

Fund balances, beginning of year  699,951   13,834   (18,366)  8,333,597     9,029,016   7,618,368 

 Investment in capital assets     905,415     905,415   1,158,604 

 Donated land and land use rights     35,000     35,000   60,000 

 Interfund transfers (Note 7)  (72,476)  (392)   12,723   $60,145 

TOTAL LIABILITIES & FUND BALANCES  $572,941    $(4,286)  $9,250,910   $60,145    $9,879,710   $9,029,016
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION    

Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended March 31, 2010 
(with comparative figures for 2009)         

   
  North American  Wetland   Land Inter Plan/

  Waterfowl Riparian Restoration Capital Management/Legal Program 2010 2009

  Management Plan Program Incentive Program Assets Fund Eliminations  

   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES        

 Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses  $(54,534)  $(13,442)  $14,080   $(35,825)    $(89,721)  $192,045

 Amortization of capital assets     35,825     35,825   34,948 

 Net change in non-cash working capital  (28,841)  (33,543)  (14,080)     (76,464)  (46,494)

 Decrease in deferred contributions related to operating activities  (188,009)  (60,253)  225,055      (23,207)  230,919 

Net cash used in operating activities  (271,384)  (107,238)  225,055      (153,567)  411,418 

FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 Purchase of capital assets     (12,723)    (12,723)  (44,317)

 Net change in accounts receivable for acquisition of land rights     23,827     23,827   123,510

 Received restricted grants for purchase of land rights     905,415     905,415   1,158,604 

 Acquisition of land rights with restricted grants     (905,415)    (905,415)  (1,067,651)

 Net change in accounts payable for acquisition of land rights     (44,809)    (44,809)  12,982 

 Increase in deferred contributions related to capital assets     (235,777)    (235,777)  23,373 

 Received donation of land and land rights     35,000     35,000   60,000 

 Acquisition of donated land and land rights     (35,000)    (35,000)  (60,000)

Net cash used in financing and investing activities     (269,482)    (269,482)  206,501

Net increase (decrease) in cash  (271,384)  (107,238)  225,055   (269,482)     (423,049)  617,919

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 618,139   217,767    478,764     1,314,670   696,753

Interfund transfers  (72,476)  (392)   12,723   60,145 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $274,279  $110,137   $225,055   $222,005   $60,145    $891,621   $1,314,672 

       

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:      

 Cash  $72,996   $59,174   $225,055   $122,005   $60,145    $539,375   $673,082 

 Funds on deposit with Province of Manitoba  201,283   50,963      100,000     352,246   641,590 

   $274,279   $110,137   $225,055   $222,005   $60,145    $891,621   $1,314,672  
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2010

1. Nature of Organization

The Manitoba Habitat Heritage Corporation (hereinafter called “the Corporation”) was established in 1986 as a Crown 
Corporation under The Manitoba Habitat Heritage Act. The objectives of the Corporation are the conservation, restoration 
and enhancement of Manitoba fish and wildlife habitat and the associated fish and wildlife populations. Donations to the 
Corporation are tax deductible by the donor pursuant to The Income Tax Act, as gifts to Her Majesty. The Corporation is 
involved in the following initiatives:

 a) The North American Waterfowl Management Plan (NAWMP) 

  Under Order-in-Council 634/89, the Corporation is authorized to be the Provincial agency responsible for coordi-
nating the delivery of the North American Waterfowl Management Plan in Manitoba.

 b) The Riparian Program (RP)

  In January, 1994, the Board of Directors of the Corporation directed staff to develop a strategy to deal with pro-
tection, restoration and enhancement of riparian habitat in agro-Manitoba. In fiscal year 2002/03, the name of the 
program was changed from Green Banks to the Riparian Stewardship Program. In 2006/07 it was changed to the 
Riparian Program to reflect the broadening of the program activities.

  A management fee is charged by the Corporation for services provided by NAWMP to this program.

  c) Wetland Restoration Incentive Program (WRIP)

  In 2008/09 Manitoba Water Stewardship created the Wetland Restoration Incentive Program as a means to seques-
ter carbon to help the Province meet its carbon reduction commitments under the Kyoto “Agreement.” Core fund-
ing is provided by Manitoba's Budgeting for Outcomes. This program is a partnership with MHHC and Ducks 
Unlimited Canada as delivery agents for the Province. MHHC administers all funding on behalf of the Province.

  d) Land Management/Legal Fund

  In 2010 MHHC established an internally-restricted fund, using non-government revenues, to fund future cash 
outlays for legal fees required to defend its land and land use rights interests. Funds may also be used for future 
management costs associated with these land and interests. Funds of this nature are an industry standard within 
environmental non-government organizations, such as the Nature Conservancy of Canada and Ducks Unlimited 
Canada, which have considerable habitat assets protected in perpetuity.
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2010

2. Significant Accounting Policies

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. The 
significant accounting policies are:

  a) Revenue Recognition

  The Corporation follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted contributions are recog-
nized as revenue of the appropriate fund in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. Restricted contri-
butions relating to land and land use rights, which are not amortized, are accounted for as increases in the Capital 
Assets Fund balance when the capital asset is purchased. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue of 
the appropriate fund when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and 
collection is reasonably assured.

  Management fees are recognized as revenue in the year the service is provided.

  b) Capital Assets

  The Capital Assets Fund reports the Corporation’s capital assets and related amortization expenses.

  Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost and donated capital assets are recorded at fair market value at the 
date the asset is donated.

  Amortization of capital assets is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the capital 
assets at the rates indicated below.

    Computer hardware –  20%
    Computer software  –  33%
    Equipment  –  10%
    Furniture and fixtures –  10%
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2010 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

 c) Use of Estimates

  In preparing the Corporation’s financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

  Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectibility and an appropriate allowance for doubtful 
accounts is provided where considered necessary. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of capital 
assets. These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary, they are 
reported in earnings in the periods in which they become known.

 
 d) Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement

  Section 3855 of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook prescribes the criteria for recognition 
and presentation of financial instruments on the statement of financial position and the measurement of financial 
instruments according to prescribed classifications. Under this section, financial assets and liabilities are initially 
recorded at fair value.  This section also addresses how financial instruments are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition and how the gains and losses are recognized.

  The Corporation is required to designate its financial instruments into one of the following five categories: held 
for trading; available for sale; held to maturity; loans and receivables; and other financial liabilities. All financial 
instruments classified as held for trading or available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value with any 
change in fair value recorded in net earnings and fund balances, respectively. All other financial instruments are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost.

  The Corporation has designated its financial instruments as follows:

  Cash is classified as a financial asset held for trading and is measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized 
in net earnings. This financial asset is recorded at a carrying value that approximates its fair value.

  Funds on Deposit with Province of Manitoba are classified as held to maturity. These financial assets are recorded 
at their amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

  Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables.  These financial assets are recorded at their amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method.

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities. These financial liabilities are 
recorded at their amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2010

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

  Management of Risk:

  The Corporation’s financial instruments consist of cash, Funds on Deposit with Province of 
Manitoba, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

  Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the entity is not exposed to significant 
interest, currency or credit risk arising from these financial instruments.

  The fair value of Funds on Deposit with Province of Manitoba, accounts receivable, accounts pay-
able and accrued liabilities approximates their carrying values due to their short-term maturity and 
the fact the majority of these instruments are associated with government entities.

  e) Capital Disclosures

  The Corporation’s objective when managing capital is to maintain sufficient capital to cover its 
costs of operations and to draw on the maximum funds available for environmental projects which 
fall under its mandate. Capital consists of the unrestricted net assets in the amount of $568,654 
(2009 $695,419), $60,145 for internally restriction of land management/legal costs, and externally 
restricted funds recorded as Deferred Contributions (see notes 4 and 5). All externally restricted 
capital must be disbursed on predetermined expenses outlined by the funder or returned to the 
funder within a specified time period. There were no changes in the Corporation’s approach to 
capital management during the period.

  f) Credit Risk and Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

  During 2009 the Corporation adopted the Emerging Issues Committee (EIC) 173 and amend-
ments to Section 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement and 3862, Financial 
Instruments – Disclosures:

 Section 3855 – Effective Interest Method
 Section 3855 – Embedded Derivatives on Reclassification of Financial Assets
 Section 3855 – Impairment of Financial Assets
 Section 3862 – Fair Value and Liquidity Risk Disclosure

  Due to the nature of the Corporation’s financial instruments, the adoption of these standards and 
amendments had no material impact on the financial statements of the Agency.

3. Funds on Deposit with Province of Manitoba

    Funds on deposit with the Province of Manitoba will mature on May 10, 2010, yielding 0.05%.
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2010

4. Deferred Contributions Related to Operations

Deferred contributions reported in the respective funds relate to restricted funding received in the current period that is 
related to expenses of future periods.

Changes in the deferred contributions balance reported in the respective funds are as follows:

     2010 2009
  NAWMP RP WRIP Total Total

Balance, beginning of year $135,000  $191,085  $188,010 $514,095  $268,514 

 Less: revenue recognized in the year (135,000) (139,128) (377,955) (652,083) (137,429)

 Add: revenue received related to the following year 135,000  78,875  415,000 628,875  383,010 

Balance, end of year  $135,000   $130,832  $225,055  $490,887  $514,095

 
NAWMP Program

$135,000 was received from the Province of Manitoba to compensate for the additional salary and related expenses to sup-
port the Chief Executive Officer position which has now become the financial responsibility of the Corporation. 2009 was 
the same.

Riparian Program

The balance of $60,098, originating from the Manitoba Rural Adaptation Council, is restricted for riparian conservation 
and enhancement activities. The balance of $4,758 is restricted to the Watershed Management Planning Program. The 
remainder of $65,976 is restricted for the delivery of riparian easements.

Wetland Restoration Incentive Program

The balance of $225,055, originating from the Province of Manitoba, is restricted for carbon sequestration activities. In 
comparison the 2009 amount was $188,010.
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2010

5. Deferred Contributions Related to Capital Assets

Deferred contributions reported in the Capital Assets Fund represent restricted contributions received with which land and 
land use rights will be purchased. When the land and land use rights are purchased the related restricted contributions 
will be transferred from deferred contributions related to capital assets to the Capital Assets Fund balance.

Changes in the deferred contributions balance in the Capital Assets Fund are as follows:

    2010 2009
  NAWMP RP Total Total

Balance, beginning of year $137,556  $407,348  $544,904  $521,531 

 Add: Contributions received 20,713   20,713  224,123 

 Less: Amounts transferred to fund balance (56,950) (199,540)  (256,490) (200,750)     

Balance, end of year  $101,319   $207,808   $309,127   $544,904

The balance of $309,127 is restricted to signed conservation agreements (land use rights) with landowners, and staff time to 
complete the projects.

The contributions received in 2010 totalled $20,713 consisting of, $20,000 from the Turtle Mountain Conservation District, 
$713 from Environment Canada. In comparison the contributions received in 2009 included, $140,000 from the Province of 
Manitoba, $15,600 from the Turtle Mountain Conservation District, $29,673 from the R.M. of Riverside and $38,850 from 
Wildlife Habitat Canada.
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2010

6. Capital Assets

 Cost  Accumulated  Net Book Value
  Amortization 2010  2009

Land and land use rights  $9,149,269    $9,149,269   $8,208,854 

Computer hardware  237,290   $208,503   28,787   43,631 

Computer software  76,876   66,605   10,271   16,278 

Equipment   127,965   75,238   52,727   54,462 

Furniture and fixtures  62,455   59,643   2,812   3,327 

Total capital assets  $9,653,855   $409,989   $9,243,866   $8,326,552

Purchases of capital assets in the period are as follows:

    2010 2009

      

 

Land and land use rights    $940,415   $1,127,651 

Computer hardware    2,206   7,960 

Computer software   2,033   9,543 

Equipment     5,940   23,699 

Furniture and fixtures    2,544   3,115 

     $953,138   $1,171,968 

      

 

The sources of funding for land and land use rights are as follows:    
   
    2010 2009

Environment Canada    $303,190  $398,850 

Delta Waterfowl Foundation / U.S. Fish & Wildlife    249,570   335,021 

Ducks Unlimited Canada       158,103 

Manitoba Water Stewardship    210,765   44,081 

Manitoba Infrastructure and Transportation       67,706 

Manitoba Conservation Districts    18,100   2,740 

Wildlife Habitat Canada   123,790   61,150 

Donations     35,000   60,000 

     $940,415   $1,127,651
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2010

7. Interfund Transfers

In 2010, $12,723 was transferred from the NAWMP and RP operating funds to the Capital Asset fund in order to fund the 
cash outlays for capital asset acquisitions. In 2009 $44,317 was transferred from NAWMP for the same purpose. No money 
was transferred from the RP operating funds for capital purchases.

Also in 2009, $60,145 was transferred from the NAWMP operating funds to the internally restricted Land Management /
Legal Fund in order to fund the cash outlays for contingent legal fees associated with its land and land use rights. There 
was no fund transfer in 2009.

8. Operational Commitments

  a) The Corporation leases space under existing leases for six NAWMP offices. The minimum annual lease payments 
for the next three years are as follows:

  2011 $72,254

  2012 $49,070

  2013 $36,803

  b) The Corporation leases vehicles and office equipment under NAWMP. The minimum annual lease payments for 
the next three years are as follows:

  2011 $12,583

  2012 $12,583

  2013 $11,312

9. Capital Commitments

At March 31, 2010, the NAWMP and RP had signed several commitments to purchase Conservation Agreements. These 
Conservation Agreements (CAs) are to be paid out upon filing of the caveats associated with each Conservation Agreement 
in the 2011 fiscal year. These commitments to March 31, 2010 totalled approximately $119,757. (2009 – $156,535)

10. Group Registered Pension Plan (RPP) Employee Benefits

Under the terms of the Corporation’s RPP program, employee contributions to RPP’s are matched by the Corporation on 
a current basis. As a result, the Corporation has no future pension benefit liability to employees. The amounts paid by 
the Corporation in 2010 were $25,866 (2009 – $22,317). All funds contributed to the RPP are paid to and administered by 
Manulife Financial.
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2010

11. Trust Assets and Liabilities

The Corporation holds assets in trust as follows:

   2010  2009

 Cash and Funds on Deposit with Province of Manitoba  $469,338 $488,107

 Land  593,280 593,280

   $1,062,618 $1,081,387

Details relating to the parties involved and the assets held are included in notes (a) to (c) which follow.

 a) The Critical Wildlife Habitat Program (CWHP)

  The Corporation provides support to the Wildlife and Ecosystem Protection Branch of Manitoba Conservation for 
the CWHP.

  The Corporation holds title, in trust, to a portfolio of land and provides banking and financial services for CWHP 
funds held in trust. A management fee is allowed, under the agreement, to be charged by the Corporation to the 
CWHP for these services. Disbursements, from the funds held in trust, are made at the direction of the Wildlife 
and Ecosystem Protection Branch.

  Trust assets held by the Corporation on behalf of this program include:

   2010  2009

 Cash and Funds on Deposit with Province of Manitoba  $229,248 $199,402

 Land Portfolio    593,280  593,280

   $822,528 $792,682
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2010

11. Trust Assets and Liabilities (continued)

 b) Prairie Habitat Joint Venture Advisory Board (PHJV)

  On May 12, 1990 Manitoba officially joined the PHJV Advisory Board. The PHJV Board’s purpose is to over-
see implementation of the NAWMP through a joint venture among participating agencies within the prairie 
provinces. PHJV agreed that the partner agencies would contribute to the costs of a Policy Committee with the 
Corporation holding the funds in trust.

 Trust assets held by the Corporation on behalf of this program include:

   2010  2009

 Cash and Funds on Deposit with Province of Manitoba  $144,869 $160,031

 c) Oak Hammock Marsh Wildlife Management Area (OHM-WMA)

  On October 2, 2003 the Province of Manitoba, the Corporation and Ducks Unlimited Canada signed a five year 
infrastructure agreement. The Province of Manitoba and Ducks Unlimited Canada agreed to contribute to the 
costs of restoration to the OHM-WMA with the Corporation holding the funds in trust.

 Trust assets held by the Corporation on behalf of this program include:

   2010  2009

 Cash and Funds on Deposit with Province of Manitoba  $95,221 $128,674
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2010

12. Management Fees

The Corporation charges for services provided by NAWMP to other programs as follows:

  2010 2009

 RP Nil $ 34,342

 MAWP Nil 9,483

 Miscellaneous $ 17,091 Nil

 CWHP  34,619  41,856

  $ 51,710 $ 85,681

The allocation of management fees to the CWHP and Miscellaneous programs is based on 10% (2009 – 10%) of their respec-
tive revenues. The RP and MAWP program management fees are based on hours of service performed at a rate of $413 per 
day (2009 - $400 per day).

13. Economic Dependence

The Corporation is economically dependent on the Province of Manitoba to provide the majority of its operational funding.

14. Related Party Transactions

The Agency is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba departments, agencies and Crown cor-
porations. The Agency enters into transactions with these entities in the normal course of business. These transactions are 
recorded at the exchange amount.

15. Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year presentations.

16. Disclosure Required by the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act

Remuneration paid to Board members during the year, in aggregate, totalled $8,400 (2008 – $6,300). Six contract employees 
were paid the following amounts in the fiscal year:

  2010 2009

 T. Sopuck, Acting, Chief Executive Officer $95,647 $92,598

 C. Hullick, Habitat Field Manager 63,700 53,644

 G. Ouellette, Business Manager 67,191 64,237

 G. Forsyth, Field Representative 62,772 54,739

 R. Bullion, Field Representative 58,355 54,739

 A. Bourrier, Field Representative 58,355 54,739
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION Schedule 1
NORTH AMERICAN WATERFOWL MANAGEMENT PLAN

Schedule of Expenses for the year ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for 2009)       

   2010 2009 

  

EXPENSES     

 Habitat Activities    

  Salaries and Benefits $378,500  $389,315 

  Field Office Operations 78,885  79,849 

  Staff Support Costs 81,038  88,749 

  Habitat Development 10,558  7,412 

  Nest Basket Program 51,111  45,800 

  Land Securement 714  714 

  Property Taxes 14,571  14,208 

    615,377  626,047 

      

 Evaluation 97,398  98,029 

      

 Communications    

  Salaries and Benefits 188  91,250 

  Program Delivery 30,233  39,544 

   30,421  130,794 

 Program Coordination    

  Salaries and Benefits 384,140  249,483 

  Rent 43,599  43,288 

  Office 52,989  59,334 

  Staff Support Costs 8,616  13,929 

  Board Remunerations 16,580  10,654 

  Professional Fees 58,089  49,159 

  Other 27,797  27,632 

   591,810  453,479

TOTAL EXPENSES $1,335,006  $1,308,349 
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION Schedule 2
RIPARIAN PROGRAM

Schedule of Expenses for the year ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for 2009)       

   2010 2009

EXPENSES     

 Habitat Activities    

  Salaries and Benefits $56,862  $37,166 

  Field Office Operations 5,260  5,995 

  Staff Support Costs 15,615  14,420 

  Workshops 275   

  Habitat Management Fees  20,000 

   78,012  77,581 

      

 Evaluation 808  6,842 

      

 Communications    

  Salaries and Benefits  507 

  Program Delivery 2,881  7,766 

   2,881  8,273 

      

 Program Coordination    

  Salaries and Benefits 55,408  58,249 

  Rent 6,835  7,214 

  Office 2,320  2,705 

  Staff Support Costs 4,430  9,176

  Professional Fees 4,981  93,900 

  Other 150  1,053 

  Program Coordination Management Fees  6,850 

   74,124  179,147 

TOTAL EXPENSES $155,825  $271,843
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THE MANITOBA HABITAT HERITAGE CORPORATION Schedule 3
WETLAND RESTORATION INCENTIVE PROGRAM

Schedule of Expenses for the year ended March 31, 2010
(with comparative figures for 2009)       

   2010 2009 

  

EXPENSES     

 Habitat Activities    

  Salaries and Benefits $27,413   

  Staff Support Costs 4,133   

  Habitat Development 8,801   

  Land Securement 262,720  $30,356 

   303,066  30,356 

      

 Evaluation 60,809   

 

TOTAL EXPENSES $363,875  $30,356
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the manitoba health  
research council
The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management 
and have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. In management’s opinion, the financial statements have been 
properly prepared and of necessity include some amounts based upon 
management’s best estimates and judgements.

As management is responsible for the integrity of the financial statements, 
management has established systems of internal control to provide assurance 
that assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded from loss.

Jim Davie, PhD
Executive Director

management report

312009 | 2010 Annual Report
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auditors’ report
to the legislative assembly of manitoba:
We have audited the statement of financial position of MANITOBA HEALTH RESEARCH COUNCIL as at 
March 31, 2010 and the statements of operations and fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the organization’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
organization as at March 31, 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants 
Winnipeg, Manitoba 
April 20, 2010
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statement of financial position
March 31	 2010	 2009	  

ASSETS

Current Assets

	 Cash and bank (Note 2) 	 310,623	 $99,964 

	 Short‑term investments  	 1,987,890	 2,273,722	

	 Accounts receivable  	 9,313	 7,860

	 Accrued interest receivable	 10,078	 —	

	 Prepaid expenses 	 2,157 	 2,154	

	 Deposits	 500	 500	

		  2,320,561	 2,384,200

Capital assets (Note 3) 	 18,694	 15,794	

		  2,339,255	 $2,399,994	

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Current Liabilities

	 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 4) 	 105,181	 $107,590	

	 Research grants payable 	 305,297	 438,968	

		  410,478	 546,558

Commitments (Note 6)	  	

Fund Balances

	 General Research Fund (Page4) 	 1,928,777	 1,853,436	

		  $2,339,255	 $2,399,994	

Approved on behalf of the board

		  Director

		  Director

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements. i
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 statement of operations and fund balances
For the year ended March 31			   2010 	 2009	  

		 	 General	 Regional
			  Research	 Partnership
			  Fund	 Fund	 Total 	 Total 
Revenue

	 Province of Manitoba grants	 $5,030,200	 $1,000,000	 $6,030,200	 $6,000,000	

	 Grants returned /rescinded	 47,838	 35,273	 83,111	 169,923	

	 Investment income	 37,306	 —	 37,306	 57,645	

			  5,115,344	 1,035,273	 6,150,617	 6,227,568	

Add deferred revenue, 
	 beginning of year	 —	 —	 —	 368,046	

			  5,115,344	 1,035,273	 6,150,617	 6,595,614	

Expenditures

	 Administration (Page 12)	 703,596	 —	 703,596	 733,746	

	 Personnel awards 	 2,123,073	 28,500	 2,151,573	 2,072,770	

	 Research grants	 2,377,878	 842,229	 3,220,107	 2,785,995	

			  5,204,547	 870,729	 6,075,276	 5,592,511	

Excess (deficiency) of revenue 
	 over expenditures for the year	 (89,203)	 164,544	 75,341	 1,003,103	

Fund balances,
	 beginning of year	 1,853,436	 —	 1,853,436	 850,333	

Transfer Regional Partnership 
	 Fund to General Research 
	 Fund 	 164,544	 (164,544)	 —	 —	

Fund balances,
	 end of year (Page 3)	 $1,928,777	 $              —	 $1,928,777	 $1,853,436	
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statement of cash flows
For the year ended March 31	 2010 	 2009	  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Excess of revenue over expenditures for the year	 $75,341	 $1,003,103	

Adjustments for

	 Amortization of capital assets	 4,672	 4,088	

		  80,013	 1,007,191	

Changes in non‑cash working capital balances

	 Short‑term investments	 285,832 	 (1,908,001)	

	 Accounts receivable	 (1,453)	 783,697	

	 Accrued interest receivable	 (10,078)	 —	

	 Prepaid expenses	 (3)	 3	

	 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	 (2,409)	 17,753	

	 Deferred revenue	 —	 (368,046)	

	 Research grants payable 	 (133,671)	 (2,719)	

			   218,231	 (470,122)	

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
	 Purchase of capital assets	 (7,572)	 (17,036)	

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year	 210,659	 (487,158)	

Cash, beginning of year	 99,964	 587,122	

Cash, end of year	 $310,623	 $99,964	

Supplementary Information
	 Interest received	 $27,364	 $56,456	

The accompanying summary of significant accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements. iii
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summary of significant accounting policies
March 31, 2010

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles.

Financial Instruments	 The organization utilizes various financial instruments. Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s 
opinion that the organization is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from 
these financial instruments and the carrying amounts approximate fair values.

All transactions related to financial instruments are recorded on a trade date basis.

The organization classifies its financial instruments as follows based on the purpose for which the asset 
was acquired and follows the disclosed accounting policy for each category.

Assets/Liability	 Category	 Measurement

Cash and bank	 Held for trading	 Fair value

Short‑term investments	 Held for trading	 Fair value

Accounts receivable	 Loans and receivables	 Amortized cost

Accrued interest receivable	 Loans and receivables	 Amortized cost

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	 Other financial liabilities	 Amortized cost

Research grants payable	 Other financial liabilities	 Amortized cost

•	 Held for trading items are carried at fair value, with changes in their fair value recognized in the 
statement of operations.

•	 Other financial liabilities are carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest method.

•	 Loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method, less 
any provision for impairment.

Transaction costs are expensed as incurred.
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summary of significant accounting policies
March 31, 2010

Capital Assets	 Capital assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization, based on 
the estimated useful life of the asset, is calculated as follows:

	 Office equipment 	 20% diminishing balance basis

	 Computer equipment 	 20% diminishing balance basis

Fund Accounting	 The Manitoba Health Research Council follows the restricted fund method of 
accounting for contributions.

	 The General Research Fund reports only restricted resources that are used for research 
purposes. General research grants are charged to expenditures in the year the funding 
is committed for, by Council. Research grants returned to or rescinded by the Council 
are recorded as revenues when received or rescinded.

	 Regional Partnership awards are charged to expenditures when funding is received from 
the Province of Manitoba. Regional partnership awards returned to or rescinded by the 
Council are recorded as revenues when received or rescinded.

Revenue Recognition	 Grant revenue is reflected in income in the period in which the grant is received or 
becomes receivable. Interest income is recognized as revenue when earned and is 
allocated to the General Fund.

Grants and Awards	 All grants and awards and their renewals are charged to expenditures when funding is 
approved by Council.

Administrative Expenditures	 Administration expenses are allocated 100% to the General Research Fund.

New Accounting 
Pronouncements	 Recent accounting pronouncements that have been issued but are not yet effective, and 	
	 have a potential implication for the organization, are as follows:

	 Future for Not-for-Profit Organizations (NPO)

In October 2009, the Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) tentatively decided that it will 
propose a choice between the accounting standards for private enterprises plus the 
current NPO standards appropriately modified to fit with those standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards or Public Sector Accounting standards (PSAB) with NPO 
standards added on to PSAB. The Public Sector Accounting Board agreed that there 
was sufficient support to develop an NPO series to add onto the PSAB standards similar 
to the current NPO standards, but appropriately modified to fit with PSAB. The two 
boards are working together and intend to issue an Exposure Draft for comment in the 
first half of 2010. Until the Boards make a final decision all NPOs will continue to follow 
the current Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook – Accounting.

The organization continues to monitor the developments in this area and evaluate the 
implications of the potential changes in financial reporting standards.
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notes to financial statements
March 31, 2010

1.	 Entity Definition

	 The Manitoba Health Research Council was established by The Manitoba Health Research Council Act to promote and 
assist basic, clinical and applied research in the health sciences in Manitoba. The Manitoba Health Research Council is a 
registered charity and is exempt from tax under the Income Tax Act.

2.	 Cash and Bank	 2010 	 2009	  

	 Bank of Montreal current account	 $310,623	 $85,940	  
Wellington West cash account	 —	 14,024	

		  $310,623	 $99,964	

3.	 Capital Assets          		  2010	 2009	

			   Accumulated		  Accumulated 
	 Cost	 Amortization 	 Cost 	 Amortization

	 Office equipment	 $21,059	 $7,592	 $14,599	 $4,226	  
Computer equipment	 12,861	 7,634	 11,749	 6,328	

	 $33,920	 $15,226	 $26,348	 $10,554	

Cost less accumulated amortization		  $18,694		  $15,794	

4.	 Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities          

	 Included in accounts payable are appropriations of $75,000 for Electronic Grants Management System for expenditures 
committed to in the 2009/10 fiscal year for ongoing work and outstanding expenses incurred on the project.

5.	 Related Party Transactions      

	 Manitoba Health Research Council is related to all Province of Manitoba departments and agencies. During the year, the 
Council had the following transactions with related organizations:

		  2010 	 2009	  

	 Grant revenue	 $6,030,200	 $6,000,000	

	 These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount 
of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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notes to financial statements
March 31, 2010

6.	 Commitments         

	 The  Manitoba Health Research Council has committed grants and awards under the General Research Fund and the 
Regional Partnership Fund as follows:

	 General Research Fund	 Regional Partnership Fund	 Total

2010	 $2,437,816	 $717,026	 $3,154,842	

2011	 996,173	 147,427	 1,143,600	

2012	 500,000	 —	 500,000	

2013	 200,000	 —	 200,000	

	 $4,133,989	 $864,453	 $4,998,442	

Commitments of future years of the General Research Fund and Regional Partnership Fund are not recorded as an 

expenditure in the year of commitment, they are recorded as an expenditure in the year they are committed for. These 
commitments will be funded as follows:

Current General Research Fund Balance	 $1,928,777	

Future Province of Manitoba grants	 3,069,665		

	 $4,998,442	

7.	 Economic Dependence        

	 The Manitoba Health Research Council relies almost entirely on grants from the Province of Manitoba.

8.	 Capital Disclosures        

	 The council considers its capital consists of its end of year Fund balances. There have been no changes to what the council 
considers to be its capital since the previous period.

	 The council manages its capital to ensure it retains sufficient cash resources to enable it to carry out its mission of providing 
grants to assist with medical research in Manitoba. 

viiPage 462



    

schedule of administrative expenses
For the year ended March 31	 2010 	 2009	

Accounting and audit	 $4,409	 $4,508	

Amortization	 4,672	 4,088	

Bank charges and interest	 405	 249	

Communications	 113,931	 264,635	

Conferences, meetings and travel	 14,087	 13,352	

Consulting and professional fees	 56,881	 7,046	

Council and committee expenses	 17,222	 13,608	

Delivery	 3,130	 3,356	

GST expense	 684	 294	

Insurance	 4,487	 4,450	

Marketing	 23,724	 14,714	

Parking	 1,561	 1,042	

Printing, stationery and office supplies	 9,531	 14,568	

Repairs and maintenance	 6,785	 2,979	

Reviewer’s expenses	 28,412	 12,960	

Salaries and benefits	 409,167	 371,297	

Workshops and training	 4,508	 600	

	 $703,596 	 $733,746	
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
 
 
Management of Manitoba Health is responsible to the Minister of Health for the integrity and 
objectivity of the financial statements and schedules of the Manitoba Health Services Insurance 
Plan. The financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2010 have been prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles consistent with prior years. Included in this year’s 
financial statement is the Schedule of Payments pursuant to the provisions of The Public Sector 
Compensation Disclosure Act. 
 
Manitoba Health maintains a system of internal control designed to provide management with 
reasonable assurance that confidential data and other assets are safeguarded and that reliable 
operating and financial records are maintained. This system includes written policies and 
procedures, an internal audit program and an organization structure which provides for 
appropriate delegation of authority and segregation of responsibilities. Staff of the Office of the 
Auditor General review internal controls and report their findings annually to management and 
to the Minister of Health. 
 
The Office of the Auditor General is responsible to express an independent, professional 
opinion on whether the financial statements are fairly stated in accordance with the accounting 
policies stated in the financial statements. The Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit 
examination and provides the audit opinion. 
 
Management has reviewed and approved these financial statements. To assist in meeting its 
responsibility, an audit committee meets to review audit, financial reporting and related matters. 
 
On behalf of the management, 
 
 
 
Original signed by 
 
 
Milton Sussman 
Deputy Minister of Health 
 
 
 
Original signed by 
 
________________________________ 
Karen Herd, CA 
Chief Financial Officer and Winnipeg, Manitoba 
Assistant Deputy Minister June 25, 2010 
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MANITOBA HEALTH SERVICES INSURANCE PLAN    

Statement of Financial Position     

As At March 31, 2010     
(in thousands of dollars)     
        
        
    2010   2009
Assets     

        
Current     

  Cash $     14,660    $     22,030 

  Funds on deposit with the Province of Manitoba      262,501         242,786 

  Accounts receivable (Note 3)      138,795          59,672 

  Due from the Province of Manitoba - vacation pay (Note 4)       121,663         121,663 
         537,619         446,151 
     
Due from the Province of Manitoba - post employment
      
  benefits (Note 4)       128,177         128,177 
        
    $    665,796    $    574,328 

        
        
     
Liabilities and Net Assets     

       
Current     

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5)      415,956         324,488 

  Accrued vacation pay (Note 4)  121,663   121,663
    537,619   446,151
        
Post employment benefits payable (Note 4)      128,177         128,177 

        
Net Assets  
        

    $    665,796   $    574,328 
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MANITOBA HEALTH SERVICES INSURANCE PLAN     

Statement of Operations and Net Assets     
For the Year Ended March 31, 2010     
(in thousands of dollars)     
         
         
    2010   2009
Revenue        

  Grants from the Province of Manitoba  (Note 8) $ 4,204,365  $3,977,545

  Inter-provincial reciprocal recoveries - Hospital 58,252  52,480

  Inter-provincial reciprocal recoveries - Medical 14,273  13,027

  Third party recoveries 14,973  14,556

  Miscellaneous 2,052  2,059

   4,293,915  4,059,667
        
        
Expenses        

  Health Authorities and Facilities (Note 6) 3,033,043  2,864,201

  Medical (Notes 6,10) 905,135  840,799

  Provincial programs 120,997  126,210

  Pharmacare 234,740  229,257

   4,293,915  4,060,467
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses 

   
(800)

       
Net Assets, beginning of year           800 

Net Assets, end of year  $          $          -
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Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year ending March 31, 2010 
 
 

1. Nature of Operations 

The Manitoba Health Services Insurance Plan (the Plan) operates under the authority of the Health 
Services Insurance Act.  The mandate of the Plan is to provide health related insurance for 
Manitobans by funding the costs of qualified hospital, medical, personal care and other health 
services.  The Plan’s financial operations are administered outside of the Provincial Consolidated 
Fund. 

 
2. Significant Accounting Policies 

a. General 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) for not-for-profit entities. 
 

b. Revenue Recognition 
  Revenue is recognized as funds are drawn from Province of Manitoba appropriations. 
 

c. Capital Management 
The Plan’s objective when managing capital is to maintain sufficient capital to cover its costs of 
operations. The Plan’s capital consists of net assets. 

 
The Plan’s capital management policy is to  
- Maintain sufficient capital to meet its objectives through its net assets by managing transfers 

of surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba, 
- Meet short-term capital needs with working capital advances from the Province of Manitoba.  

 
The Plan is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  

 
There were no changes in the Plan’s approach to capital management during the period. 

  
 

d. Financial Instruments  
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value.  Measurement in subsequent 
periods depends on the financial instrument’s classification.  Financial instruments are classified 
into one of the following five categories: held for trading; available for sale; held to maturity; loans 
and receivables; and other financial liabilities.  All financial instruments classified as held for 
trading or available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value with any change in fair value 
recorded in net earnings and net assets, respectively.  All other financial instruments are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost.  

 
The Plan has designated its financial instruments as follows:  
 
Cash and funds on deposit are classified as financial assets held for trading and are measured at 
fair value with gains and losses recognized in the statement of operations and net assets for the 
current period.  
 
Accounts receivable, and the amounts due from the Province of Manitoba are classified as loans 
and receivables. These financial assets are recorded at their amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method with gains and losses recognized in the statement of operations and net 
assets in the period the gain or loss occurs. 
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Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and accrued vacation pay are classified as other 
financial liabilities. These financial liabilities are recorded at their amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method with gains and losses recognized in the statement of operations 
and net assets in the period the gain or loss occurs. 
 
The Plan has continued to apply section 3861, Financial Instruments – Disclosures and 
Presentation in place of Sections 3862 and 3863. 
 
Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that Plan is not exposed to significant 
interest, currency or credit risk arising from these financial instruments.   
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
The fair value of accounts receivable due from the Province of Manitoba – vacation pay, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, and accrued vacation pay approximates their carrying values due 
to their short-term maturity. 
 
The carrying value of the due from the Province of Manitoba – post employment receivable 
approximates its fair value, as the annual interest accretion is funded. 
 

e. Use of Estimates  
 The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.  
 

f. Administrative and Operating Expenses 
The financial statements do not include administrative salaries and operating expenses related to 
the Plan.  These are included in the operating expenses of Manitoba Health. 

 

g. Statement of Cash Flows 
These financial statements do not include a Statement of Cash Flows.  In the opinion of 
management, the Statement of Cash Flows does not provide additional disclosure. 
 

h. Changes in Accounting Policies 
The Fund has adopted the amendments to the 4400 series of the CICA Handbook.  The primary 
impact of these changes was to present revenues and expenses on a gross basis. 
 

3. Accounts Receivable 

 2010 2009 
Province of Manitoba $63,904 $21,721          
Other Provinces and Territories 29,351 23,994 
Other 45,540 13,957 
 $138,795 $59,672 

 
4. Employee Benefits  

The Plan revised, in 2005, its funding arrangements related to vacation pay and post employment 
benefits. Prior to 2005, the Plan did not fund the annual vacation leave earned by employees of the 
Regional Health Authorities (Health Authorities) and Health Care Facilities (Facilities) until the year 
vacations were taken. As well, the Plan did not fund post-employment benefits earned by employees 
of Health Authorities and Facilities until those post-employment benefits were paid.  Funding is now 
provided as vacation pay and post employment benefits are earned by employees subsequent to 
March 31, 2004. 
 
The amount recorded as due from the Province – vacation pay was initially based on the estimated 
value of the corresponding liability as at March 31, 2004.  Subsequent to March 31, 2004, the 
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Province has included in its ongoing annual funding to the Plan, an amount equal to the current year’s 
expense for vacation pay entitlements. 

 
The amount recorded as due from the Province – post employment benefits is the value of the 
corresponding actuarial liability for post employment costs as at March 31, 2004.  There has been no 
change to the value subsequent to March 31, 2004 because the Province has provided, in its ongoing 
annual funding to the Plan, an amount equivalent to the change in the post employment liability 
including annual interest accretion related to the receivable.  The receivable will be paid by the 
Province when it is determined that the funding is required to discharge the related post employment 
liabilities.  
 

5. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities  

 2010  2009 
Health Authorities and Facilities $294,001 $187,740 
Medical Service Claims 85,255 81,031 
Pharmacare Claims 6,281 17,174 
Province of Manitoba 1,217 9,211 
General 29,202 29,332 
 $415,956 $324,488 
 

6. Regional Health Authorities 

The following table summarizes payments to the Health Authorities.  These payments are included in 
the financial statements in the expense categories of Health Authorities and Facilities and Medical. 

 

Regional Health Authority 2010  2009 
 Facilities Medical Total  Total 

Winnipeg  $1,849,226 $172,135 $2,021,361 $1,931,927 
Brandon 169,663 13,002 182,665 174,586 
North Eastman 46,743 3,342 50,085 47,573 
South Eastman 72,981 6,402 79,383 75,342 
Interlake 93,634 8,084 101,718 97,912 
Central 161,109 16,459 177,568 166,066 
Assiniboine 132,085 15,578 147,663 141,205 
Parkland 108,261 5,767 114,028 110,172 
NOR-MAN 62,325 12,042 74,367 69,593 
Burntwood 62,439 15,950 78,389 74,170 
Churchill 10,158 - 10,158 10,841 
CancerCare  80,457 15,217 95,674 91,153 
Total Payments $2,849,081 $283,978 $3,133,059 $2,990,540 

The expense category, Health Authorities and Facilities, in the Statement of Operations and Net 
Assets is comprised of the following: 

 2010  2009 
Health Authorities payments $2,849,081 $2,737,195 
Accruals and payments to facilities and third parties 183,962 127,006 
Total Expenses $3,033,043 $2,864,201 
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The expense category, Medical, in the Statement of Operations and Net assets is comprised of the 
following: 

 2010  2009 
Fee for Services Medical payments and accruals $603,546 $571,553 
Health Authorities payments 283,978 253,345 
Optometric 7,050 6,120 
Chiropractic  10,561 9,781 
Total Expenses $905,135 $840,799 

 
7. Contingencies  

The nature of the Plan’s activities is such that there may be litigation pending or in progress at any 
time.  With respect to claims at March 31, 2010, no provision has been made in the financial 
statements as the final outcome of the claims is not determinable at this time. 

 
8. Economic Dependence 

The Plan is economically dependent on the Province of Manitoba for its funding. 

 

9. Related Party Transactions 

In addition to those related transactions disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Plan is 
related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created departments, agencies and 
Crown corporations. The Plan enters into transactions with these entities in the normal course of 
business.  These transactions are recorded at the exchange amount.   

 
10. The Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act 

The Schedule of Payments pursuant to the provisions of The Public Sector Compensation Disclosure 
Act is included as part of the Annual Report of Manitoba Health.  

 
11. Comparative Figures 

Certain of the prior year’s figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
 
The accompanying financial statements of The Manitoba Housing and Renewal 
Corporation are the responsibility of management and have been prepared in 
accordance with the accounting policies stated in the financial statements.  These 
accounting policies have been applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding 
year.  In management’s opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared 
within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management’s best judgment 
regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available up to July 23, 2010. 
 
Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance of the 
reliability and accuracy of the financial information and that the assets of The Manitoba 
Housing and Renewal Corporation are properly safeguarded. 
 
The responsibility of the Office of the Auditor General of the Province of Manitoba is to 
express an independent, professional opinion on whether the financial statements of The 
Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation are fairly presented in accordance with the 
accounting policies stated in the notes to the financial statements.  The Auditor’s Report 
outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion. 
 
 
On behalf of Management 
 
Original signed by  
 
________________________________ 
Brian Brown, Comptroller, Financial Management 
 
Original signed by  
 
________________________________ 
Darrell Jones, Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
July 23, 2010 
 
 
 

Page 486



2010 2009

Cash (note 4)  $    153,049,249  $    113,315,188 

Accounts receivable and accruals (note 5)          49,553,003          29,961,332 

Prepaid expenses            5,824,831            4,455,464 

Loans and mortgages receivable (note 6)        138,284,225        144,267,605 

Land and housing:

Housing projects (note 7)        114,796,141          92,692,149 

Housing investment (note 8)               755,883               916,145 

Land development costs          39,691,944          35,388,909 

Land (note 10)          11,798,593          11,982,966 

       167,042,561        140,980,169 

Total Assets  $    513,753,869  $    432,979,758 

Liabilities

Accounts payable, holdbacks and accruals  $      55,314,281  $      45,625,899 

Deferred revenue (note 11)          63,783,582          15,683,332 

Long-term debt (note 12)        531,613,772        508,895,430 

Deferred contributions (note 13)          65,062,909          77,573,971 

Total Liabilities        715,774,544        647,778,632 

Fund Balances

The Housing Development and Rehabilitation Fund (note 21)            4,969,044            6,417,575 

The Manitoba Housing and Renewal Fund (Deficit)      (206,989,719)      (221,216,449)

Total Fund Balances (Accumulated Deficit)      (202,020,675)      (214,798,874)

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances  $    513,753,869  $    432,979,758 

Contingencies (note 22)

Commitments (note 23)

Guarantees (note 24)

Approved by the Board of Directors:

Director Director

(see accompanying notes)

BALANCE SHEET

THE MANITOBA HOUSING AND RENEWAL CORPORATION

ASSETS

March 31, 2010

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Original signed by  Original signed by  
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2010 2009

Revenue:

Grants from the Province of Manitoba (note 14)  $      79,434,016  $      74,243,149 

Contributed services (note 15)            1,399,100            1,743,600 

Rental revenue (note 16)          71,383,497          71,031,083 

Subsidy contributions (note 25)          71,346,450          50,096,014 

       223,563,063        197,113,846 

Interest:

Loans and mortgages          13,237,516          14,034,784 

Bank and other                 21,378               159,266 

         13,258,894          14,194,050 

Sales of land and other:

Sales of land - joint venture (note 9)               568,168            3,686,753 

Sales of land - Waverley West          15,760,900            9,398,220 

Other                 86,032            1,167,010 

         16,415,100          14,251,983 

       253,237,057        225,559,879 

Expenses:

Housing operations - excluding amortization and interest (note 16)        122,025,552        107,165,607 

Housing operations amortization (note 16)            9,556,607            8,489,978 

Housing operations interest (note 16)          20,863,906          22,827,333 

Rental subsidies (note 17)          36,849,306          36,614,122 

Grants and subsidies (note 18)          10,254,792            6,489,884 

Interest expense          13,697,333          15,101,507 

Administrative services (note 15)            3,202,800            1,974,500 

(Gain) on sale of housing projects and land               (33,213)             (111,240)

(Recovery) of provision for loss and write downs             (751,105)          (3,862,306)

Cost of land sales - joint venture               198,022            1,388,504 

Cost of land sales - Waverley West          13,260,582            8,882,180 

Repair and renovation expense (note 15)            5,920,962            7,555,004 

Housing program supports (note 21)            4,329,497                           - 

Other               627,445            1,374,623 

Pension (note 19)               456,372            1,499,014 

       240,458,858        215,388,710 

Net Income and Comprehensive Income  $      12,778,199  $      10,171,169 

THE MANITOBA HOUSING AND RENEWAL CORPORATION

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

(see accompanying notes)
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2010 2009

Manitoba Housing and Renewal Fund (MHRF)

(Deficit) - beginning of year  $  (221,216,449)  $  (228,648,778)

Excess revenues over expenditures          12,778,199          10,171,169 

Interfund transfer - HDRF (note 21)            1,448,531          (2,738,840)

MHRF (Deficit) - end of year  $  (206,989,719)  $  (221,216,449)

Housing Development and Rehabilitation Fund

(HDRF) - beginning of year  $        6,417,575  $        3,678,735 

Interfund transfer - MHRF (note 21)          (1,448,531)            2,738,840 

HDRF - end of year            4,969,044            6,417,575 

Total Fund Balances (Accumulated Deficit)  $  (202,020,675)  $  (214,798,874)

THE MANITOBA HOUSING AND RENEWAL CORPORATION

STATEMENT OF FUND BALANCES

March 31, 2010

(see accompanying notes)
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2010 2009

Cash provided by (used for):

Operating activities:

Excess of revenue over expenses  $      12,778,199  $      10,171,169 

Add (deduct) items not involving cash:

Amortization            9,556,607            8,489,978 

Rental Subsidy to record reduction of Repayable Loans            2,684,400            2,494,618 

(Recovery) of provision for loss and write downs             (751,106)          (3,862,306)

Gain on sale of housing projects and land               (33,213)             (111,240)

Federal subsidies - housing projects               448,418               673,270 

         11,905,106            7,684,320 

Net change in non-cash balances related to operations:

Accounts receivable and accruals        (19,591,671)          (2,005,318)

Prepaid expenses          (1,369,367)               936,710 

Accounts payable, holdbacks and accruals            9,688,382            6,512,001 

Deferred revenue          48,100,250            2,962,136 

Deferred contributions        (12,511,062)            8,231,932 

Land development costs in joint venture (note 9)               165,520            1,241,089 

Land in joint venture (note 10)                 22,702               121,411 

         49,188,060          35,855,450 

Financing activities:

Borrowings          46,740,034          40,948,163 

Repayment of borrowings        (24,021,692)        (27,889,435)

Additions of loans and mortgages receivable             (515,930)             (653,306)

Proceeds from repayment of loans and mortgages receivable            6,499,310            3,541,799 

         28,701,722          15,947,221 

Investing activities:

Additions to land and housing        (38,191,321)        (32,340,684)

Proceeds from sale of housing projects and land                 35,600               221,446 

       (38,155,721)        (32,119,238)

Increase (decrease) in cash          39,734,061          19,683,433 

Cash at beginning of year        113,315,188          93,631,755 

Cash at end of year  $    153,049,249  $    113,315,188 

Supplementary disclosure:

Cash payments of interest received  $      16,509,468  $      13,692,723 

Cash payments of interest paid  $      35,464,019  $      35,794,770 

(see accompanying notes)

THE MANITOBA HOUSING AND RENEWAL CORPORATION

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010
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THE MANITOBA HOUSING AND RENEWAL CORPORATION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - MARCH 31, 2010 

 
 

5 

1. Authority 
 
 The Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation (MHRC) operates under the authority of The Housing 

and Renewal Corporation Act, being Chapter H 160 Revised Statutes of Manitoba 1987.  The purposes 
and objects of the Act are: 

a) to ensure that there is an adequate supply of housing stock in Manitoba; 
b) to enhance the affordability of, and accessibility to, adequate housing for Manitobans, particularly 

those of low and moderate income and those with specialized needs; 
c) to maintain and improve the condition of existing housing stock; and 
d) to stimulate and influence the activities of the housing market to the benefit of Manitobans as a 

whole. 
 
MHRC is under the management and control of a Board of Directors appointed by the Lieutenant 
Governor in Council.  The board shall consist of not fewer than five members and not more than 13 
members and the Lieutenant Governor in Council may designate one of the members of the board as 
chairperson and one member as vice-chairperson. 

 
The Corporation is economically dependent on the Government of the Province of Manitoba. 
 
These financial statements include, in note 16, the operating results of MHRC owned properties which are 
Direct Managed (formerly known as The Manitoba Housing Authority). 
 

2. Significant accounting policies 
 

a) Basis of accounting 
 
 The Corporation's financial statements are prepared using Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles. 
 
b) Loans and mortgages receivable 
 
 Loans and mortgages receivable are valued at principal amounts less an allowance for loan 

impairment. 
 
c) Loan forgiveness 
 
 Loan forgiveness for forgivable loans is approved in accordance with the terms of the loan 

agreements.  The Corporation records an asset valuation allowance equal to the amount of the loan 
at the time the loan is granted.  As forgiveness conditions are met by the borrower, the Corporation 
records the annual forgiveness by reducing both the forgivable loan and the accompanying valuation 
allowance. 

 
d) Allowance for loan impairment 
 
 The Corporation maintains an allowance for loan impairment, which reduces the carrying value of 

loans and mortgages receivable to their estimated realizable amounts.  Depending on the program 
under which the loan or mortgage is made, estimated realizable amounts are determined with 
reference to the Corporation’s historical loss experience on similar loans or the appraised value of the 
project financed by the loan or mortgage. 

 
 Specific allowances are established for individual loans and mortgages for which the estimated 

realizable amount is less than the carrying value.  The Corporation does not provide any additional 
non-specific, general provision for loan impairment.  The Corporation’s Board of Directors has 
approved a policy which defines whether an individual mortgage or loan balance is to be considered 
impaired based on the time period that it has been in arrears. 
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THE MANITOBA HOUSING AND RENEWAL CORPORATION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - MARCH 31, 2010 
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e) Housing projects and amortization 
 

i) Social housing projects are valued at cost less accumulated amortization.  
ii) Cost includes direct construction costs, land acquisition costs and interest and other related 

carrying charges incurred during the period of construction. 
iii) Housing projects which are declared abandoned or surplus to the needs of the Corporation are 

valued at the lesser of cost less accumulated amortization and net realizable value. 
iv) Housing projects are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as 

follows: 
 Wood buildings – 25 years 

  Brick buildings – 40 years 
  Betterments – 10 to 20 years 
 

f) Interest in joint venture 
 

The interest in joint venture is recognized using the proportionate consolidation method. Proportionate 
consolidation is a method of accounting and reporting whereby MHRC's prorata share of each of the 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the joint venture is combined on a line by line basis with 
similar items in MHRC's financial statements. 

 
g) Land 

 
Land is valued at the lower of cost and appraised value adjusted for estimated disposition costs, 
except for land leased to co-operatives.  Cost includes acquisition costs and related carrying costs. 
The carrying costs of the land, which include interest, planning and development costs, grants in lieu 
of taxes, less revenue derived from use of undeveloped land, were capitalized to land to March 31, 
1993.  Effective April 1, 1993 the carrying costs are charged annually to operations.  Cost for land 
acquired after March 31, 1993 consists of the original purchase price and the acquisition costs. 
 
Land leased to co-operatives is valued at original cost.  The Corporation incurs no liabilities or 
obligations with respect to the lessees' buildings situated on the land.  The carrying costs of the land, 
net of lease revenue, are charged annually to MHRC operations. 
 

h) Land development costs 
 

Land development costs include interest, planning, development and administrative costs. These 
costs are capitalized as land development costs to the date of sale of the related land. 

 
i) Revenue recognition 

 
Grants are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be 
reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.  Rental revenue is recognized in the fiscal 
period during which the service is provided.  Subsidy contributions are recognized on an accrual basis 
in the fiscal period to which they relate.  Interest is recognized on an accrual basis in the fiscal period 
in which it is earned. 
 

j) Interest capitalization  
 
 Interest costs on financing related to housing projects and housing investments are capitalized to the 

date of completion. 
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k) Pension costs and obligations 
 
 Current service contributions for Direct Managed employees are recognized as operating expenses.  

The Corporation has no further liability associated with the annual cost of pension benefits earned by 
Direct Managed employees.  

 
 The Corporation has a liability associated with the annual cost of pension benefits earned by the 

former Department of Family Services and Housing employees who were transferred to the 
Corporation on February 8, 2003. 

 
 Current actuarial gains or losses are recognized as operating expenses. 
 
l) Contributed services 
 
 Under an agreement entered into between The Manitoba Housing and Renewal Corporation and the 

Province of Manitoba, in 1984, the Department provides administrative services to MHRC at no cost.  
The value of these contributed and administrative services is recorded as revenue and expenses. 

 
m) Use of estimates 
 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from these estimates. 

 
n) Comprehensive Income 
 

 Section 1530 of the CICA accounting standards requires the presentation of a statement of 
comprehensive income.  Comprehensive income represents the change in equity of an enterprise 
during a period from transactions and other events arising from non-owner sources including gains 
and losses from changes in fair value of available for sale financial assets and changes in fair value of 
the effective portion of cash flow hedging instruments.  The Corporation has not recognized any 
adjustments through other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2010.  Because the 
Corporation has no items related to other comprehensive income, comprehensive income is 
equivalent to net income. 

 
 
 

3. New Accounting Policies Adopted 
 
The Corporation was required to adopt new standards, Canadian Institute of Chartered Accounts (CICA) 
Handbook Sections 3862 Financial Instruments Disclosure, and EIC – 173 Credit Risk and the Fair Value of 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, on April 1, 2009. 
 
Section 3862 Financial Instrument – Disclosures 
Section 3862 is amended to enhance the abilities of users of the financial statements to evaluate the 
significance of financial instruments of an entity, related exposures and the management of these risks. 
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This amended section, which was effective January 1, 2009, requires an entity to classify fair value 
measurements recognized in the Balance Sheet into a three – tier hierarchy as a framework for disclosing  fair 
value based on inputs used to value the Corporation’s investments. The hierarchy of inputs is summarized 
below: 

 
 Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
 Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices), or 
 Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

 
EIC – 173 Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
The CICA issued EIC – 173 regarding the credit risk and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities. 
The EIC requires entities to consider both their own risk and the risk of the counter parties when measuring 
the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities for presentation and disclosure purposes. 
 
                       
4. Cash

2010 2009

On deposit with the Minister of Finance:

Trust deposits  $      64,086,578  $      77,349,470 

Risk Reserve related to Social Housing Agreement (note 13)          12,428,609          12,385,799 

Mobile home loan guarantee program fund (note 24)                 91,837               108,678 

         76,607,024          89,843,947 

Bank          76,433,725          23,462,466 

Petty cash                   8,500                   8,775 

 $    153,049,249  $    113,315,188 

 
 
 
 
5. Accounts receivable and accruals

2010 2009

Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation  $      23,462,694  $        3,237,350 

Government of the Province of Manitoba and its agencies            2,238,569            2,408,614 

Rent receivables - net of allowance of $5,638,689 (2009 - $5,311,005)            3,404,997            2,782,921 

Accrued interest on loans and mortgages receivable               604,661               522,600 

City of Winnipeg (Sec 79) - net of allowance $0 (2009 - $2,830)               157,870               236,882 

Other - net of allowance of $10,270 (2009 - $10,270)          10,725,949          12,271,074 

Government of the Province of Manitoba

- severance benefits (note 20)            1,446,105            1,446,105 

- pension recoverable (note 19)            7,512,158            7,055,786 

 $      49,553,003  $      29,961,332 

 
 

Page 494



THE MANITOBA HOUSING AND RENEWAL CORPORATION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - MARCH 31, 2010 

 
 

9 

6. Loans and mortgages receivable

a) Composition of loans and mortgages receivable

2010 2009

Federal/Provincial Housing:

Private Non-Profit Housing Program  $      91,383,908  $            94,053,650 

Rural and Native Housing Program                   2,851                         4,452 

Urban Native Housing Program          24,201,603                27,211,327 

       115,588,362              121,269,429 

Market Rental Programs:

Co-operative HomeStart Program            7,847,574                  8,040,710 

Co-operative Index Linked Program            6,051,073                  6,504,489 

Manitoba Rural RentalStart Program               237,995                     254,182 

Manitoba Senior RentalStart Program            4,201,669                  4,179,136 

         18,338,311                18,978,517 

Other Programs:

Community Residences Program            2,356,894                  2,807,160 

Market Homeowner Programs                 44,697                       54,116 

Homeowner Rehabilitation Programs               171,672                     202,462 

Other            2,905,974                  2,828,711 

           5,479,237                  5,892,449 

       139,405,910              146,140,395 

Less  - allowance for loan impairment (1,121,685) (1,872,790)

Subtotal repayable loans and mortgages receivable        138,284,225              144,267,605 

Forgivable loans        138,927,320              110,944,042 

       277,211,545              255,211,647 

Less  - forgivable loans asset valuation allowance (138,927,320) (110,944,042)
Loans and mortgages receivable  $    138,284,225  $          144,267,605 

Loans and mortgages receivable bear interest at various rates between 0% and 13.50% with maturities at various dates 

to 2035.

Principal repayments on the loans and mortgages maturing in the next five years are estimated as follows:

                                                                                      2011  $             43,498 

                                                                                      2012                 22,287 

                                                                                      2013            2,699,867 

                                                                                      2014            2,005,238 

                                                                                      2015            2,865,191 

                                                              Subsequent to 2015        131,769,829 
 $    139,405,910 

b) Allowance for loan impairment

The allowance for loan impairment is comprised of the following specific provisions:

2010 2009

Market rental programs  $           949,810  $              1,693,568 

Other programs               171,875                     179,222 
 $        1,121,685  $              1,872,790 
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7. Housing projects

2010 2009

Land  $      22,540,415  $      21,753,083 

Buildings        426,073,646        411,301,566 

Less - accumulated amortization      (363,743,930)      (354,639,945)

Buildings – net book value          62,329,716          56,661,621 

Under construction          33,516,933          18,316,786 

       118,387,064          96,731,490 

Less - financing provided by CMHC          (3,590,923)          (4,039,341)
 $    114,796,141  $      92,692,149 

 
 
 
 

8. Housing investment 
 
Housing investment represents MHRC's share in social housing projects, which until October 1, 1998 was 
administered by CMHC and subsequently have been administered by MHRC, under the Rural and Native 
Housing Program. 

 
On September 3, 1998, MHRC and CMHC executed a Declaration of Trust by which CMHC has 
transferred their ownership interest in cost-shared and 100% CMHC funded Public Housing projects to 
MHRC, as trustee.  MHRC’s interest in these projects will be earned over the remainder of each project’s 
CMHC subsidy commitment period, in amounts which will correspond to the annual amortization of the 
assets.   No increase in housing investment has been recorded by MHRC. 
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9. Joint venture 
 

The Corporation contributed 179 acres of land, at appraised value, to a joint venture with Ladco 
Company Limited on May 11, 1989.  The appraised value of the land at that time, adjusted for 
subsequent sales, was $678,373 (2009 - $866,595) and is included in joint venture land in note 10.  The 
joint venture activities include the servicing, development and sale of approximately 476 acres of land in 
the City of Winnipeg, Manitoba.  In accordance with the terms of the agreement, the Corporation has 
provided loan guarantees for the purposes of the joint venture development in an amount not to exceed 
$2,400,000 (note 24). 

 
The following is a summary of the Corporation's pro rata share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses of the Ladco Company Limited joint venture. 

  
2010 2009

Current Assets:

Cash and short term investments $           923,300  $        1,010,800 

Prepaid Expenses                 44,767                           - 

Accounts receivable from land sales           1,737,116            3,778,338 

           2,705,183            4,789,138 

Long Term Assets:

Development in progress             (351,671)             (186,151)

Total Assets  $        2,353,512  $        4,602,987 

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                   8,497                   4,203 

Net Assets  $        2,345,015  $        4,598,784 

Sales of land  $           568,168  $        3,686,753 

Cost of land sales               176,575            1,267,093 

Gross margin               391,593            2,419,660 

Expenses:

Interest on bank indebtedness                   9,080                 10,129 

General                 31,809                 38,293 

Other               (27,528)               133,191 

Total expenses                 13,361               181,613 

Net income for the year  $           378,232  $        2,238,047 
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10. Land

2010 2009

Future development or sale  $        9,460,428  $        9,456,579 

Leased to co-operatives           1,659,792            1,659,792 

Joint venture               678,373               866,595 
 $      11,798,593  $      11,982,966 

 
 
 
11. Deferred revenue

2010 2009

Direct Managed tenant prepaid rent  $        2,255,663  $        2,097,569 

Other prepaid land lease and subsidy contribution received in advance               327,198               317,189 

Affordable Housing Initiative commitments          23,920,317          13,268,574 

Federal Stimulus commitments          37,280,404                           - 
 $      63,783,582  $      15,683,332 

 
 
 
12. Long-term debt

2010 2009

Government of the Province of Manitoba:

Advances, convertible to long-term advances at MHRC's option, at  $    108,435,454  $      66,897,319 

prime interest rates

Long-term advances, at interest rates from 4.75% to 13.375% 

maturing at various dates to 2029 and requiring annual principal 

and interest payments of $38,103,892 (2009 - $37,966,316)        270,246,867        283,365,617 

Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation:

Long-term advances, at interest rates from 5.67% to 8.625% 

maturing at various dates to 2030 and requiring annual principal 

and interest payments of $14,972,152 (2009 - $15,024,576)        150,285,841        155,907,762 

Mortgages payable (assumed on property acquisitions), at interest 

rates from 5.375% to 9.625% maturing at various dates to 2028 and 

requiring annual principal and interest payments of $319,272 

(2009 - $325,290)            2,645,610            2,724,732 

 $    531,613,772  $    508,895,430 

Principal repayments on the long-term debt are estimated as follows:

                                                                                      2011          20,297,450 

                                                                                      2012          21,933,005 

                                                                                      2013          22,776,614 

                                                                                      2014          24,124,270 

                                                                                      2015          25,509,129 

                                                               Subsequent to 2015        416,973,304 
 $    531,613,772 
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13. Deferred contributions 
 
MHRC recognizes federal and provincial contributions towards housing programs as revenue when 
eligible program expenses are incurred and records deferred contributions for any unexpended amounts.  
In accordance with the Social Housing Agreement executed by MHRC and CMHC which took effect 
October 1, 1998, federal contributions must be fully used by August 31, 2031.  The Agreement provides 
that a specified amount of the annual federal contributions must be applied toward housing programs, 
which assist low income households, as defined in the Agreement.  The portion of federal contributions 
that may be applied toward other housing programs is similarly specified.  In addition, the Province 
contributes funding for its share of housing programs through grants from the Province of Manitoba (note 
14).  Total unexpended contributions in the amount of $52,634,300 (2009 - $65,188,172) are carried 
forward by MHRC for future use.   
 
Pursuant to the Social Housing Agreement dated September 3, 1998 between CMHC and MHRC, CMHC 
made a one-time payment of $12,700,000 to MHRC in 1999.  This amount was provided for the purpose 
of mitigating future operating risks associated with MHRC’s financial responsibility for housing programs 
transferred from CMHC pursuant to the Agreement.  This amount has been recorded as a deferred 
contribution and is increased by interest earned thereon and is reduced as the Corporation incurs 
expenses as a result of the identified risks.  The unexpended balance related to these contributions at 
March 31, 2010 is $12,428,609 (2009 - $12,385,799). 
 

The breakdown of total unexpended contributions is as follows:

2010 2009

Deferred Federal contributions  $      18,136,437  $      20,755,147 

Deferred Provincial contributions         34,497,863          44,433,025 

         52,634,300          65,188,172 

Risk reserve contribution related to the

Social Housing Agreement          12,428,609          12,385,799 

 $      65,062,909  $      77,573,971 

 
 
 
 
 

14. Grants from the Province of Manitoba

2010 2009

Department of Housing and Community Development:

MHRC operating programs  $      58,961,438  $      57,610,056 

MHRC administration          10,180,562            8,891,844 

Grants and subsidies            9,592,727            5,975,525 

         78,734,727          72,477,425 

Grants recovered from the Department of Finance:

School Tax Assistance for Tenants 55 Plus Program               242,917               266,710 

Pension recovery (note 19)               456,372            1,499,014 
 $      79,434,016  $      74,243,149 
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15. Contributed services

2010 2009

Administrative services provided by the Department of Housing

and Community Development were allocated as follows:

- included in the Statement of Operations, Administrative Services  $       509,600  $       521,200 

- included in administration expenses in note 16,

Direct Managed Housing Operations          600,500           772,600 

- included in administration expenses in note 16,

Sponsor Managed Housing Operations             11,300             27,400 

- included in Rental Subsidies, note 17           194,800           286,000 

- included in Statement of Operations, Repair and renovation expense             82,900           136,400 

Total Department of Housing and Community Development

administrative services provided  $    1,399,100  $    1,743,600 

 
 
 
 

16. Housing operations

The management and operation of all MHRC owned social housing projects are direct managed, sponsor managed, and

operated under property management agreements. Their operating results are as follows:

Direct Managed
Sponsor 

Managed

Property 
Management 
Agreements 2010 2009

Revenue

Rental Revenue  $   53,442,468  $   13,277,668  $     4,663,361  $   71,383,497  $   71,031,083 

Expenses

Administration (note 15)       21,890,443         2,039,589         1,128,602       25,058,634       22,973,574 

Property operating       63,708,467         9,851,129       11,469,961       85,029,557       72,086,257 

Grants in lieu of taxes         9,539,392         1,468,111            929,858       11,937,361       12,105,776 

Amortization         7,659,175         1,818,193              79,239         9,556,607         8,489,978 

Interest       17,124,093         3,739,813                        -       20,863,906       22,827,333 

    119,921,570       18,916,835       13,607,660     152,446,065     138,482,918 

Operating loss  $   66,479,102  $     5,639,167  $     8,944,299  $   81,062,568  $   67,451,835 
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17. Rental Subsidies

Rental subsidies are provided in accordance with project operating agreements with third parties which

establish the basis of eligibility for subsidy assistance. The net rental subsidies required by these

organizations are as follows:

2010 2009

Not for Profit Housing $   27,528,164  $    28,137,025 

Co-operative Housing         4,153,096          3,759,515 

Private Landlords         5,168,046          4,717,582 
 $   36,849,306  $    36,614,122 

 
 
18. Grants and subsidies

2010 2009

Manitoba Shelter Benefit  $    9,064,337  $    5,875,970 

Portable Housing Benefit           528,390             99,555 

School Tax Assistance for Tenants 55 Plus           242,917           266,710 

Elderly & Infirm Persons Housing           155,423           155,423 

Co-op Homestart           138,475             92,226 

Homeless Strategy           125,250                       - 
 $  10,254,792  $    6,489,884 

 
19.  Pension obligations 

 
Employees of the Corporation and The Manitoba Housing Authority (MHA) are eligible for pensions under 
the Manitoba Civil Service Superannuation Fund.  This pension plan is a defined benefit plan, which 
requires MHA to contribute an amount approximately equal to the employees' contribution to the 
Superannuation Fund for current services.  Such payments are charged to housing operations as incurred 
and MHRC has no further liability associated with the annual cost of pension benefits earned by MHA 
employees.  Pension expense recorded for MHA employees for the year ended March 31, 2010 is 
$787,385 (2009 - $656,469). 
 
The Corporation has a liability associated with the annual cost of pension benefits earned by the former 
Department of Family Services and Housing employees who were transferred to the Corporation on 
February 8, 2003.  This liability consists of the employer’s share of pension benefits paid to retired 
employees, as well as the increase in the unfunded pension liability during the fiscal year.  This liability is 
determined by an actuarial valuation every three years with the balances for the intervening years being 
estimated by a formula provided by the actuary.  The most recent valuation was completed at December 
31, 2007. 
   2010 2009 
 
Balance at beginning of year $7,055,786 $5,556,772 
Experience (gain) loss (609,386) 937,944 

 Benefits accrued 609,068 458,196 
 Interest accrued on benefits 477,736 367,482 
 Benefits paid - estimated (21,046) (264,608) 
 
 Balance at end of year $7,512,158 $7,055,786 
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The key actuarial assumptions were a rate of return of 6.5% (2009 - 6.5%), 2.5% inflation (2009 - 2.5%), 
salary rate increases of 3.25% (2009 – 3.25%) and post retirement indexing at 2/3 of the inflation rate.  
The projected benefit method was used and the liability has been extrapolated to March 31, 2010 using a 
formula provided by the actuary. 
 
The Province of Manitoba has accepted responsibility for funding MHRC’s liability and related expense 
which includes an interest component.  Therefore MHRC has recorded a receivable from the Province of 
Manitoba equal to the estimated value of its actuarially determined pension liability of $7,512,158 as of 
March 31, 2010 (2009-$7,055,786) and has recorded an increase in revenue for 2009/10 equal to the 
related pension expense increase of $456,372 (2009 - increase $1,499,014).  The Province of Manitoba 
makes payments on the receivable when it is determined that the cash is required to discharge the related 
pension obligation. 
 
 

20. Severance 
 
 a) Severance pay liability 
 

Effective April 1, 1998, the Corporation commenced recording the estimated liability for accumulated 
severance pay benefits for its employees in The Manitoba Housing Authority.  The amount of this 
estimated liability is determined and recorded annually using the method of calculation set by the Province 
of Manitoba. 
 
Severance pay, at the employee’s date of retirement, will be determined by multiplying the eligible 
employee’s years of service (to a maximum of 22 or 15 years) by the employee’s weekly salary at the date 
of retirement.  Eligibility will require that the employee has achieved a minimum of nine years of service 
and that the employee is retiring from the Corporation. 
 
An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as at March 31, 2010. The Corporation’s 
actuarially determined liability relating to the Manitoba Housing Authority employees as at March 31, 2010 
was $2,325,430 (2009 - $2,104,995). The report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual 
basis. 
 
The Corporation recorded a severance liability as at April 1, 2003 in the amount of $569,000 associated 
with the severance benefits earned by the former Department of Family Services and Housing employees 
who were transferred to the Corporation on February 8, 2003.  The amount of this estimated liability is 
determined and recorded annually using a method of calculation set by the Province of Manitoba. 
 
An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as at March 31, 2010. The Corporation’s 
actuarially determined liability relating to the former Department of Family Services and Housing 
employees as at March 31, 2010 was $1,108,845 (2009 - $1,033,931). The report provides a formula to 
update the liability on an annual basis. 
 
b) Severance pay receivable 
 
The Province of Manitoba has accepted responsibility for the severance pay benefits accumulated to 
March 31, 1998 by the Corporation’s employees.  Accordingly, the Corporation recorded, effective April 1, 
1998, a receivable of $877,105 from the Province of Manitoba, which was initially based on the estimated 
value of the corresponding actuarially determined liability for severance pay as at March 31, 1998.  
Subsequent to March 31, 1998, the Province provides annual grant funding for severance expense.  As a 
result the change in the severance liability each year is fully funded.  The interest component related to the 
receivable is reflected in the funding for severance expense.  The receivable for severance pay will be 
paid by the Province when it is determined that the cash is required to discharge the related severance 
pay liabilities. 
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The amount recorded as a receivable from the Province for severance pay of $569,000 for former 
Department of Family Services and Housing employees was initially based on the estimated value of the 
corresponding actuarially determined liability for severance pay as at April 1, 2003.  Subsequent to April 1, 
2003, the Province provides annual grant funding for severance expense.  As a result the change in the 
severance liability each year is fully funded.  The interest component related to the receivable is reflected 
in the funding for severance expense.  The receivable for severance pay will be paid by the Province 
when it is determined that the cash is required to discharge the related severance pay liabilities. 
 
The carrying value of the receivables approximates its fair value as the interest component described 
above is comparable to current market rates. 
 
 

21. Housing Development and Rehabilitation Fund 
 

On November 8, 2007, The Housing and Renewal Corporation Amendment Act provided for the 
establishment of a fund known as the “Housing Development and Rehabilitation Fund”. 
 
The fund is to be credited with suburban land development profits realized by the MHRC in respect of land 
owned or developed by it or by a partnership or joint venture in which the MHRC is or was a participant.  
Interest earned on the amounts are to be credited to the fund.  Profits are transferred from The Manitoba 
Housing and Renewal Fund to the Housing Development and Rehabilitation Fund.  The fund may be used 
to provide support for housing projects in areas of need within a municipality in which the Corporation 
realized profits, including the development of new housing or the rehabilitation of existing housing.  The 
fund has a balance of $4,969,044 (2009 - $6,417,575).   

 
The breakdown is as follows: 
 

2010 2009

Balance at beginning of year  $      6,417,575  $      3,678,735 

Land Development Profits          2,870,464 

Interest Earned               10,502 

Current Year Disbursements        (4,329,497)

(1,448,531)                2,738,840 
Balance at end of year  $      4,969,044  $      6,417,575 

 
 

 
22. Contingencies 
 

The Corporation is involved in legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business, the outcome of 
which cannot be predicted at this time.  In the opinion of management, the disposition of these cases will 
not materially affect the financial position of the Corporation.  Any settlement will be recognized in the 
year the settlement occurs. 
 
The Corporation provided the City of Winnipeg with a letter of credit under a development agreement.  At 
March 31, 2010 the letter of credit amounted to $1,389,120. 
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23. Commitments 

 
The Corporation has the following commitments as at March 31, 2010. 
 
a) Housing project enhancements and new construction $36,922,247 
 
b) Third party repair, renovation and new construction               $50,200,166 
  
c) Public housing operations: 
 
As a result of the Social Housing Agreement dated September 3, 1998, MHRC is now fully responsible for 
the funding commitments of all Social Housing Projects in Manitoba.  These commitments will expire on a 
staggered basis over the period ending 2031, concurrent with the Social Housing Agreement funding 
expiration date of August 31, 2031.  An estimate of these commitments for each of the next five years is 
as follows: 

 
   2011 $53,912,000 
   2012 73,478,700 
   2013 88,320,400 
   2014 101,770,400 
   2015 109,735,900 

 
24. Guarantees 

 
The Corporation has guaranteed the repayment of mortgages and has issued letters of credit which 
guarantee the terms and conditions of land development agreements and construction contracts.  The 
outstanding guarantees are as follows: 

 2010 2009 
 
 Joint Venture Investment Guarantee (note 9) $2,400,000 $2,400,000 
 Waverley West Letter of Credit 1,389,120 1,389,120 
 Mobile Home Loan Guarantee Program 91,837 108,678 
 Affordable Housing Initiative Loan Guarantee Program 1,200,000 1,200,000 
 
   $5,080,957 $5,097,798 

 
A guarantee fee of 2 1/2% is charged for each mortgage under the Mobile Home Loan Guarantee 
Program.  The assets of the Mobile Home Loan Guarantee Program as at March 31, 2010 are $91,837 
(2009 - $108,678) and are included in cash (note 4).  The trust fund liability is included in accounts 
payable. 
 

25. Subsidy Contributions

Pursuant to the Social Housing Agreement executed by MHRC and CMHC, CMHC will pay fixed annual 

contributions to MHRC for individual housing projects over the remainder of the CMHC subsidy commitment

period. The Agreement took effect October 1, 1998 and has a funding expiration date of August 31, 2031.  

2010 2009

Federal contributions  $      69,979,012  $       48,062,268 

Provincial contributions            1,056,493             1,804,261 

Municipal contributions               310,945                229,485 
 $      71,346,450  $       50,096,014 

 
 

Page 504



THE MANITOBA HOUSING AND RENEWAL CORPORATION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - MARCH 31, 2010 

 
 

19 

 
26. Capital Management 
 

MHRC’s objective when managing capital is to maintain sufficient capital to cover its costs of operations.   
MHRC includes The Housing Development and Rehabilitation Fund and The Manitoba Housing and 
Renewal Fund Deficit as well as long-term debt in its definition of capital.   

 
MHRC’s operating objectives are to ensure that there is an adequate supply of housing stock in Manitoba 
and to enhance the affordability of, and accessibility to, adequate housing for Manitobans, particularly 
those of low and moderate income and those with specialized needs.  In order to meet these operating 
objectives, MHRC capital management policy is to: 
 
 Obtain long term debt from the Province of Manitoba and Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation;  
 Obtain rental revenue from its housing stock. This revenue is partially subsidized through provincial 

and CMHC funding; and   
 Earn interest income on loans and mortgages to individuals and organizations that meet pre-defined 

criteria.   
 

 
 
Long term debt and the Manitoba Housing and Renewal Fund are not subject to externally imposed 
capital requirements.  The Housing Development and Rehabilitation Fund is required by legislation to 
provide support for housing projects in areas of need within a municipality in which the MHRC realized 
suburban land development profits.  There were no changes to MHRC’s approach to capital management 
during the period. 

 
MHRC’s capital is as follows: 

 2010 2009 
 
 Long Term Debt (note 12) $531,613,772 $508,895,430 
 Housing Development and Rehabilitation Fund (note 21) 4,969,044 6,417,575 
 Manitoba Housing and Renewal Fund (deficit) (206,989,719) (221,216,449) 
 
   $329,593,097 $294,096,556 

 
 
27. Risk Management 

 
MHRC has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, liquidity risk, 
market risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. 
 
i) Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk arises from the potential that a counterparty to an agreement with the Corporation will fail 
to perform its obligations.  The Corporation conducts an assessment of credit issues prior to 
committing to such agreements and it actively monitors the credit risks associated with its accounts 
receivable and loans and mortgages receivable on an ongoing basis. 
 

 The maximum exposure of MHRC to credit risk at March 31, 2010 is: 
 
 Cash (note 4) $153,049,249 
 Accounts receivable and accruals (note 5) 49,553,003 
 Loans and mortgages receivable (note 6) 138,284,225 
  $340,886,477 

 
Cash and deposits with the Minister of Finance:  MHRC is not exposed to significant credit risk as 
these deposits are primarily held by the Minister of Finance. 
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Accounts receivable and accruals:  MHRC is not exposed to significant credit risk as the majority of its 
accounts are with the Province of Manitoba and CMHC and payment is typically collected when due. 
MHRC establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit 
losses.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and assumptions 
regarding current market conditions, client analysis and historical payment trends.  These factors are 
considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off. 
 
Loans and mortgages receivable:  The corporation is not subject to significant credit risk as the loans 
and mortgages are spread among a large client base and geographic region and payment is typically 
collected when due.  MHRC establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its 
estimate of potential credit losses.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s 
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, client analysis and historical 
payment trends.  These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are 
allowed for or written off. 
 

ii) Liquidity Risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that MHRC will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become 
due. 
 
MHRC manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the 
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet obligations. 
 

iii) Market risk  
 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates, will affect MHRC’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.  The significant market 
risk MHRC is exposed to is interest rate risk. 

 
iv) Interest rate risk 

  
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.  MHRC does not use derivative instruments to reduce its 
exposure to interest risk.  The interest rate exposure relates to deposits with the Minister of Finance, 
loans and mortgages receivable and long term debt. 
 
The interest rate risk on funds on deposit with the Minister of Finance is considered to be low because 
of their short term nature. 
 
MHRC’s loans and mortgages are exposed to interest rate fluctuations.  This risk is mitigated through 
the almost exclusive use of fixed rate terms.  A change of +100 basis points would result in a 
decrease in value of $9,989,346 whereas a -100 basis point change would result in an increase in 
value of $11,091,676. 
 
MHRC manages its interest rate risk on long term debt through the use of fixed rate terms for its long 
term debt.  A change of +100 basis points in the interest rates would have decreased its fair value by 
$32,066,630 whereas a change of -100 basis points would have increased its fair value by 
$31,541,011. 
 

v) Foreign currency risk 
  

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  MHRC is not exposed to significant foreign 
currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency. 
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28.  Financial Instruments  

 
i) Financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at fair value. Measurement in subsequent periods 

depends on the financial instrument’s classification. Financial instruments are classified into one of 
the following five categories: held for trading; available for sale; held to maturity; loans and 
receivables; and other financial liabilities. All financial instruments classified as held for trading or 
available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value with any change in fair value recorded in 
net earnings and other comprehensive income, respectively. All other financial instruments are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost.  The financial assets and liabilities of the Corporation are 
classified and measured as follows: 

   
Financial Asset/Liability   Category   Subsequent Measurement 

Cash and funds on deposit  Held for trading   Fair value 

Accounts receivable   Loans and receivables  Amortized cost 

Loans and mortgages receivable Loans and receivables  Amortized cost 

Accounts payable   Other financial liabilities  Amortized cost 

Accrued liabilities   Other financial liabilities  Amortized cost 

Long term debt    Other financial liabilities  Amortized cost  

 
Gains and losses on financial instruments subsequently measured at amortized cost are recognized 
in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurred. Changes in fair value on 
financial instruments classified as held for trading are recognized in the statement of operations for 
the current period. Changes in fair value on financial instruments classified as available for sale are 
recorded in statement of changes in net assets or other comprehensive income until realized, at which 
time they recorded in the statement of operations.  

 
ii) The fair value of funds on deposit are classified as a Level 2 Financial Investment as they are 

invested with the Department of Finance. 
 

The fair value of accounts receivable (excluding receivables related to pension and severance 
liability), accounts payable, holdbacks and accruals approximates their carrying values due to their 
short-term maturity. 

 
The carrying value of the Corporation’s pension and severance pay liabilities are based on actuarial 
valuations adjusted over time for the effect of interest and payouts since the valuations were 
performed.  The carrying value of the liabilities approximates their fair values as the interest 
component is comparable to current market rates.  The carrying value of the related pension and 
severance receivables approximates their fair value as their carrying value is derived from the related 
pension and severance liabilities. 

 
The fair value of loans receivable is determined using the present value of future cash flows under 
current funding agreements, based on the Corporation’s current estimated lending rate for loans with 
similar terms and conditions. The fair value of the loans receivable is $172,842,262 at March 31, 2010 
($177,028,847 at March 31, 2009). 
 
The fair value of long-term debt is determined using the present value of future cash flows under 
current financing agreements, based on the Corporation’s current estimated borrowing rate for loans 
with similar terms and conditions. The fair value of the long-term debt is $613,356,955 at March 31, 
2010 ($615,939,333 at March 31, 2009). 
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29. Related Party Transactions 

 
MHRC is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created departments, 
agencies and Crown corporations. MHRC enters into transactions with these entities in the normal course 
of business. These transactions are recorded at the exchange amount.  Included in loans and mortgages 
receivable are $1,965,275 of forgivable loans to the University of Winnipeg. These loans are in 
accordance with established MHRC loan programs. 

 
 
30. Comparative Figures 

 
Certain comparative figures in the financial statements have been restated to conform with the 
presentation of the current year. 
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AU D ITO R S ’ R E P O R T

To the Board of Directors of

Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation

We have audited the balance sheet of Manitoba Product 

Stewardship Corporation as at March 31, 2010 and the 

statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash 

flows for the year then ended. These financial statements 

are the responsibility of the company's management. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 

statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian gener-

ally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 

that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance whether the financial statements are free of mate-

rial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 

basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made 

by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 

statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of the company as at 

March 31, 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash 

flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles.

Winnipeg, Canada, 

June 23, 2010			     Chartered Accountants

Financial Statements
March 31, 2010

Page 517



21  |  MPSC ANNUAL REPORT 2009/2010

Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation
Incorporated under the laws of Manitoba

BALANCE SHEET
[basis of presentation - note 2[a]]
As at March 31

2010 2009

$ $

[restated note 2[h]]

ASSETS
Current

Cash [unrestricted] [note 2[c]] 1,136,814 1,735,184 

Cash [restricted] [note 2[d]] 114,803 — 

Interest receivable 390 1,920 

Levies receivable 780,876 789,951 

Prepaid expenses and deposits 1,776 12,409 

Total current assets 2,034,659 2,539,464 

Cash [restricted] [note 2[d]] — 300,000 

Capital assets, net [note 3] — 12,478 

2,034,659 2,851,942 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 162,731 316,080 

Recycling support payments payable 1,602,132 1,494,265 

Total current liabilities 1,764,863 1,810,345 

Net assets

Internally restricted — 300,000 

Unrestricted 269,796 741,597 

Total net assets 269,796 1,041,597 

2,034,659 2,851,942 

See accompanying notes

On behalf of the Board:
	 Director	 Director
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Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation

	
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended March 31		
		

2010 2009

$   $   

REVENUE
Beverage levy       8,690,905       8,901,567 

Levy rebates        (143,220)        (234,148)

Interest              5,967            62,239 

      8,553,652       8,729,658 

EXPENSES
Programs

Municipal

Recycling support payments to municipalities       8,467,902       8,639,781 

Municipal support                    —            21,217 

      8,467,902       8,660,998 

Steward

Compliance of WRAP Act            43,295            47,522 

Corporation promotion/partnerships

Advertising and promotion              1,131              2,463 

Partnerships/sponsorships                    —              5,000 

             1,131              7,463 

      8,512,328       8,715,983 

Administrative expenses [schedule]          813,125          512,861 

      9,325,453       9,228,844 

Net loss for the year        (771,801)        (499,186)

		
See accompanying notes		
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Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Year ended March 31

2010

Internally  
restricted

Unrestricted Total

$   $   $      

[note 2[a]]
[restated  

note 2[h]]

Balance, beginning of year        300,000        741,597     1,041,597 

Net loss for the year                —     (771,801)      (771,801)

Accrued liability for severence not yet paid      (114,803)        114,803                — 

Payments from internally restricted funds  
        for severance and closing costs      (185,197)        185,197                — 

Balance, end of year                —        269,796        269,796 

2009

Internally  
restricted

Unrestricted Total

$   $   $      

[note 2[a]]
[restated  

note 2[h]]

Balance, beginning of year        300,000     1,240,783     1,540,783 

Net loss for the year                —      (499,186)      (499,186)

Balance, end of year        300,000        741,597     1,041,597 

See accompanying notes
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Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation		
		
		
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended March 31		
		

2010 2009

$   $   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net loss for the year (771,801) (499,186)

Add items not involving cash

Amortization of capital assets 3,401 5,216 

Loss on write-down of capital assets 9,077 — 

(759,323) (493,970)

Changes in non-cash working capital balances related to operations

Interest receivable 1,530 9,040 

Levies receivable 9,075 59,946 

Prepaid expenses and deposits  10,633 59 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (153,349) 197,552 

Recycling support payments payable  107,867 (60,201)

Cash used in operating activities  (783,567) (287,574)

Net decrease in cash during the year (783,567)  (287,574)

Cash, beginning of year  2,035,184 2,322,758 

Cash, end of year 1,251,617  2,035,184 

Cash consists of

Cash [unrestricted] 1,136,814 1,735,184 

Cash [restricted] 114,803 300,000 

1,251,617 2,035,184 
		
See accompanying notes		
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Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation
		
		
SCHEDULE OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Year ended March 31
		
		
		

2010 2009

$   $   

Amortization of capital assets              3,401              5,216 

Board members' expenses              2,035              1,597 

Communications            11,169              9,653 

Contract financial management            60,972            57,388 

Equipment, leasing, repairs and maintenance              4,760              4,337 

Insurance            18,706            17,059 

Office            31,099            19,065 

Professional fees            21,889            26,639 

Promotion              1,235              1,194 

Rent            66,226            50,562 

Salaries, wages and benefits          311,327          316,123 

Severance          279,080                    — 

Subscriptions                 588              3,152 

Travel and automotive                 638                 876 

         813,125          512,861 

See accompanying notes
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Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended March 31

1. NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation ["MPSC"] was established under the Waste Reduction and 
Prevention Act ["WRAP"] – Multi-Material Stewardship (Interim Measures) Regulations [the "Regulations"] 
with the following objectives:

[a]	� To establish and administer a waste reduction and prevention program for designated materials for 
Manitoba;

[b]	To provide for the effective, efficient and economical management of waste designated materials; and
[c]	 To administer the Multi-Material WRAP Fund.

The Multi-Material WRAP Fund is an industry-operated fund which provides for, among other initiatives, 
recycling support payments to municipal and local governments for eligible materials recovered from 
residential waste and delivered to an approved recycling facility. As noted below, the Multi-Material WRAP 
Fund was funded by the collection of levies on beverage containers supplied by a steward of beverage 
containers to be consumed in Manitoba up to March 31, 2010.

MPSC is exempt from income taxes under Section 149 of the Income Tax Act (Canada).

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

[a] Going concern considerations
The Government of the Province of Manitoba enacted Regulation 195/2008 under the Waste Reduction and 
Prevention Act along with Guideline for Packaging and Printed Paper Stewardship and Guideline for Plastic 
Bags. The intent of the regulation is to transition the government’s approach to multi-material handling to 
an Industry Funding Organization, Multi-Material Stewardship Manitoba ["MMSM"]. The collection of levies 
on beverage containers by MPSC was repealed by Government regulation during the year and is effective 
April 1, 2010. The impact of the wind-down of the operations of MPSC was estimated and the board and 
management, in prior years, internally restricted net assets and designated cash to cover this amount which 
is recorded as restricted cash. As the regulation repealing the collection of levies by MPSC has been passed, 
severance costs related to the wind-down have been recorded in the financial statements and no further 
internally restricted amounts are required at March 31, 2010. Operating costs during the wind-down period 
subsequent to year end will be recorded as incurred.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles on a going concern basis, which presumes MPSC will realize its assets and discharge its liabilities 
in the normal course of operations until it is wound down subsequent to year end. As at March 31, 2010, 
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Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended March 31

MPSC has incurred a net loss of $771,801 and accumulated net assets from operations of $269,796. There is 
considerable uncertainty regarding MPSC's ability to operate as a going concern given that the regulation 
transferring MPSC's programming responsibilities to another organization was passed during the year 
and is effective April 1, 2010 and therefore no levies will be collected by MPSC from that date forward. 
The current year financial statements include adjustments in the carrying values of the assets to their net 
realizable value that are necessary considering MPSC will cease its operations after all wind-down activities 
are completed. The remaining assets and liabilities are short-term in nature and have been classified as 
current. The intention of government is to wind-down the organization in the months following March 31, 
2010. Any net assets remaining at the time of wind-down will be transferred to the Province of Manitoba.

[b] Levy revenue and recycling support payments to municipalities
Levy revenue is charged on all non-deposit [excluding dairy] beverage containers supplied for 
consumption in Manitoba, subject to certain exemptions, by a Product Steward. Pursuant to the 
Regulations, a Product Steward is defined as the first person or business in Manitoba who, in the course 
of business, supplies beverages in containers to another person or business. Beverage levy revenue is 
recognized based on revenue as reported by the Product Stewards to MPSC, and when the amount 
is received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is 
reasonably assured.

Product Stewards are eligible for credits if the beverage containers on which levies have been previously 
paid were supplied to consumers outside of Manitoba or if the levies are inadvertently paid by two 
Product Stewards on the same beverage containers. Levies are collected and credits are paid based on self-
assessments as reported by the Product Stewards.

Recycling support payments to municipalities are paid to registered Manitoba municipalities based on the 
tonnage of eligible materials delivered to an approved recycling facility as reported by the municipalities 
to MPSC.

[c] Cash 
Cash is recorded at fair value and consists of cash on hand.

[d] Cash [restricted]
Cash [restricted] is recorded at fair value and consists of funds held for costs expected to be incurred 
related to the wind-down of MPSC. 
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Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended March 31

[e] Capital assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided for by the 
following annual rates and methods:

	 Furniture and fixtures	 20% declining balance
	 Computer hardware	 30% declining balance
	 Computer software	 100% straight-line

[f] Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from these estimates.

[g] Financial instruments
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ["CICA"] Handbook Section 3861, "Financial Instruments – 
Disclosures and Presentation", requires that all financial instruments be classified into one of the following 
five categories: held-for-trading, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, loans and 
receivables, and other financial liabilities.

MPSC's financial assets and liabilities are measured as follows:

•	� Cash and restricted cash are classified as held-for-trading and measured at fair value. The gains or losses 
arising on the revaluation at the end of the year are included in net loss;

•	� Interest receivable and levies receivable are classified as loans and receivables and recorded at cost, 
which upon their initial measurement is equal to their fair value. Subsequent measurements are recorded 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method; and

•	� Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and recycling support payments payable are classified as other 
financial liabilities and are initially measured at their fair value. Subsequent measurements are recorded 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.

Due to their short-term nature, the fair value of MPSC's financial instruments approximates their carrying 
value unless otherwise stated. It is management's opinion that MPSC is not exposed to significant interest, 
currency or credit risks arising from its financial instruments. 
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Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended March 31

[h] Changes in accounting policies
Effective April 1, 2009, MPSC has retroactively adopted those revisions to the 4400 series and certain other 
sections to amend or improve those parts of the CICA Handbook related to not-for-profit organizations 
that impact its financial statements. The revisions that have been adopted together with their impact are 
set out below:

As a result of adopting the changes to the recommendations in CICA 4400, "Financial Statement 
Presentation for Not-for-Profit Organizations", that eliminate the requirement to separately disclose the 
amount of net assets invested in capital assets, MPSC has eliminated from the financial statements details 
about the amount of net assets invested in capital assets and the calculation of this amount. As a result, 
MPSC has reclassified the prior year's financial statements to include the amount of net assets invested in 
capital assets as at April 1, 2008 of $17,694 in unrestricted net assets and as at April 1, 2009 of $12,478 in 
unrestricted net assets.

3. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets consist of the following:

2010

Cost Accumulated 
amortization

Net book
value

$ $ $

Furniture and fixtures 26,405 26,405 —

Computer hardware 94,734 94,734 —

Computer software 150,447 150,447 —

271,586 271,586 —

2009

Cost Accumulated
amortization

Net book  
value

$ $ $

Furniture and fixtures 26,405 22,985 3,420

Computer hardware 94,734 85,676 9,058

Computer software 150,447 150,447 —

271,586 259,108 12,478
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4. LEASE COMMITMENTS

MPSC rents office space and equipment under various leases with commitments totalling $13,390 in the 
following year with no commitments beyond June 30, 2010.

5. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

In managing capital, MPSC focuses on liquid resources available for operations. MPSC's objective is to 
have sufficient liquid resources to continue despite adverse financial events and to provide it with the 
flexibility to take advantage of opportunities that will advance its purposes. To offset the impact of the 
wind-down of the operations of MPSC, internally restricted net assets and cash have been designated to 
meet the obligations of the wind-down of operations. The need for sufficient liquid resources is considered 
in the preparation of an annual budget and in the monitoring of cash flows and actual operating results 
compared to the budget. As at March 31, 2010, MPSC has met its objectives of having sufficient liquid 
resources to meet its current obligations with any net assets remaining after the wind-down activities are 
completed to be transferred to the Province of Manitoba.

Manitoba Product Stewardship Corporation

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended March 31
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 The Manitoba Water Services Board 
 
 Management Report 
  
 
The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management and have been prepared in 
conformity with the accounting policies noted in the financial statements.  The statements are examined by 
the Office of the Auditor General of the Province of Manitoba, whose opinion is included herein. 
 
To fulfil this responsibility, management maintains internal control systems to provide reasonable assurance 
that the accounts and records accurately reflect all transactions, and that appropriate policies and 
procedures are established and respected. 
 
The Provincial Auditor General has free access to the Board of Directors, with and without management 
present, to discuss the results of their audit and the quality of financial reporting of the Board. 
 
 
 
     
 
                                _______________________________ 
R. Menon, M. Eng, FEC, P.Eng.   C. Brigden 
General Manager      Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
 
 
June 10, 2010 
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